THE INFLUENCE OF REGULATORY T CELLS AND MOBILISATION REGIMENS ON

GRAFT-VERSUS-MALIGNANCY, GRAFT-VERSUS-HOST-DISEASE

AND RELAPSE IN

HAEMATOPOIETIC PROGENITOR CELL TRANSPLANTATION

JANET CATHERINE WELLS

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the University of the West of England, Bristol for the degree of Professional Doctorate in Biomedical Sciences

> Faculty of Health and Applied Sciences, University of the West of England, Bristol January 2015

Abstract

Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are key players in controlling immune responses, limiting autoimmune disease and allergies, and attenuating immune responses to tumours and pathogens. Understanding and harnessing the suppressive effects of Tregs in autologous and allogeneic haematopoietic progenitor cell (HPC) transplantation presents a significant challenge due to lack of consensus over optimal markers to uniquely identify Tregs and variation in centrespecific factors including disease mix, conditioning regimens, graft origin and manipulation and prophylaxis and treatment of graft versus host disease (GVHD). This study aimed to determine if CD3+CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg quantification, assessed flow cytometrically, in grafts or in the post-transplant peripheral blood of patients who received transplants for malignant disease, could provide a useful predictor for disease relapse in autologous (n=85) and allogeneic patients (n=75) and falling chimerism and/or incidence of GVHD in the latter group. The impact of Treg numbers were quantified in HPC harvests, in transplant grafts and in recipients' peripheral blood during immune reconstitution. Additionally, a simplified Treg enumeration protocol using the marker tumour necrosis factor receptor-2 (TNFR2) with CD3, CD4 and CD25 was assessed.

In autologous donors, significantly higher Tregs relative to CD34 HPCs were noted in harvests mobilised with the more novel regimen, granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) plus Plerixafor than with G-CSF alone or used in combination with cyclophosphamide. In allogeneic harvests Treg numbers following G-CSF mobilisation were significantly lower than in non-mobilised harvests. Lower absolute Treg numbers in donor lymphocyte infusion (DLI) doses were significantly associated with successful outcome in terms of restoration of donor chimerism and resolution of relapse. Cryopreservation of mobilised cells at the time of initial transplant for later use for DLI has thus been incorporated into practice at this Trust as this is expedient in terms of clinical result, convenience and cost. Interestingly although mobilisation regimens influenced Treg levels in harvests, no correlation was apparent between Treg doses transplanted or peripheral blood levels during immune reconstitution post autologous or allogeneic transplantation or with falling chimerism and/or incidence and severity of GVHD in allogeneic patients during the first year post transplant. Extending this follow-up time would be an interesting area of further study as the majority of patients who relapse do so beyond one year.

Acknowledgments

Foremost I would like to express my immense gratitude to my work-place supervisor, Professor Ann Smith, for her unfailing patience, support and encouragement through all the Treg trials and traumas. Without her guidance I would never have completed this thesis.

I would also like to thank Dr Victoria Davenport and Dr Ruth Morse at UWE who have provided supervision and support.

Ian and Gowri in the Institute of Cancer Research oversaw my transition from flow-cytometry novice and their knowledge was invaluable. I learned so much from Ian, not just from his constant flow-cytometry challenges but from his fascinating tales of travels in countries such as Bhutan and the Falklands while waiting for the slow acquisition of my samples.

Support from the Royal Marsden Hospital to allow me to pursue this doctorate, and financial support for reagents from Chugai Pharma UK and the Janet Albu charitable fund are greatly appreciated.

Finally I would like to thank my husband David and our daughters Rachael and Laura for believing that this could be a reality – even at my advanced age. I look forward to spending more time with you.

Contents

Abstracti
Acknowledgementsii
List of contents ii
List of figures ix
List of tables x
Abbreviations xi
1.0 Introduction
1.1 Haematopoietic Progenitor Cell Transplantation
1.1.1 Transplant-associated chemotherapy/radiotherapy2
1.1.2 GVM and GVHD
1.1.3 Pathogenesis and management of GVHD
1.2 Regulatory T cells
1.2.1 Issues with the identification of Tregs16
1.2.2 Tregs in tumour tolerance17
1.2.3 <i>In-vivo</i> use of Tregs
1.2.4 The role of Tregs in allogeneic transplantation19
1.2.5 The role of Tregs in Autologous HPC Transplantation22
1.3 Mobilisation and collection of HPCs23
1.4 HPC and donor lymphocyte harvesting27
1.4.1 Allogeneic harvests
1.4.2 Autologous harvests27
1.4.3 Mechanism of HPC harvesting28
1.4.4 The Impact of mobilisation regimens on Tregs in the graft
1.4.5 Reconstitution of haematopoiesis following HPC transplant
1.5 Donor lymphocyte therapy in allogeneic transplant patients
1.5.1 Tregs in DLI
1.6. Studies on Tregs in the graft and post-transplant

1.6.1 The impact of Tregs in the graft	36
1.6.2 Tregs in the peripheral blood following transplant	38
1.6.3 Tregs in donor lymphocyte products and the peripheral blood following infusion	า43
1.7 Reasons for undertaking this study	43
1.8 Aims of the current study	44
1.8 Hypotheses	45
2.0 Materials and methods	46
2.1 Patient and donor selection	46
2.1.1 Patient cohorts	46
2.2 Consent and ethical considerations	46
2.3 Factors affecting testing	47
2.4 Pre-apheresis patient and donor samples	47
2.5 Harvest samples	47
2.6 Post-transplant samples	48
2.7 Clinical data collation	48
2.7.1 Assessment of patient outcome - GVHD	48
2.7.2 Assessment of patient outcome - Disease relapse	48
2.7.3 Assessment of patient outcome - Chimerism	48
2.8 Sample preparation	49
2.9 Cryopreservation, storage and thawing of cell samples	49
2.9.1 Preparation for cryopreservation	49
2.9.2 Cryopreservation process	50
2.9.3 Storage	50
2.9.4 Thawing	50
2.10 Flow cytometry	54
2.10.1 Initial Treg testing	54
2.10.2 Definitive Treg testing	55
2.10.3 Principles of flow cytometric data acquisition and analysis	55
2.10.4 Gating	57

2.10.5 Presentation of flow cytometry data	60
2.10.6 Anti-CD3	60
2.10.7 Analysis of flow cytometric data	60
2.10.8 Controls	63
2.11 Surface marker staining for Tregs – Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 2 (TNFR2)	63
2.11.1 Gating for CD25+TNFR2+ cells	64
12.12 Statistics	66
3.0 Results – Mobilisation and harvesting	67
3.1 Introduction	67
3.2 Data expression	68
3.2.1 Mobilisation regimens for autologous harvests	68
3.2.2 Donor lymphocytes	68
3.2.3 Pre-harvest	68
3.2.4 Day of harvest	68
3.2.5 Autologous, allogeneic and DL harvests	68
3.3 Results	70
3.3.1 Effect of mobilisation regimens on Treg levels	70
3.3.2 Comparison of Treg levels present in G-CSF mobilised and non-mobilised allogen harvests	eic 70
3.3.3 Treg levels in autologous and allogeneic donor pre-harvest peripheral blood sam and associated harvests	ples 71
3.3.4 Treg levels in harvests by day of collection	71
3.4 Discussion	76
3.4.1 Mobilisation regimen	76
3.4.2 Treg levels in G-CSF mobilised and non-mobilised allogeneic HPC harvests	78
3.4.3 The effect of Treg levels in patient or donor pre-harvest peripheral blood on num in HPC harvests	1bers 79
3.4.4 Treg levels in autologous and allogeneic harvests and day of collection	81
4.0 Results – Graft Tregs	82
4.1 Introduction	82

4.2 Data expression	83
4.2.1 Data expression in autologous patients	83
4.2.2 Data expression in allogeneic transplant recipients	84
4.3 Results	85
4.3.1 The impact of graft Treg numbers on clinical outcome in autologous patients	85
4.3.1 The impact of graft Tregs on incidence and severity of GVHD following allogeneic transplant	85
4.3.2 The impact of CD34 HPC doses in the graft on the incidence and severity of GVHD.	86
4.3.3 The impact of graft Tregs on chimerism status post allogeneic transplant	86
4.3.4 The effect of graft Tregs on clinical outcome in patients following allogeneic transplant	86
4.4 Discussion	92
4.4.1 The effect of graft Treg levels on clinical outcome in autologous patients	92
4.4.2 The impact of graft Tregs on incidence and severity of GVHD	92
4.4.3 Impact of CD34+ cell numbers on incidence and severity of GVHD	94
4.4.4 The effect of graft Tregs on chimerism following allogeneic transplant	95
4.4.5 The effect of graft Tregs on disease outcome following allogeneic transplant	95
5.0 Results - Donor lymphocytes	96
5.1 Introduction	96
5.2 Data expression	97
5.3 Results	98
5.3.1 The effect of Treg numbers in mobilised and non-mobilised donor lymphocyte harvests on clinical outcome	98
5.3.2 Treg numbers infused in donor lymphocyte doses	98
5.4 Discussion	. 105
6.0 Results – Tregs during immune reconstitution	108
The influence of Treg numbers during immune reconstitution on clinical outcome in autologo and allogeneic transplant recipients	ous 108
6.1 Introduction	. 108
6.1.1 Peripheral Tregs during immune reconstitution following autologous transplantation	on . 108

6.1.2 The effect of peripheral Treg levels on clinical outcome and immune reconstitut following allogeneic transplant	ion 109
6.2 Data expression	109
6.2.1 Data expression of Tregs in peripheral blood following autologous transplant	109
6.2.2 Data expression of Tregs in peripheral blood following allogeneic transplant	109
6.3 Results	110
6.3.1 Tregs in peripheral blood following autologous transplants	110
6.3.2 Tregs in peripheral blood following allogeneic transplants	110
6.4 Discussion	121
6.4.1 Correlation between graft and peripheral Tregs following autologous transplant	:121
6.4.2 Treg reconstitution following autologous transplant and impact on clinical outco	ome 121
6.4.3 Correlation between graft and peripheral Tregs following allogeneic transplant	123
6.4.4 The effect of peripheral Treg levels on GVHD incidence and severity following allogeneic transplant	125
6.4.5 The effect of peripheral Tregs on clinical outcome following allogeneic transpla	nt . 127
6.4.6 The effect of peripheral Tregs on chimerism following allogeneic transplant	128
7.0 Results - TNFR2 as an alternative marker to FoxP3	129
7.1 Introduction	129
7.2 Data expression	129
7.3 Results	130
7.4 Discussion	132
8.0 Conclusions and further work	133
8.1 Summary of findings resulting from this study	133
8.1.1 The effect of mobilisation and HPC, A harvesting on Tregs	133
8.1.2 Tregs and clinical outcome in autologous grafts	134
8.1.3 Tregs and clinical outcome in allogeneic grafts	134
8.1.4 Tregs in donor lymphocytes and clinical efficacy	134
8.1.5 Tregs during immune reconstitution post-autologous transplant	135
8.1.6 Tregs during immune reconstitution post-allogeneic transplant	135

8.1.7 Methodological considerations	136
8.2 Future work	136
9.0 Recommendations	
References	138
Appendix 1	
Appendix 2	
Appendix 3	164
Appendix 4	

Figures

Figure 1: Pathophysiology of acute GVHD shown as a three-phase model
Figure 2: Diagrammatic representation of the ECP procedure9
Figure 3: Natural and adaptive Treg generation12
Figure 4: Three categories of Treg suppressive mechanisms15
Figure 5: Apheresis using the Caridian Optia29
Figure 6: Comparison of fresh and cryopreserved/thawed samples53
Figure 7: Blood sample flow cytometry plot56
Figure 8: Representative flow cytometry analysis showing staining with anti-CD3, a cocktail of anti-CD4, anti-CD25 and antiCD127 with PE isotype control:
Figure 9: Representative flow cytometry analysis showing staining with anti-CD3, a cocktail of anti-CD4, anti-CD25 and antiCD127 with PE Anti FoxP359
Figure 10: Combined gate for Treg detection61
Figure 11: Gating61
Figure 12: Use of CD3 to assist gating of CD4+ cells61
Figure 13: Data from analysis62
Figure 14: Gating to identify CD4+ CD25+65
Figure 15: The influence of mobilisation regime on Tregs in autologous harvests:
Figure 16: Levels of Tregs in mobilised and non-mobilised allogeneic harvests:
Figure 18: Levels of Tregs in harvests collected on sequential days of apheresis:75
Figure 19: Levels of Tregs in autologous grafts compared with clinical outcome
Figure 20: Treg levels in the grafts of allogeneic transplant recipients and severity of GVHD noted during the first year post-transplant
Figure 21: Graft Treg and CD34 levels compared with GVHD grading
Figure 22: Comparison of Tregs in the graft and percentage donor T cell chimerism90
Figure 23: Levels of Tregs in allogeneic grafts and disease status91
Figure 24: Treg levels in the harvests of donor lymphocyte collections compared with clinical response
Figure 25: Treg levels in non-mobilised and G-CSF mobilised harvests of donor lymphocyte collections grouped by outcome following infusion

Figure 26: Tregs and CD3+ cell numbers in levels in final infused doses of donor lymphocytes compared with patient clinical outcomes:
Figure 27: Number of doses of donor lymphocyte infusion received by patients and outcome.103
Figure 28: Treg levels in DLI doses and GVHD experienced following infusion:
Figure 29: Treg levels in grafts and peripheral blood following autologous transplant
Figure 30: Treg levels in peripheral blood compared with clinical outcome following autologous transplant
Figure 31: Peripheral Tregs as a percentage of CD4 cells following autologous transplant114
Figure 32: Treg levels in grafts and peripheral blood following allogeneic transplant
Figure 33: Treg levels and CD4+ cell counts following allogeneic transplant
Figure 34: Treg:CD3+ cell ratios following allogeneic transplant
Figure 35: Mean peripheral Treg levels and GVHD grading during the first year post allogeneic transplant
Figure 36: Peripheral Treg levels and clinical outcome during the first year post-transplant 119
Figure 37: Peripheral blood Treg levels and percentage of donor T cell chimerism:
Figure 38: Treg levels using the markers FoxP3 and TNFR2:

List of Tables

Table 1: Autologous HPC mobilisation regimen using G-CSF alone	25
Table 2: Autologous HPC mobilisation regimen using cyclophosphamide plus G-CSF (typical example of G-CSF plus chemotherapy)	25
Table 3: Allogeneic HPC mobilisation regimen	25
Table 4: Plerixafor plus G-CSF autologous HPC mobilisation regimen	25
Table 5: Summary of studies examining Treg numbers in the graft and incidence of GVHD	37
Table 6: Summary of studies examining Treg numbers in peripheral blood post-transplant and incidence of GVHD	41
Table 7: Comparison of fresh and cryopreserved/thawed harvest samples stained and analysed	
by flow cytometry5	52

Abbreviations

ACD-A	Acid citrate dextrose – solution A
aGVHD	Acute graft versus host disease
auto-GVHD	Autologous graft versus host disease
ALL	Acute lymphocytic leukaemia
AML	Acute myelocytic leukaemia
APC	Antigen presenting cell
APC	Allophycocvanin
BD	Becton Dickinson
BM	Bone marrow
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CD	Cluster of differentiation
cGVHD	Chronic graft versus host disease
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia
CML	Chronic myeloid leukaemia
CsA	Cyclosporine A
CTL	Cytotoxic lymphocyte
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4
CXCR4	Chemokine receptor type 4
DC	Dendritic cell
DL	Donor lymphocytes
DLI	Donor lymphocyte infusion
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
Са	Cancer
EBMT	European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation
ECP	Extracorporeal photopheresis
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
FBC	Full blood count
FcR	Fc receptor
FISH	Fluorescence in-situ hybridisation
FITC	Fluorescein-isothiocyanate
FoxP3	Forkhead box protein 3
GARP	Glycoprotein A Repetitions Predominant
G-CSF	Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
GITR	Glucocorticoid-induced tumour necrosis factor receptor
Gzm B	Granzyme B
GVHD	Graft versus host disease
GVM	Graft versus malignancy
HD	Hodgkin's disease
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
НРС	Haematopoietic progenitor cell
HPC,A	Haematopoietic progenitor cells - apheresis
HTA	Human Tissue Authority
IFN	Interferon-gamma
lg	Immunoglobulin
L IL	Interleukin
IPEX	Immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked
	syndrome

iTreg	Induced regulatory T cell
JACIE	The Joint Accreditation Committee of the European Group for Blood
	and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) and the International Society for
	Cellular Therapy (ISCT)
LAG-3	Lymphocyte =activation gene 3
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndrome
mHag	Minor histocompatibility antigen
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MM	Multiple myeloma
MNC	Mononuclear cell
MRC	Medical research council
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
NHL	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma
Nrp-1	Neuropilin-1
NK cell	Natural killer cell
NKT cell	Natural killer T cell
nonMA	Non-myeloablative
nTreg	Natural regulatory T cell
PBSC	Peripheral blood stem cell
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PE	Phycoerythrin
ProMISe	Project Management Internet Server
pTreg	Peripheral-induced regulatory T cells
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
RIC	Reduced intensity conditioning
RMH	The Royal Marsden Hospital
SCTL	Stem cell transplant laboratory
SDF-1	Stromal derived factor 1
Sib	Sibling
STR	Short tandem repeat
Тс	Cytotoxic T cell
TCR	T-cell recptor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor - beta
Th	Helper T cell
TNC	Total nucleated cell
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor – alpha
TNFR2	Tumour necrosis factor receptor-2
Treg	Regulatory T cell
tTreg	Thymic derived regulatory T cell
Тх	Transplant
UKAS	United Kingdom Accreditation Service
UVA	Ultraviolet light
VUD	Volunteer unrelated donor
8-MOP	8-methoxypsoralen

1.0 Introduction

Haematopoietic progenitor cell (HPC) transplantation is used to treat a wide range of both haematological and non-haematological disorders. These are costly procedures and in the UK these more complex treatments are only performed in a number of specialist centres able to provide the necessary skills and expertise. Because of the wide range of indications for HPC transplantation, individual centres have tended to specialise in transplantation performed for certain groups of diseases, developing treatment regimens to provide the best outcome for their particular cohort of patients. Although this treatment can offer a cure for some diseases it is not without risk and a percentage of patients will die from or experience long-term transplantrelated side effects. Centres therefore constantly evaluate their own and others' practices in order to improve transplant outcomes. A number of researchers have reported interesting associations between regulatory T cells (Tregs) and transplant outcomes, therefore this study was performed to identify if these findings could be used to improve outcomes for the cohort of patients treated at The Royal Marsden Hospital (RMH). This centre is a specialist cancer hospital with the largest HPC transplant programme in the UK, performing over 200 transplants annually for patients with malignant disease. The study only considers adult patients treated for various haematological cancers.

1.1 Haematopoietic Progenitor Cell Transplantation

HPC transplantation is a well-established and increasingly utilised therapeutic procedure in which progenitor cells capable of reconstituting normal bone marrow function are infused into patients following doses of chemotherapy or radiotherapy designed to ablate tumour cells. Unfortunately the anti-tumour treatment is not selective and concurrently impairs normal haematopoietic activity (Fry and Mackall, 2005, Forgáčová and Nečas, 2013, Mackall *et al*, 2009). In autologous transplantation HPCs are sourced from the patient while in the allogeneic setting HPCs are sourced from either a sibling/family member or an unrelated donor (Hoffbrand, 2011). Transplant-based treatment strategies are used for a number of haematological malignancies including the leukaemias, lymphomas, multiple myeloma, and some solid tumours, such as germ cell tumours and Ewing's sarcomas (Appelbaum, 2004, Sirohi *et al*, 2007, Gratwohl and Baldomero, 2009). The number of transplants performed annually in Europe has substantially increased, from 4,200 in 1990 to more than 30,000 in 2010 of which 13,345 were allogeneic and 20,017 were autologous (Gratwohl and Baldomero, 2009, Gratwohl *et al*, 2003, Passweg *et al*, 2013).

In autologous HPC transplantation the patient's own cells are collected, cryopreserved and stored following initial disease treatment. The cells can then be thawed on demand and re-

infused to restore haematopoiesis following high-dose myeloablative chemotherapy with or without radiotherapy, often referred to as 'conditioning'. This autologous haematopoietic rescue allows the patient to be treated with higher doses of chemotherapy than would otherwise be possible, thus increasing the potential to kill malignant cells (Ljungman *et al*, 2010, Gratwohl *et al*, 2003, Kessinger *et al*, 1988).

In allogeneic HPC transplantation cells are collected from a genetically related or unrelated donor and are transplanted following either high dose chemotherapy with or without radiotherapy, or alternatively, using non-myeloablative (nonMA) regimens or reduced intensity conditioning (RIC) regimens (Juliusson *et al*, 2000, Shelburne and Bevans, 2009, Tomblyn *et al*, 2006, Slavin *et al*, 1998). The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) is responsible for immune recognition of self and non-self and is therefore of great importance when selecting allogeneic HPC donors. In humans, MHC proteins are also known as human leucocyte antigens (HLA), and extensive studies have shown that matching of donor and patient HLA-A, C, B, DRB1 and DQB1 alleles is associated with higher survival and lower post-transplant risks compared with mismatching at these alleles (Shaw *et al*, 2010).

1.1.1 Transplant-associated chemotherapy/radiotherapy

High dose chemotherapy and radiotherapy regimens are employed to cause cyto-reduction of malignant cells in both autologous and allogeneic procedures. In the latter, concurrent reduction of recipient immuno-competent cells enables engraftment of the donor haematopoietic cells (Hoffbrand, 2011). However, there is a high incidence of morbidity and mortality associated with these regimens, so they are generally used on patients under 50 years of age with no comorbidities (Bacigalupo et al, 2009, Sorror et al, 2011). More recently the use of nonmyeloablative and reduced intensity conditioning has extended the possibility of transplantation as a treatment option to older patients (>50 years old) and to those with co-morbidities. For example the Medical Research Council (MRC) AML16 trial aimed at developing treatment for older patients with Acute Myeloid Leukaemia (AML) and high risk Myelodysplastic Syndrome (MDS) offered non-intensive stem cell transplant as one of the treatment options (MRC: AML16 2006). Although RIC and non-MA are defined by the National Institute of Health as involving different conditioning regimens, these terms are typically used interchangeably by transplant centres and researchers (Bacigalupo et al, 2009) with RIC being the term of choice at RMH. Regardless of terminology, these less intensive regimens cause myelosuppression which is reversible, usually within a period of 28 days if no stem cell support is given. RIC and non-MA regimens are not as effective as myeloablative conditioning at reducing tumour burden due to their less profound effect on the recipient's haematopoietic system. A significantly lower incidence of severe neutropoenia and resultant infections is associated with this option (Diaconescu et al, 2004, Sorror et al, 2004). Since these regimens have less of a direct cytotoxic

2

effect on the malignancy than full intensity regimes these protocols rely to a greater extent on the graft versus malignancy (GVM)effect mediated by donor T cells for their success (Martino *et al*, 2002, Martino *et al*, 2002). After transplant the recipient's immune and haematopoietic cells are replaced by the engrafted donor cells resulting in a chimerism status that is either entirely donor or a mixture of donor and recipient cells (mixed chimerism).

In the 1960s the first allogeneic transplant recipients to receive bone marrow from donors other than an identical twin were found to frequently develop a serious range of conditions which were observed to affect the skin, intestinal tract, liver, lungs and eyes (Greinix *et al*, 2013). This was subsequently termed graft versus host disease (GVHD) and severe manifestation was associated with significant morbidity and mortality. At the same time it was noted that relapse rates in patients receiving transplants from identical twins were significantly higher than in patients with non-syngeneic donors (Vincent, Roy and Perreault, 2011). Additionally, relapse rates were lowest in patients who developed GVHD, suggesting the existence of a GVM effect which is exerted by the transplanted donor T cells (Vincent, Roy and Perreault, 2011, Fowler, 2006).

The immune composition of the donor graft and the recipient's immune reconstitution following transplant have therefore been widely studied in order to identify the cells involved in GVHD and GVM and to improve understanding of these mechanisms (Greinix *et al*, 2013). Tregs, a suppressive subset of T cells, have become of particular interest in the transplant setting due to their ability to suppress auto-immune reactions.

1.1.2 GVM and GVHD

In the early days of allogeneic HPC transplantation, the graft was viewed solely as a way of restoring haematopoietic function after a potentially lethal dose of chemotherapy with or without radiotherapy. However an additional major therapeutic benefit is the ability of allo-reactive donor T lymphocytes and/or natural killer (NK) cells in the graft to recognise differences in minor histocompatibility antigens (mHAGS) expressed on host tissues. The latter are found to mediate a GVM effect against residual disease following anti-tumour conditioning. The use of therapeutic donor lymphocyte infusions (DLI) to induce disease remission in patients who have relapsed following transplant confirms the importance of immuno-competent donor lymphocytes in this context (Bellucci *et al*, 2002, Kolb, 2008, Kolb *et al*, 1995). However, while donor T cells mediate this beneficial GVM effect they are also implicated in GVHD. The observation that T cell depletion of the graft can not only ameliorate GVHD but often leads to a marked increase in relapse rates confirms that there is a balance between the therapeutic and detrimental roles of these cells (Apperley *et al*, 1986, Marmont *et al*, 1991, Booth, Lawson and Veys, 2013).

1.1.3 Pathogenesis and management of GVHD

GVHD is one of the most important, frequent and challenging complications of allogeneic transplantation. The process is mediated by donor T cells that recognise major or minor histocompatibility antigens presented by host APCs and leads to a cascade of events resulting in the destruction of host tissues (Couriel *et al*, 2004, Jaksch and Mattsson, 2005). GVHD can occur despite immunosuppressive therapy, typically with calcineurin inhibitors such as cyclosporine A (CsA), which is given to all patients (Potter and Kerridge, 2004). The development of GVHD is associated with high medical costs caused by long-term hospitalisation and treatment and also non-medical/indirect costs resulting from considerable quality of life impairment for affected patients (Blommestein *et al*, 2012, Dignan *et al*, 2013).

Balancing the inflammatory and destructive effects of GVHD against the desirable outcome of GVM is one of the major challenges of HPC transplantation. The GVM effect appears to be highest in patients with GVHD and disease relapse rates in these patients is significantly lower than in patients with no evidence of GVHD (Stern *et al*, 2014). The caveat, however, is the fact that GVHD can lead to significant morbidity and even mortality. The best scenario in allogeneic transplant recipients is equilibrium between manageable levels of GVHD and an effective GVM. Research is focussing on the immunogenicity of different mHAGs to identify donor/recipient mis-matches in order to predict severity of GVHD, and to identify if the same peptide epitopes are targets for both GVHD and GVM (Recker *et al*, 2011, Spellman *et al*, 2009, Oostvogels *et al*, 2013, Spierings, 2014).

Although many of the mechanisms of GVHD and GVM are thought to be shared, separation of these remains the 'holy grail' of transplantation to enhance tumour elimination while suppressing GVHD. This separation is the subject of intensive research in order to fully understand the mechanisms involved and to identify potential methods to augment the GVM effect (Fowler, 2006, Couriel *et al*, 2004, Zeiser *et al*, 2004, Dürr *et al*, 2012).

The pathophysiology of GVHD was postulated by Billingham who stated that the requirements for acute GVHD are that the graft contains immune-competent cells, the host expresses either minor or major transplant antigens lacking in the donor and that the host is incapable of rejecting the marrow graft (Billingham, 1966). The graft is infused into a recipient where endothelial and epithelial cells have been severely damaged by the effects of not only the conditioning regimen but underlying disease or infection, resulting in pro-inflammatory changes (Figure 1). Damaged recipient tissues secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines which promote the rapid proliferation of donor T cells. The infused cells react in a way that would, in normal circumstances, resolve or control an infection but in the host result in GVHD (Ferrara, Levy and Chao, 1999). In the initial stage of GVHD an inflammatory milieu results from damage caused by the radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy conditioning regimen used as part of the transplant protocol (Przepiorka et al, 1999). The conditioning serves not only to eradicate the tumour but also to eliminate or significantly impair the recipient's haematopoietic system, theoretically allowing space for the engraftment of the donor cells. However, damage to host tissue results in the direct and indirect release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1, IL-6 and tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α). These cytokines increase the expression of adhesion molecules and MHC antigens on host APCs, enhancing the recognition of MHC and mHAGs by donorderived T cells (Couriel et al, 2004, Ferrara, Levy and Chao, 1999). Damage to the gastrointestinal epithelium caused by conditioning allows for translocation of microbial products including lipopolysaccharides across damaged epithelial barriers. This increases activation of host APCs, thus amplifying cytokine release and subsequent tissue destruction (Zeiser et al, 2004, Jaksch and Mattsson, 2005). In response to interactions with host MHC antigens presented by APCs, T cells differentiate into T helper type 1 subset (Th1) and produce cytokines such as IL-2 and interferon-gamma (IFN- γ). These cytokines promote further T cell expansion as well as activating NK cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) which mediate toxicity against target host cells by two different contact dependent pathways: Fas-Fas ligand mediated apoptosis and perforin/granzyme B-mediated cytolysis. Additionally, IFN-y primes mononuclear phagocytes and macrophages to produce tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) which also causes direct tissue damage by inducing target cell necrosis and apoptosis (Ferrara, Levy and Chao, 1999).

GVHD can be either acute or chronic and occurs in 30% of patients transplanted with an HLAmatched sibling donor and in 50-60% of those from an unrelated donor (Potter and Kerridge, 2004). The severity ranges from relatively indolent to a debilitating widespread condition, including organ failure and is responsible directly or indirectly for about 50% of allogeneic HPC transplant mortality (Dignan *et al*, 2013). In the majority of cases, the condition is associated with a significant level of morbidity which typically involves the skin, gut, liver and lungs (Appendix 1). GVHD also affects the immune system, resulting in long-term immunodeficiency, which in turn leaves the patient open to life-threatening infections (Przepiorka *et al*, 1999).



Figure 1: Pathophysiology of acute GVHD shown as a three-phase model. Phase 1- The conditioning regimen causes damage to host tissues causing release of inflammatory cytokines IL6, IL1 and TNF-α. Damage to the intestinal mucosa causes leakage of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) resulting in increased activation of host APCs and subsequent cytokine release. Increased expression of adhesion molecules and MHC antigens on host APCs leads to enhanced recognition of host MHC and mHAGs by donor T cells. Phase 2 - Donor T cells proliferate and differentiate into Th1 type cells secreting IL-2 and IFN-γ. These cytokines promote further T cell expansion as well as inducing NK cells and CTLs. Phase 3 - CTLs and NK cells induce target cell apoptosis. Reprinted from Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation [online] 5 (6), Ferrara, J.L., Levy, R. and Chao, N.J. Pathophysiologic mechanisms of acute graft-vs.-host disease. pp.347-356. Copyright (1999) with permission from Elsevier.

Historically the definition of acute or chronic GVHD was dependent on time of onset following transplantation, with GVHD occurring within 100 days being defined as acute GVHD (aGVHD) and chronic GVHD (cGVHD) occurring after 100 days. With the introduction of RIC the boundaries have become less distinct. Patients may present with aGVHD after 3 months and others may show symptoms characteristic of cGVHD before 100 days (Greinix *et al*, 2013).

Acute GVHD is the major cause of early transplant related mortality either due to the GVHD itself or due to complications as a result of treatment. Both can cause prolonged neutropoenia leaving the recipient vulnerable to opportunistic infections. Chronic GVHD is the primary cause of late morbidity and non-relapse mortality post-transplant. It may be restricted to a single organ or may be widespread. Chronic GVHD has features which more closely resemble an autoimmune disease and may present as scleroderma, primary biliary cirrhosis, bronchiolitis obliterans, immune cytopoenias and chronic immunodeficiency. The symptoms usually present within the first three years post-transplant but often follow a history of aGVHD. Some risk factors for chronic GVHD have been identified and include a history of aGVHD. Other risk factors for cGVHD besides pre-existing aGVHD include older recipients, female donors used for male recipients, unrelated or HLA-mismatched donors and the use of DLI (Greinix *et al*, 2013).

Treatment of GVHD is a delicate balance as infection and relapse of the original disease can result from the immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory effects of treatment (Dignan *et al*, 2012). First line treatment of GVHD is steroid therapy and patients may require high doses for prolonged periods of time thus exposing them to the known risks of steroid therapy, such as Cushing's syndrome, diabetes, weight gain, growth retardation and osteoporosis (Dignan *et al*, 2012). Steroid therapy is effective in less than 50% of patients and for those who are steroid refractory there is little consensus on management and treatment options are limited (Dignan *et al*, 2012). More recently extracorporeal photopheresis (ECP) has been introduced as a treatment option (Gatza *et al*, 2008, Bladon and Taylor, 2006, Scarisbrick *et al*, 2008, Marshall, 2006). The process uses a closed system device that centrifuges patient's blood to collect a mononuclear cell fraction which can then be treated with liquid 8-methoxypsoralen (8-MOP) before being exposed to ultraviolet light (UVA) prior to re-infusion into the recipient (Figure 2).

Psoralen or 8-MOP is a small molecule derived from Psoralea plants which can enter cells and their nuclei. The molecule is inert until activated by UVA irradiation when it becomes highly reactive, cross-linking deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and causing apoptosis. The 8-MOP returns to its inactivated state as soon as the UVA irradiation stops. Although only 5-10% of circulating mononuclear cells are treated, the procedure causes widespread apoptosis of all T cell subsets over the subsequent 72 hours. Additionally the process of separation of the mononuclear cells during ECP treatment stimulates monocytes to differentiate into activated dendritic cells which engulf the apoptotic T cells and subsequently regulate immune responses via modulation of the APCs to induce immune-tolerance (Holtick *et al*, 2008, Gatza *et al*, 2008). Proliferation and up-regulation of Tregs after ECP treatment leads to an increase in the anti-inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL) 10 and transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β). This proliferation of Tregs is detectable in some cases for many months after ECP treatment (Lamioni *et al*, 2005). Progress in the understanding of the pathophysiology of GVHD has led to attempts to develop therapies directed against various cells and cytokines that play a crucial role in the condition. For example, the central role played by IL-2 in the expansion of allo-reactive T cells and their differentiation into CTLs in acute GVHD is targeted by CsA which inhibits its secretion (Reddy *et al*, 2009). Also mesenchymal (stromal) stem cells (MSCs) have been shown to be effective in modulating the immune and inflammatory response in some patients with steroid-refractory GVHD and are the subject of active research (Kebriaei and Robinson, 2011, Tolar, Villeneuve and Keating, 2011, Reddy *et al*, 2009, Zeiser *et al*, 2004, Baron *et al*, 2014).

Several subtypes of cells of the immune system are implicated in the process of GVHD, however Tregs are key players in this setting and are able to down-regulate responses to auto- and alloantigens and are therefore important in preventing and controlling auto-immune disease, inflammation and also graft rejection (Schmidt, Oberle and Krammer, 2012, Shalev *et al*, 2011, Sakaguchi *et al*, 2009). Although a number of regulatory T subsets have been identified, cluster of differentiation (CD) 4+ T cells that co-express CD25 (the IL-2 receptor) have provoked the most interest in the field of transplantation as these markers define an immune-regulatory population that have been implicated in the amelioration of the incidence and/or severity of GVHD. Numbers of these CD4+CD25+cells in both the transplanted material and in the patient during immune reconstitution have been studied to evaluate the way the immune system works against malignant cells following autologous and allogeneic transplantation and also their effect on the incidence and severity of GVHD following allogeneic transplantation (Ukena *et al*, 2011b, Stanzani *et al*, 2003, Rezvani *et al*, 2006, Pastore *et al*, 2011, Magenau *et al*, 2010).



Figure 2: Diagrammatic representation of the ECP procedure. Patient's blood is centrifuged using a closed process that removes mononuclear cells and returns red cells to the patient. Psoralen (8-MOP) is added to the mononuclear cells which are then treated with UVA causing activation of the 8-MOP and subsequent apoptosis of T cells. Treated cells are returned to the patient. The removal of the UVA light returns the 8-MOP to an inert state.

1.2 Regulatory T cells

The existence of a subset of 'suppressor cells' was first postulated in 1970 by Gershon and Kondo, when they successfully employed antigen-experienced cells to transfer antigen-specific tolerance to naïve mice (Gershon and Kondo, 1970). Despite extensive investigation over the next decade investigators were unable to identify the molecular basis of suppression, so the idea of suppressor cells was largely abandoned. In 1995, Sakaguchi and colleagues were able to identify a population of CD4+ cells which expressed high levels of CD25, the high affinity IL-2 receptor, and which were capable of preventing autoimmunity in a murine model (Sakaguchi *et al,* 2009). The identification of CD25 as a phenotypic marker of suppressive CD4+ cells in mice encouraged further research and a similar population of cells, now named regulatory T cells or Tregs, was identified in humans (Baecher-Allan *et al,* 2001, Dieckmann *et al,* 2001).

A number of different Treg subsets are now recognised but they can be divided into two major subsets depending on their source: natural Tregs (nTregs) which originate in the thymus and adaptive or induced Tregs (iTregs) which are induced in the periphery (Figure 3). Following a recent move towards greater clarity in Treg nomenclature, these subsets are now known as thymic derived Tregs (tTregs) and peripheral-induced Tregs (pTregs) respectively (Abbas *et al*, 2013). Depsite the differences in origin, both subsets share common features such as expression of FoxP3 and ability to suppress proliferation of effector T cells. However, there is considerable lineage plasticity (Turka and Li, 2010, Komatsu *et al*, 2009, d'Hennezel *et al*, 2011) and the significance of this plasticity on therapeutic Treg treatments is an area of intense research and debate (Zhou, Chong and Littman, 2009, Komatsu *et al*, 2009, Zhou *et al*, 2009). The best characterised Tregs are CD4+CD25^{high} which are referred to exclusively in this study as Tregs and function by inhibiting effector T cells. As well as maintaining immune tolerance to limit autoimmune responses and regulating homeostatic lymphocyte expansion, they are capable of suppressing antitumour immune activity.

Thymic derived Tregs are selected and matured in the thymus by autoantigens from where they subsequently emigrate to peripheral lymphoid tissues with a mainly autoreactive T-cell receptor (TCR) repertoire to enforce a dominant negative regulation on other cells of the immune system including B cells, NK cells, NKT cells, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells, as well as monocytes and dendritic cells (DCs) (Schmidt, Oberle and Krammer, 2012). This autoimmune suppression has led to interest in their role in transplant tolerance (Beres and Drobyski, 2013, Fozza and Dazzi, 2012, Michael, Shimoni and Nagler, 2013).

They constitute approximately 5-10% of peripheral T cells in humans (Shevach *et al*, 2001, Thornton and Shevach, 1998). Differentiation and development of functional Tregs in the

thymus occurs as a number of not yet fully understood interdependent steps as immature CD4+ thymocytes firstly express CD25 and subsequently FoxP3 positivity (Goldstein *et al*, 2013). It is known that development requires the master switch transcription factor fork-head box protein 3 (FoxP3) which inhibits activation-induced IL-2 gene transcription and cytokines and is responsible for maintaining the inhibitory function of pTreg cells (Thornton *et al*, 2004, Sakaguchi *et al*, 2009). Disruption of the tTreg selection and development process that takes place in the thymus, for example by donor T cell destruction of thymic epithelial cells following allogeneic HPC transplantation, can result in an imbalance in tolerance mechanisms (Zorn, 2006). This is likely to contribute significantly to clinical manifestations of graft vs host disease and graft vs malignancy effects observed in transplant patients.

Additionally, pTregs can be generated from naïve T cells in the peripheral lymphoid organs under certain stimulatory conditions, for example TCR activation of naïve CD4+ T cells in the presence of TGFβ (Sakaguchi, 2003). These Tregs demonstrate a TCR repertoire similar to those of the T cells from which they are derived and are therefore more skewed towards foreign antigens. These peripherally induced Tregs demonstrate a more unstable FoxP3 expression than thymically derived Tregs and may revert back to effector T cells. Much work is being carried out to determine to what extent pTregs contribute to the overall Treg pool under various conditions and to determine the extent to which the two subsets, t and pTregs, share functional properties (Curotto and Lafaille, 2009, Michael, Shimoni and Nagler, 2013). Progress has been hampered by the lack of suitable markers that differentiate pTreg and tTregs and to distinguish their functions (Povoleri *et al*, 2013).



Figure 3: Natural and adaptive Treg generation. Thymic Tregs (tTregs) are generated through MHCpeptide TCR interaction in the thymus from where they migrate to lymphoid tissues in the periphery. As they are selected and matured by autoantigens their TCR repertoire is primarily autoimmune. Peripheral naïve T cells are capable of FoxP3 up-regulation into induced Tregs (pTregs) and these Tregs have a similar TCR repertoire to the effector T cells that they are derived from and are therefore more biased towards foreign antigens. Both tTregs and pTregs contribute to the overall pool of peripheral FoxP3+ Tregs and are capable of suppressing effector T cells. Republished with permission of Cell Press, from Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor? Curotto de Lafaille and Lafaille, 30 (5) Copyright 2009; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. It is clear now that Tregs do not use a single mechanism of suppression but a variety of different modes of action to exert a suppressive effect, but some mechanisms are still not fully understood or agreed upon (Vignali, 2012). However, the consensus is that there are three main categories of suppressive mechanism. Firstly, there is a cell to cell contact-mediated inhibition by the inhibitory receptors cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) and lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG-3), which modulate the immuno-stimulatory capacity of DCs and the secretion of the cytotoxic molecules granzyme and perforin resulting in T cell apoptosis (Figure 4).

The second mechanism is by metabolic disruption of T cells. CD39 and CD73 on Treg cells are able to generate adenosine which binds with the adenosine receptor of effector T cells, increasing intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) which suppresses T cell function (Turka and Li, 2010). Additionally Tregs compete with effector T cells for IL-2 required for T cell proliferation. Tregs do not produce IL-2 but as they require IL-2 for their suppressive function are dependent on their capacity to utilise IL-2 secreted by effector T cells (Brandenburg *et al,* 2008, de *et al,* 2004, Scheffold, Hühn and Höfer, 2005). The high affinity IL-2 receptors of Tregs enable them to consume a large proportion of the IL-2 produced by stimulated CD4 effector cells resulting in the deprivation of IL-2 required for proliferation of effector CD4 cells and results in proliferation arrest and apoptosis (Pandiyan and Lenardo, 2008, Pandiyan, Zheng and Lenardo, 2011). Not only do the Tregs consume growth cytokines essential for effector T cell proliferation, they are also able to cause a failure of the activated cells to produce cytokines later in the activation phase by removal of the essential IL-2 positive feedback.

The third suppressive mechanism is the release of the inhibitory cytokines IL10, IL-35 and TGF-β which exert a suppressive effect by specifically reducing the activation of APCs and by inhibiting effector T cell proliferation (Turka and Li, 2010). In a steady state, Tregs can also be found in non-lymphoid tissues with numbers increasing substantially during an inflammatory state. Recruitment of Tregs to sites of inflammation is through the wide range of chemokine receptors and cell adhesion molecules that they express and they migrate in response to chemo-attractants and ligands expressed during inflammation. This allows on-going suppression of T cells during the different stages of the immune response (Shevach *et al*, 2001).

Because Tregs are involved in the suppression of immune responses their use in controlling auto-immune diseases and tumour immunity is being explored by many researchers (Yakirevich and Resnick, 2007, Curiel, 2008, Ondondo, 2014, Ondondo *et al*, 2013, Burocchi, Colombo and Piconese, 2013, Adeegbe and Nishikawa, 2013). In the context of HPC transplantation, the Treg regulation of both GVHD and GVM after allografting has recently attracted attention (Fozza and Dazzi, 2012, Michael, Shimoni and Nagler, 2013, Beres and Drobyski, 2013). Furthermore there is interest in their possible role in tumour tolerance in patients undergoing autologous HPC rescue (Kline *et al,* 2008, von Keudell, Rosenbaum and Zimmerman, 2013).



Figure 4: Three categories of Treg suppressive mechanisms. 1) Cell-cell contact-mediated suppression reduces the immuno-stimulatory properties of dendritic cells by Treg inhibitory receptors such as CTLA-4 and LAG-3 interacting with CD80/86 and MHC molecules on the DC (Treg/dendritic cell receptor complex). Treg excretion of Granzyme B (Gzm B) leads to apoptosis of effector T cells. 2) Metabolic disruption of effector T cells by increasing cAMP thus reducing their function and by IL-2 deprivation of effector T cells leading to apoptosis. 3) Secretion of inhibitory cytokines such as IL-10, IL-35 and TGFb1 which inhibit T cells and DCs. Figure adapted from (Schmitt and Williams, 2013). Available under a CC-BY license.

1.2.1 Issues with the identification of Tregs

Despite increasing interest in the biology and function of Tregs, their identification and characterisation have proved controversial (Pini, Ojeda and Portolés, 2007). For future comparison of data emerging from various studies it will be important to reach a consensus about the best way of identifying Tregs.

The expression of CD25 was the original defining marker of Treg cells. However, although CD25^{high} is a good marker for Tregs in mice kept in pathogen-free environments, studies in humans constantly exposed to foreign antigens have shown that CD25 is induced on activated T cells and not just on Tregs. A significant fraction of CD25+ cells are therefore activated effector T cells (Beyer and Schultze, 2006). Earlier workers such as Stanzani and colleagues looked at the incidence of CD4+CD25+ cells in patients post HLA-identical transplant and concluded that the use of the markers CD4 and CD25 was insufficient to identify Tregs in humans (Stanzani *et al*, 2003).

In humans, the loss-of-function mutation of the transcription factor FoxP3 results in the fatal multi-organ auto-immune disease and inflammatory disorder 'immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked' (IPEX) syndrome (Ziegler *et al*, 2001). A similar syndrome is seen in mice resulting in the mutant strain of scurfy mice and this assisted in the understanding of the mechanisms underlying differentiation and function of Treg cells. In both humans and mice, only males, not heterozygous females, were affected. This confirmed that FoxP3 is an X chromosome transcription factor and the systemic nature of both diseases was consistent with the theory that FoxP3 mutations affected the differentiation and function of Treg cells. The identification of the lineage-specific marker FoxP3 led to its use as a marker to identify Treg cells that have been generated in the thymus or induced by peripheral conversion (Ramsdell, 2003).

Tregs can be distinguished from recently activated T cells by low or absent surface expression of CD127, the α -chain of the IL-7 receptor, which is down-regulated on Tregs and is inversely correlated to the expression of FoxP3 (Liu *et al*, 2006). Used in combination with CD25, CD127 appears to be a better marker than CD25 alone. Recently, commercial Treg identification kits have become available using a range of surface and intracellular markers in combination (including FoxP3, CD25 and CD127) to assist in the accurate identification of specific Treg populations. Although FoxP3 is considered a superior marker for Tregs compared to the cell surface markers CD25 and CD127, it is a nuclear protein and its intracellular nature means that whereas it can be used for detection of Tregs, FoxP3 is not suitable for the isolation of live Treg cells. Additionally, activated T cells have now been shown to transiently express FoxP3, thus reducing its usefulness as a Treg marker (Pillai *et al*, 2007). It is also unable to distinguish tTregs

from pTregs (Povoleri *et al*, 2013). Since the recognition of the two main Treg subsets there has been an emphasis on finding markers able to distinguish between them to enable a greater understanding of their specific functions and to assist in the development of therapeutic options. Recently, an intracellular protein, the Helios transcription factor, has been identified which is important for Treg development. This is a member of the Ikaros family and has been demonstrated to up-regulate the expression of FoxP3, maintain high FoxP3 expression and a stable Treg population (Elkord and Al-Ramadi, 2012). Despite claims by Dhamne and colleagues that Helios is exclusively expressed by tTregs and can therefore be used to differentiate between pTregs and tTregs (Dhamne *et al*, 2013) this has been challenged by other workers who have shown that Helios is expressed during T cell activation and proliferation (Povoleri *et al*, 2013).

The Treg phenotype has also been linked to expression of a number of surface proteins: CD39/CD73 (Dwyer *et al,* 2007), CD45R0 and CD45RA (Miyara and Sakaguchi, 2007), glucocorticoid-induced tumour necrosis factor receptor (GITR) (Yamazaki *et al,* 2002) and CTLA-4 (Su *et al,* 2012, Pini, Ojeda and Portolés, 2007, Wing *et al,* 2008). The results, however, have been disappointing as most of these markers are expressed on activated T cells and are unable to distinguish between tTregs and pTregs so the isolation and characterisation of these cells remains a challenge.

The most promising alternative marker to be described that distinguishes between Treg subgroups is neuropilin-1 (Nrp-1)(Bruder *et al*, 2004). This surface molecule is differentially expressed in murine tTregs and pTregs being poorly expressed in the latter but the findings are yet to be confirmed in humans (Weiss *et al*, 2012, Yadav *et al*, 2012).

As the understanding of Tregs and their markers has evolved, this has resulted in researchers using a variety of markers or combinations of markers in order to best identify these cells. As a consequence, data comparison between studies is difficult as different markers may not identify the same Treg cell populations or may in fact be measuring not only Tregs but activated T cells. It is therefore important to note the markers being used when studying the literature as the variation can lead to confusing and contradictory results.

1.2.2 Tregs in tumour tolerance

The presence of Tregs appears to have a detrimental effect in anti-tumour immune responses. It is well recognised that tumours are able to escape immune surveillance or to suppress immunity (Ghiringhelli *et al*, 2005a). As Tregs are capable of induction and maintenance of tolerance to self-antigens it is not surprising that they can also induce and maintain tolerance to tumour antigens derived from the host (Cao, 2010). Studies in mice have shown that depletion of CD25 Tregs leads to enhanced anti-tumour immune responses (Nagai *et al*, 2004, Ghiringhelli *et al*,

2005b) and that the adoptive transfer of CD25 Tregs can inhibit CD8+ and NK anti-tumour activity (Ghiringhelli et al, 2005a, Ko et al, 2007). A number of mechanisms are thought to be involved in Treg suppression of anti-tumour immune responses although as yet these are not fully understood (Ondondo, 2014, Adeegbe and Nishikawa, 2013). Treg accumulation in tumour tissues and draining lymph nodes has been reported in individuals with a wide range of solid tumours including ovarian (Curiel et al, 2004), breast (Gobert et al, 2008), pancreatic adenocarcinoma (Liyanage et al, 2006), gastro-intestinal (Ichihara et al, 2003, Sasada et al, 2003), melanoma (Viguier et al, 2004, Piccirillo, 2010) and haematological malignancies (Wolf et al, 2003). The accumulation of Tregs may be due to their preferential migration to the tumour environment in response to cytokines secreted by these tumours. Additionally, tumours may have the ability to trigger the production of cytokines that are able to facilitate the conversion of Tregs from conventional T cells (Liu et al, 2007) and to increase the proliferation of Tregs within the tumour microenvironment (Ghiringhelli et al, 2005b, Curiel et al, 2004). The manipulation of the Treg pathway is therefore a strategy being used to improve the efficacy of cancer immunotherapies (Cao, 2010, Curiel, 2008, Fozza and Dazzi, 2012, Wainwright et al, 2013, Ko et al, 2012).

However it should be noted that although overall most studies showed that accumulation of Tregs is associated with a poor prognosis, not all data demonstrates this. For example, Tzankov and colleagues found that high levels of Tregs positively influenced disease free survival in diffuse large B cell, follicular and Hodgkin's lymphoma although increased Treg numbers had a negative prognostic effect in non-germinal centre diffuse large B cell lymphomas (Tzankov *et al*, 2008). In a study conducted by Salama and colleagues of patients with colo-rectal cancer, high levels of Tregs in tumours were predictive of better survival, however higher levels of Tregs in normal colonic mucosa in the same patients were associated with poor prognosis (Salama *et al*, 2009).

1.2.3 *In-vivo* use of Tregs

Recognition of the importance of Tregs in transplantation stimulated an interest in the *ex vivo* expansion of these cells for possible therapeutic use but the lack of a unique cell surface marker has hindered these studies. Removal of CD4+CD25+ activated effector T cells from the Treg fraction has proved difficult under good manufacturing practice (GMP) conditions (Le and Chao, 2007). In order to obtain the quantities of Tregs required for *in vivo* suppression of GVHD it is also necessary to expand Tregs but obtaining the pure cultures required to conform to regulatory requirements is challenging. Additionally Tregs demonstrate a degree of plasticity in culture and are reported to be able to revert to effector T cells (Turka and Li, 2010). This would be of great concern if adoptive transfer of Tregs was being used for suppression of GVHD

because accidental infusion of effector T cells could enhance GVHD reactions (Miyara and Sakaguchi, 2011, Riley, June and Blazar, 2009). Prevention of Tregs reverting to effector cells is obviously the key to improving safety of this therapy. A number of trials studying the use of adoptive Treg therapy in GVHD are nonetheless in progress (Hippen *et al*, 2011).

1.2.4 The role of Tregs in allogeneic transplantation

Initial studies of the role of Tregs after allogeneic HPC transplant were performed in mice (Cohen *et al*, 2002, Taylor, Noelle and Blazar, 2001). Mice were irradiated or treated with myeloablative conditioning before being transplanted with T cell depleted bone marrow alongside infused peripheral T cells to induce GVHD. It was noted that CD25+ depletion of the peripheral T cells prior to infusion resulted in increased GVHD severity and higher mortality rates thus demonstrating that physiological numbers of Tregs in the graft may offer some protection against GVHD (Taylor, Lees and Blazar, 2002). By transplanting a high ratio of Tregs to conventional T cells, development of GVHD could be prevented even when normally lethal doses of conventional T cells were infused (Hoffmann *et al*, 2002). Hoffmann showed that both the CD4+CD25- and the CD4+CD25+ cells migrate to GVHD target organs such as the skin and gut where the Tregs are able to restrict the local expansion and pro-inflammatory capacity of the effector T cells .

Since mouse models showed that Tregs in the allograft transferred to the recipient could affect GVHD this led to a number of studies in humans (Stanzani *et al*, 2003, Wolf *et al*, 2007, Pastore *et al*, 2011, Rezvani *et al*, 2006). However, results are difficult to compare due to low patient numbers, significant differences in conditioning and immunosuppressive regimens, variation in treatment of the graft and substantial differences in methods and markers used for Treg enumeration (Pini, Ojeda and Portolés, 2007).

One of the first human studies showed unexpected results when Stanzani reported that increased numbers of CD25+ CD4 and CD8 cells in the graft increased the risk of GVHD in recipients (Stanzani *et al*, 2003). More recent studies have not corroborated Stanzani's results, for example, Pastore showed that a low CD3:Treg ratio in the graft resulted in lower incidence and severity of GVHD, as well as a better overall survival, disease free survival and non-relapse mortality (Pastore *et al*, 2011). Pabst investigated the graft composition in unrelated donors and found that higher Treg numbers resulted in a lower incidence of GVHD (Pabst *et al*, 2007). Wolf studied matched sibling donors and recipients undergoing either myeloablative or reduced intensity conditioning (Wolf *et al*, 2007). The study showed that patients receiving low numbers of Tregs in the graft after myeloablative conditioning had a significantly higher incidence of GVHD than those who received higher Tregs, but were unable to demonstrate this after reduced

intensity conditioning. No difference in relapse rates was apparent in either group (Wolf *et al,* 2007).

Some studies have included consideration of Treg numbers in the donors prior to collection. Rezvani and colleagues found that the absolute number of peripheral CD4+FoxP3+ Tregs at 30 days post allogeneic transplant was low in patients suffering from GVHD (Rezvani *et al*, 2006). The same study compared the absolute numbers of CD4+ and CD4+FoxP3+ T cells in the donors of patients who had no GVHD or only mild GVHD, with those of patients who developed marked GVHD. No significant difference was noted in the absolute numbers of CD4+T cells although the number of CD4+FoxP3+ T cells was significantly higher in the donors of recipients who did not develop GVHD (Rezvani *et al*, 2006). Rezvani's team also noted a correlation between the absolute numbers of CD4+FoxP3+ T cells infused in the graft and a reduced risk of GVHD. However there was no correlation between absolute numbers of CD4+ CD25^{high} T cells infused and the incidence of GVHD which suggests that CD25+ may not be an ideal marker of regulatory activity in these studies and in fact it is now known that the CD25+ T cell subset will include both Tregs and recently activated T cells (Pini, Ojeda and Portolés, 2007).

In contrast, Zhai and colleagues reported that the number of CD4+CD25^{high} T cells in recipients correlated significantly with that of their corresponding donors and that recipients with normal or high CD4+CD25^{high} T cells had no or mild GVHD (Zhai *et al*, 2007). Subsequently, however, Nöel and co-workers (2008) were unable to substantiate this claim. They found no evidence that the protection against GVHD was dependent on the numbers of Tregs transferred from the donor to the recipient and found no correlation between the numbers of circulating CD4+CD25^{high} T cells in the peripheral blood of patients during the early post-transplant period and development of GVHD (Noël *et al*, 2008).

When considering optimal numbers of CD4+FoxP3+ T cells for control of allo-reactivity to prevent GVHD it is important to retain the GVM effect. Studies have shown that Treg frequencies are increased in patients with many types of solid tumours and it has been suggested that increased Treg numbers are a detrimental factor in the generation of hostversus-malignancy immunity by suppression of tumour specific effector T cell responses and development of immune tolerance to tumour cells (Teng *et al*, 2010, Zhou *et al*, 2010, Zou *et al*, 2004).

In mice, ablation of CD4+CD25+ Treg cells by administration of a CD25 monoclonal antibody led to the development of tumour-specific CD8+ effector T cells and NK cells (Shimizu, Yamazaki and Sakaguchi, 1999, Onizuka *et al*, 1999). Furthermore, Nadal and colleagues demonstrated that increased numbers of CD4+CD25^{high} Tregs correlated with increased incidence of molecular disease relapse after stem cell transplant for chronic myeloid leukaemia (Nadal *et al*, 2007).

These findings suggest that the numbers of Tregs post-transplant also adversely affects the degree of GVM. However in Zhai's study all patients with low levels of CD4+CD25^{high} T cells died within a one year period post-transplant. Although all these patients developed severe GVHD, it is not stated whether this was the cause of death. Interestingly, none of the patients with no or mild GVHD died within the study period however levels of relapse in the surviving cohort were not discussed. Taken together, data suggest that in allogeneic transplantation under some circumstances elevated Treg numbers may prevent GVHD. This may decrease the beneficial effects of GVM and conversely removal of Tregs may allow the full effects of GVM but lead to a higher incidence of severe GVHD.

1.2.5 The role of Tregs in Autologous HPC Transplantation

Autologous HPC transplantation is an effective treatment for a number of haematological malignancies. This treatment option is dependent on the patient having achieved remission status and showing no signs of significant tumour resistance to previous chemotherapy. The intensity of the high dose therapy may be limited by bone marrow or other organ tolerance. However, in the majority of autologous transplants, a potentially lethal dose of chemotherapy is administered to eradicate the tumour, with the highly toxic effect on the bone marrow being overcome by re-infusing the patient's own cryopreserved haematopoietic cells. Despite best endeavour, disease relapse remains a significant problem if the residual malignant clone outstrips the normal marrow compartment during the post therapy recovery phase (Ljungman *et al*, 2010, Gratwohl *et al*, 2003, Gratwohl and Baldomero, 2009). Alternatively, re-emergence of the malignant clone following high dose chemotherapy may be due to the ability of residual malignant cells to escape immune surveillance and may be due in part to protection from Tregs which suppress anti-tumour T cell activity (Nadal *et al*, 2007).

This treatment strategy lacks the GVM effects of allogeneic transplantation and contributes to higher relapse rates than are seen after allogeneic transplants. On the other hand, recipients of autologous transplants do not experience the significant morbidity and mortality of acute GVHD. The higher relapse rate may be attributable to the absence of GVM, failure of conditioning treatment to eradicate residual disease or the presence of malignant cells in the harvest being infused (Hoffbrand, 2011). The numbers of Tregs relative to the numbers of effector T cells capable of mediating anti-tumour activity during haematopoietic reconstitution may also impact on relapse rates in recipients of autologous transplants.

The role of Tregs in autologous transplantation has not attracted as much attention as their role in the allogeneic setting. The few studies that have been performed are limited in their scope. Autologous transplant patients have been used a control group against which allogeneic transplant patients can be compared (Magenau *et al*, 2010) or studies have focussed on the manipulation of the immune system during the post-transplant period to induce 'autologous GVHD' (auto-GVHD) and boost the anti-tumour effect (Kline *et al*, 2008)or most recently *in vivo* and *in vitro* depletion of Tregs in patients undergoing autologous transplants (von Keudell, Rosenbaum and Zimmerman, 2013).

An auto-immune syndrome similar to mild GVHD and affecting mainly the skin has been described following autologous transplantation (Drobyski et al, 2009, Fidler et al, 2012, Miura et al, 2004, Kline et al, 2008) and has been termed auto-GVHD or auto-aggression syndrome. This syndrome appears to arise due to a combination of the inhibition of thymic-dependent clonal deletion of auto-reactive T cells and the elimination of the peripheral immuno-regulatory system by the preparative regimen providing a permissive environment for the auto-reactive T cells (Hess, 2010). Auto-GVHD has been noted to occur spontaneously in some patients receiving an autologous transplant following a preparative regimen consisting of total body irradiation and/or cyclophosphamide. Originally it was thought that these were the only situations in which the phenomenon occurred but subsequently it has also been seen in patients treated with a preparative regimen of high dose melphalan who received CsA post-transplant (Baron et al, 2000). In experiments with rats and mice auto-GVHD can also be induced by CsA administration in the post-transplant setting (Glazier et al, 1983), a finding which has also been demonstrated in humans (Baron et al, 2000). Significant anti-tumour activity has been demonstrated following induction auto-GVHD in animal studies and there is some evidence of an anti-tumour effect in humans (Byrne et al, 1997). Miura and colleagues found that the use of CD34+ selected grafts also induced auto-GVHD. They postulated that the low incidence of auto-GVHD after nonselected autologous transplants is due to peripheral Tregs transferred with the graft that downregulate the development of the syndrome and also anti-tumour activity (Miura et al, 2004). Auto-GVHD syndrome has been associated with significant anti-tumour activity in animal studies (Bryson et al, 1999) and although it was thought that induction of auto-GVHD following autologous HPC transplant could provide a potent treatment for patients with a number of malignancies including breast cancer, myeloma and lymphoma, so far it has shown no definitive benefit in terms of disease free survival or overall survival (Baron et al, 2000, van et al, 2000, Kline et al, 2008).

A recent pilot study to determine the effect of Treg depletion following autologous transplants in myeloma patients showed promising results *in vivo* and *in vitro*, but patient numbers were too small to draw any conclusions (von Keudell, Rosenbaum and Zimmerman, 2013). As Tregs levels both in the graft and in the peripheral blood during recovery from autologous transplant may strongly inhibit anti-tumour immune responses and few large studies have been performed to date, this study proposes to assess the impact of Tregs in grafts and in the peripheral blood of autologous and allogeneic HPC transplant patients on clinical outcome.
1.3 Mobilisation and collection of HPCs

For both allogeneic and autologous transplantation, HPC collection is essential. While it is possible to harvest HPCs directly from the bone marrow space, with the exception of paediatric donors this procedure has been largely superseded by apheresis. Apheresis involves collection of HPCs from the peripheral blood following the use of the haematopoietic growth factor granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) alone, or in combination with chemotherapy such as cyclophosphamide, to mobilise HPCs from the bone marrow. These peripheral blood harvests are associated with a higher incidence of GVHD than bone marrow harvests (Urbano-Ispizua, 2007, Gallardo *et al,* 2009).

In the absence of mobilisation, HPCs are bound to the bone microenvironment marrow niches and this adhesion and proximity plays a large part in regulating their renewal, proliferation and trafficking (Hoffbrand, 2011). Adhesion molecules expressed by sinusoidal endothelial cells and perivascular MSCs in the vascular compartment of the bone marrow anchor the HPCs. A similar role is afforded by osteoblasts in the endosteal niche (To, Levesque and Herbert, 2011, Hopman and Dipersio, 2014). Active HPCs which proliferate to renew the haematopoietic system are located mainly in the perivascular niches and those that are quiescent are preferentially located in the poorly perfused endosteal niches (To, Levesque and Herbert, 2011). The balance of HPC proliferation, differentiation and egress into the peripheral blood requires a high level of control. Only very small numbers (< 0.1% of total white blood cells) of HPCs are normally present in circulating blood of individuals under normal conditions, with this number increasing in times of stress (Hopman and Dipersio, 2014).

The use of the CD34 surface antigen, a trans-membrane glycoprotein present on immature haematopoietic cells, allows identification and enumeration of HPCs. Mobilisation involves the use of an agent or combination of agents in order to cause proliferation of CD34+ HPCs, subsequent severance of their bonds with the marrow microenvironment and egression into the peripheral blood from where they can be collected (Greenbaum and Link, 2010, Zipori *et al*, 2002).

The most commonly used agent for mobilisation of HPCs is the cytokine, G-CSF which controls granulocyte expansion and neutrophil egress from the bone marrow into peripheral blood during non-disease states (Hopman and Dipersio, 2014). Treatment of donors with G-CSF can cause large increases in circulating progenitor cells in the peripheral circulation which can then be harvested using apheresis. The expansion of granulocytes by G-CSF increases the production and secretion of proteolytic enzymes from myeloid precursors which cleave adhesion molecules that anchor HPCs to the stroma and extracellular matrix in the marrow micro-environment (Stroncek *et al*, 1997, Zipori *et al*, 2002, Hopman and Dipersio, 2014).

23

G-CSF is used for mobilisation of HPCs in both autologous and allogeneic HPC donors. When compared with collection of HPCs directly from the bone marrow, HPCs mobilised into the peripheral blood by G-CSF and collected by apheresis result in harvests with approximately two-fold higher CD34 yields (Favre *et al*, 2003), and reduced time to neutrophil and platelet engraftment post-transplant requiring fewer platelet transfusions, reduced hospital stays and associated costs (Bensinger *et al*, 2001, Blaise *et al*, 2000, Hartmann *et al*, 1997).

G-CSF can be used alone (Table 1) or in combination with chemotherapeutic agents (Table 2) to mobilise HPCs in autologous donors. In the case of allogeneic donors, G-CSF is only ever used alone as it would be ethically unacceptable to do otherwise (Table 3).

Table 1: Autologous HPC mobilisation regimen using G-CSF alone

Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5
G-CSF	G-CSF	G-CSF	G-CSF	Test peripheral CD34 count. Perform harvest if
10µg/kg	10µg/kg	10µg/kg	10µg/kg	>10/µl
				G-CSF 10µg/kg if further harvest required or if
				peripheral CD34 count <10/µl

Table 2: Autologous HPC mobilisation regimen using cyclophosphamide plus G-CSF (typical example of G-CSF plus chemotherapy)

peripheral CD34 Perform harvest /μl 5 μg/kg if further st required or if heral CD34 count
:. / : ! s'

Table 3: Allogeneic HPC mobilisation regimen

Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5
G-CSF	G-CSF	G-CSF	G-CSF	Test peripheral CD34 count. Perform apheresis if
10µg/kg	10µg/kg	10µg/kg	10µg/kg	>10/µl or bone marrow harvest if <10/µl

Table 4: Plerixafor plus G-CSF autologous HPC mobilisation regimen

Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5
16:00-	16:00-	16:00-	17:00	07:30 G-CSF 10μg/kg
18:00	18:00	18:00		
			G-CSF	08:30 Take sample for peripheral CD34 count.
G-CSF	G-CSF	G-CSF	10µg/kg	Start harvesting.
10µg/kg	10µg/kg	10µg/kg	Plerixafor	
			240µg/kg	Repeat dose of Plerixafor if further harvest
				required plus 10µg/kg G-CSF on morning of 2nd
				harvest.

In autologous donors only, chemotherapy is often combined with G-CSF in the mobilisation regimen as an anti-cancer treatment modality but it also results in a higher yield of HPCs which can be harvested during the haematopoietic recovery phase (Lickliter *et al*, 1994). Allogeneic donors only ever receive G-CSF alone. Typically, effective mobilisation results in the release of adequate HPCs into the peripheral blood to enable the collection of a sufficient cell yield over one to three harvests to perform a transplant either in the autologous or allogeneic setting (Hoffbrand, 2011).

In patients undergoing autologous transplantation, previous treatment of disease with chemotherapeutic agents or radiation may impair CD34 cell mobilisation (Boccadoro *et al*, 2002, Kumar *et al*, 2007, Mazumder *et al*, 2008, Tournilhac *et al*, 2003). In some heavily pre-treated patients it is not possible to collect adequate HPCs to perform a transplant using G-CSF alone or even in combination with chemotherapy (To, Levesque and Herbert, 2011, Hopman and Dipersio, 2014).

The advent of a novel mobilisation agent, Plerixafor, has yielded encouraging results in patients who are poor mobilisers (Cashen, Nervi and DiPersio, 2007, Flomenberg *et al*, 2005, Tanhehco *et al*, 2013, Hopman and Dipersio, 2014, Lemoli and D'Addio, 2008). Plerixafor works synergistically with G-CSF (Figure 4) resulting in successful mobilisation in the majority of heavily treated patients who often fail to mobilise sufficient HPCs using other mobilisation regimens (table 4).

The chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) on early HPC progenitor cells and its ligand stromal derived factor 1 (SDF-1) on marrow stromal cells are involved in homing and mobilisation of HPCs (Hopman and Dipersio, 2014, To, Levesque and Herbert, 2011). This is a potent adhesive relationship between developing progenitor cells and the bone marrow microenvironment. Disruption of the CXCR4/SDF-1 axis by Plerixafor leads to enhanced mobilisation of HPCs. The mechanism by which Plerixafor functions is different from that of G-CSF and it has been shown that the CD34+ cell sub-populations that are mobilised by each agent differs (Donahue *et al*, 2009). In a rhesus macaque model, genes which were up-regulated in Plerixafor mobilisation and G-CSF mobilisation as single agents were different (Donahue *et al*, 2009) and these also differed from those which were up-regulated when G-CSF and Plerixafor were used in combination. Cells mobilised using Plerixafor alone included more B-cell, T-cell and mast cell precursors than cells mobilised by G-CSF alone which instead contained more neutrophil and mononuclear phagocyte precursors. Plerixafor and G-CSF in combination resulted in higher numbers of B-cell and T-cell precursors.

1.4 HPC and donor lymphocyte harvesting

1.4.1 Allogeneic harvests

In healthy allogeneic donors, collection or harvesting of HPCs takes place after administration of $10\mu g/kg/day$ of G-CSF for four days (Akizuki *et al*, 2000). On the fifth day, a peripheral CD34+ cell count is used to determine if sufficient CD34+ cells have mobilised into the peripheral circulation to perform a cell harvest. At RMH this target peripheral count is > $10/\mu l$ (for mobilisation regimen see Table 3). A small proportion of healthy donors will fail to mobilise using G-CSF and, because of the ethical implications of giving alternative mobilising agents, the collection in these cases is performed by bone marrow harvesting. The usual target CD34+ dose for allogeneic transplants is between $4 \times 10^6/kg$ and $8 \times 10^6/kg$ based on the recipient's weight (Hoffbrand, 2011). A dose which is too low may result in delayed or failed engraftment and too high a dose may increase the risk of severe GVHD in the recipient (Mehta, 2009). Above a threshold of approximately 2×10^6 CD34+cells/kg, no correlation between dose transplanted and time to neutrophil engraftment can be shown in the Royal Marsden data (data not shown). This is corroborated by the studies of Pelus and Cottler-Fox and colleagues (Pelus, 2008, Cottler-Fox *et al*, 2003).

1.4.2 Autologous harvests

As described above, patients having HPCs collected for autologous transplant are mobilised using G-CSF either alone or in combination with chemotherapy (usually cyclophosphamide) or Plerixafor in combination with G-CSF (Tables 1, 2 and 4). Patients are tested at an appropriate point in the mobilisation regimen to determine whether adequate CD34+ cells have mobilised into the peripheral blood to enable harvesting to take place. In RMH, a white blood cell count of > $2.0x10^6$ /ml and a CD34+ cell count of >10/µl is used to indicate effective mobilisation and patients will then undergo apheresis to collect cells. If adequate mobilisation has not been achieved after five days, patients are given a further dose(s) of G-CSF and tested again over the subsequent days. If the patient fails to achieve an adequate peripheral CD34 count after a number of doses of G-CSF the mobilisation attempt is stopped. The number of doses is dictated by centre-specific mobilisation data and logistics surrounding apheresis slot availability. A clinical decision is then made about suitable regimens for further mobilisation attempts. In these circumstances a failed attempt with G-CSF alone is usually followed by at least one further G-CSF plus chemotherapy mobilisation. Failure of these attempts can be followed by a request for funding of a Plerixafor plus G-CSF mobilisation.

In patients treated with Plerixafor in combination G-CSF, apheresis takes place on a pre-set day in the regimen. It has been shown that adequate numbers of cells can be harvested despite very low peripheral CD34 counts in patients being mobilised using this regimen (Wells, Shaw and Smith, 2009). Harvests performed on a cohort of patients with peripheral CD34 counts of $>7/\mu$ l and $< 10/\mu$ l were shown to yield adequate doses of CD34+ cells for transplantation in contrast to those patients mobilised using other regimens with similarly low peripheral counts.

1.4.3 Mechanism of HPC harvesting

Harvesting of peripheral blood HPC and donor lymphocytes is performed by apheresis using machines designed for the purpose. RMH uses Caridian Optia apheresis machines in common with most other units across Europe and the USA. Typically, a mononuclear cell (MNC) collection programme is used to collect the fraction of the peripheral blood which contains CD34+ HPCs and CD3+ donor lymphocytes (DLs). The process uses closed system centrifugation of approximately two total blood volumes in sequential 200ml volumes. Cells are distributed along a density gradient and the composition of the final harvested product depends on the layer that is collected. Within the white cell layer density gradient separation results in layering of the different cellular components with the lighter, lymphocyte-rich cells at one end of the gradient and the denser granulocyte-rich cells at the other. The Optia uses optical detection of the cellular interface (Figure 5) thus enabling the operator to visualise the layers after density gradient separation and select the desired component for collection (Caridian BCT Optia Operator Manual).



Figure 5: Apheresis using the Caridian Optia. The Caridian Optia separates plasma, white cells, platelets and red cells according to density and using its automated interface management (AIM) system can harvest the desired layer. Mononuclear cells are collected into the the harvest collection bag of the closed collection system while red cells and plasma are returned to the donor. Photograph taken by author.

1.4.4 The Impact of mobilisation regimens on Tregs in the graft

The different mobilisation kinetics are attributable to the various regimens used and result in variation in the CD34+ cell populations which are mobilised (Condomines *et al*, 2006). It is therefore probable that there are differences in numbers of Tregs harvested using these different mobilisation regimens. Vela-Ojeda and colleagues demonstrated a 2.4-fold increase in CD4+CD25+ T cells following mobilisation using a higher than normal dose of 16µg/kg G-CSF (Filgrastim) in patients with myeloma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, although the author cautions that, because of the markers used for Treg identification, these cells could be activated instead of regulatory lymphocytes (Vela-Ojeda *et al*, 2006). There is growing evidence that G-CSF is capable of altering T cell reactivity and modifying APC activity (Rutella, 2007, Rutella *et al*, 2005, Buzzeo *et al*, 2007).

The relative numbers of Tregs in conventional G-CSF or G-CSF plus chemotherapy compared with Plerixafor plus G-CSF mobilised cell collections is a growing area of interest as the role of Tregs in the graft becomes better defined. Kean and colleagues noted significant mobilisation of both T cells and Tregs when Plerixafor was used on its own to mobilise cells in rhesus macaque monkeys (Kean et al, 2011). When used in combination with G-CSF, Plerixafor resulted in significant mobilisation of T cells, B cells and NK populations into peripheral blood although, overall T cell levels were lower than when Plerixafor was used on its own. Devine and colleagues (2008) considered a series of 20 normal donors mobilised using Plerixafor alone. When remobilised with G-CSF starting seven days following the Plerixafor mobilised harvest collection, lower CD34 doses were noted than were achieved after mobilisation with Plerixafor alone. An analysis of the T cell subsets in four of these harvests collected six hours after the injection of Plerixafor found no change in Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells (Devine et al, 2008). In a more recent study by Gaugler et al (2013), autologous apheresis products were analysed after G-CSF or G-CSF plus Plerixafor mobilised collection (Gaugler et al, 2013). Although this particular study examined an autologous cohort and testing was undertaken 10 to 11 hours after administration of Plerixafor, the group confirmed Devine's findings that Plerixafor given with G-CSF mobilised greater numbers of CD3+ cells than after G-CSF alone. They also reported that Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells did not increase although the absolute numbers were higher. The study showed that the Tregs collected after mobilisation with G-CSF and Plerixafor displayed a significantly higher expression of CD127 than those harvested after G-CSF alone and they postulated that this could be due to a difference in the Tregs mobilised by each mobilisation method and that these Tregs may exhibit different functional properties.

The influence of Tregs in the graft on GVHD in patients receiving allogeneic transplants and on anti-tumour activity in both autologous and allogeneic transplants is of obvious importance. Differences in mobilisation protocols between apheresis centres mean that although results of studies in the literature are of interest it is important to take into consideration the fact that dose timings and testing intervals vary considerably between centres. Furthermore many studies are based on small cohorts of patients. Even large transplant units vary in their approach to mobilisation regimens so this lack of consensus of treatment between centres makes interpretation of the literature difficult. Given that the RMH is currently the busiest Haematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant unit in the UK, transplanting over 200 patients per year and that the role of Tregs in transplantation is of significant clinical relevance, a study on the effects of different mobilisation regimens on Treg numbers and clinical outcome within the RMH setting is merited.

1.4.5 Reconstitution of haematopoiesis following HPC transplant

Following myeloablative conditioning, rather than RIC based therapeutic options, patients typically develop profound pancytopoenia. The duration of the pancytopoenic phase is partly dependent on the donor source with HPC apheresis grafts typically demonstrating the quickest neutrophil engraftment at about 2 weeks, and bone marrow and cord grafts taking 3 and 4 weeks respectively. In RIC transplants the duration and severity of pancytopoenia varies depending on the regimen used but is significantly shorter than following myeloablative conditioning (Mackall *et al*, 2009).

With RIC and full intensity conditioning, myeloid reconstitution occurs guite rapidly. For both types of transplant, the lymphoid compartment recovery is slower than the myeloid (Baron et al, 2004). In most cases, NK cell numbers return to normal within a month and B cells recover more quickly than T cells but B cells are still markedly reduced in the first three months posttransplant. Full B cell reconstitution covering all immunoglobulin isotypes can take up to two years following transplantation to return to normal levels. Reconstitution of T cells is a lengthy process and may be prolonged by immunosuppressive therapy and GVHD. CD4+ T cells take longer to recover than CD8+ T cells, the latter taking between three and 18 months to return to normal levels. CD4+ T cells remain low for over a year but this is dependent on the age of the patient and probably reflects thymic function. T cell regeneration is predominantly by means of a thymic independent pathway or homeostatic peripheral expansion, as thymic function is adversely affected by chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Other factors that can adversely affect thymic function are age (Fry and Mackall, 2005) and GVHD (Mackall et al, 2009). Regenerating T cells can originate from a number of sources: they may be recipient cells that have survived high dose therapy, T cells contained in the graft, donor stem cell progenitors that develop into T cells in the recipient or residual recipient stem cells which develop into T cells (Porrata, Litzow and Markovic, 2001). There appears to be consensus that a number of recipient T cells including Tregs are able to survive the preparative conditioning with memory T cells showing better

survival than naïve T cells (Isaacs and Thiel, 2004, Bayer *et al*, 2009). The recipient derived Tregs have been found to undergo peripheral expansion before the emergence of donor Tregs (Bayer *et al*, 2009). Ultimately these comprise the predominant component of the Treg compartment at approximately two months post-transplant. Recipient Tregs are thought to suppress recipient T cell alloimmune responses to incoming donor cells and may therefore facilitate engraftment (Bayer *et al*, 2009).

Reconstitution following autologous transplant shows a similar pattern to that of allogeneic transplants but is not complicated by immunosuppressive therapy or, in most cases, by GVHD. Tregs surviving the conditioning therapy rapidly expand in the immediate post-transplant period and are thought to be capable of suppressing anti-tumour immune responses (Bayer *et al*, 2009, Porrata, Litzow and Markovic, 2001).

1.5 Donor lymphocyte therapy in allogeneic transplant patients

The beneficial association of tolerable GVHD with lower incidence of relapse in leukaemic patients receiving allogeneic transplants is well documented (Sullivan *et al*, 1989, Weiden *et al*, 1979, Weiden *et al*, 1981). Depletion of donor T cells from the graft successfully reduces the incidence of GVHD but leads to higher rates of disease relapse particularly in patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML), but also in AML and acute lymphocytic leukaemia (ALL) (Goldman *et al*, 1988, Marmont *et al*, 1991). Syngeneic transplants from identical twins also results in higher rates of disease relapse than allogeneic transplants and identical twins are therefore not now routinely used as donors. These data confirm the potent immunotherapeutic GVM role played by donor T cells.

Engraftment of donor cells and anti-tumour activity in RIC transplants may be enhanced by the use of donor lymphocyte infusions (Kahl *et al*, 2007, Bacigalupo, 2004, M, M and S, 2013). Often a mixed chimerism of recipient and donor haematopoietic cells exists in the early stages post-transplant reverting to full donor chimerism on withdrawal of immunosuppression, although mixed chimerism may be persistent (Mielcarek *et al*, 2002). In all allogeneic recipients post-transplant immune suppression provides an additional mechanism for regulating recipient responses to donor cells. Withdrawal of immunosuppressive therapy post-transplant must be undertaken carefully to maintain stable graft function (Woolfrey and Anasetti, 1999).

Early experiments using canine models examined time intervals post-transplant when infusion of donor T cells could be administered that were able to convert a mixed haematopoietic chimerism of both host and donor origin to complete donor chimerism. As a falling percentage of donor chimerism may be indicative of potential disease relapse this discovery was an important step in being able to treat relapse post-transplant (Kolb *et al*, 1997). This concept was extended to humans resulting in a successful infusion of DL into a patient with relapsed CML and a lasting remission (Kolb et al, 1990). The observation led to the use of DLI to treat relapse in a range of haematological malignancies (Dey et al, 2003, Krishnamurthy et al, 2013, Liga et al, 2012, Deol and Lum, 2010). The ability to control residual disease and relapse through the use of DLI has greatly assisted the introduction of RIC and non-MA transplants and has thus widened the age range and eligibility of patients suitable for transplant to older patients and those with co-morbidities (Roddie and Peggs, 2011). The level of immunosuppression resulting from conditioning in these patients is sufficient to facilitate engraftment but does not cause the degree of conditioning-related damage and inflammation experienced by patients receiving full intensity transplants. The anti-tumour effect in this setting is not attributable to the reduced intensity conditioning per se but is mediated by the GVM effect of the donor immunocompetent cells in the graft. DLI thus offer a valuable means to manage residual disease and relapse in all allogeneic patients but particularly those receiving RIC transplants. The exact mechanism by which DLI induce GVM reactions is still unclear but it is thought that host APC stimulate donor T cells by presenting target antigens which may be differentially expressed on haematopoietic lineage cells (Kolb, 2008). Interestingly DLI appears to be more effective when used in patients with myeloid malignancies than those of lymphoid origin (Roddie and Peggs, 2011, Deol and Lum, 2010, Kolb, 2008).

Despite the benefits of DLI therapy, GVHD is a potentially life threatening complication occurring in about 30% of DLI recipients, however, the development of GVHD can be an indicator of alloreactivity and therefore GVM. Although severe GVHD can be life threatening, mild GVHD is associated with better prognosis in terms of disease relapse. The incidence of GVHD appears to be influenced by the interval between transplant and DLI with highest prevalence seen when DLI are given less than 30 days from transplant (Roddie and Peggs, 2011). Other factors influencing the incidence of GVHD are the number of T cells infused and the composition of the T cells. Additionally, recipients of T cell depleted initial transplant grafts have a higher risk of developing GVHD after DLI than those receiving T cell replete initial transplant grafts (Roddie and Peggs, 2011).

1.5.1 Tregs in DLI

The role of Tregs in the DLI setting has been studied using two different approaches: depletion of Tregs in the patient prior to infusion of DLI and Treg depletion of the DL product which is infused. Patients treated with the Treg depleting agents fludarabine or cyclophosphamide before DLI show significantly higher levels of GVHD suggesting a preventative role for Tregs in this setting (Deol and Lum, 2010). In a study conducted by Maury, seventeen patients with relapsed disease following allogeneic transplant, all of whom had failed to respond to at least one dose of donor lymphocytes, were further treated with CD4+CD25+ depleted DLI. Two patients developed GVHD and, following fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide treatment prior to further DLI, four of the remaining patients developed GVHD. The study demonstrated that development of GVHD following DLI was associated with complete or partial disease remission and survival (Maury et al, 2010). Maury's group postulated that improved allo-reactivity and therefore GVM could be achieved by Treg depletion of the DLI. In patients resistant to treatment with donor lymphocytes, allo-reactivity could be improved by depletion of Tregs in the recipient allowing homeostatic expansion or activation of infused T cells. A recent Phase 1 study conducted by Nikiforow and colleagues (2013) also showed increased incidence of GVHD and GVM following CD25+ depletion of donor lymphocytes (Nikiforow et al, 2013). Observation of falling chimerism levels in patients post-transplant can indicate the return of host-derived haematopoietic cells, graft failure and subsequent relapse. In myeloablative transplants full donor chimerism is expected post-transplant, however, patients receiving RIC or non-MA transplants may show mixed chimerism which gradually converts to full chimerism over many months. A falling or persistent mixed chimerism is suggestive of potential returning disease and can be used alongside residual disease monitoring to indicate the need for DLI although in some high risk diseases pre-emptive DL therapy is used (Roddie and Peggs, 2011). The timings and doses of DLI have been the focus of many studies in order to obtain GVM without unacceptable GVHD (Fozza et al, 2007, Raiola et al, 2003, Simula et al, 2007, Shaw et al, 2007, Shaw and Russell, 2008). To reduce the risk of GVHD incremental doses of T cells are usually given, starting with smaller doses in patients with falling chimerism (5x10⁵/kg CD3+ cells in patients with unrelated donors, 1×10^6 /kg in patients with sibling donors) or larger doses (1×10^7 /kg CD3+ cells) in cases of disease relapse (Shaw et al, 2007). GVM reactions may not be observed until about eight weeks after DLI with molecular remission taking longer. Monitoring of chimerism and residual disease must therefore be undertaken carefully and further doses of DLI withheld until it is clear that the previous dose has not elicited the desired response (Shaw and Russell, 2008).

With increasing use of DLI as a treatment option and pressure to reduce costs, many centres including RMH aim to cryopreserve donor lymphocytes taken from the initial allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell donation especially where patients are at high risk of disease relapse. This allows rapid intervention with 'off the shelf' DLI without the need to recall the volunteer donor for specific donor lymphocyte collection. The practice also negates any problems with the donor no longer being able or willing to donate more cells. Recent changes to the funding of transplants mean that there are considerable cost-savings to be made by proactive preparation and cryopreservation of DL at the time of initial transplant donation.

Enumeration of CD3+ cells present in the original collection enables preparation of specified doses that can be processed and cryopreserved as five escalating doses of CD3+ donor lymphocytes, typically $5x10^{5}$ /kg, $1x10^{6}$ /kg, $5x10^{6}$ /kg, $1x10^{7}$ /kg and $5x10^{7}$ /kg. Alternatively, DL can be harvested from the original donor at a later date after the initial peripheral blood stem cell donation. As sufficient CD3+ cell numbers can be collected from an un-stimulated peripheral collection, the donor does not need to receive a mobilising agent for DL specific collections.

Although the practice of cryopreserving donor lymphocytes at the time of initial G-CSF mobilised collections is common in many Stem Cell Transplant Laboratories it is unknown whether the difference in collection protocols i.e. G-CSF mobilised or not, affects the immune phenotype, in particular CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ Tregs, and what effect this may have on outcome of the DL infusion. In a study performed by Hicheri and colleagues they found that lower CD4+CD127^{low/neg} content of DL correlated significantly with favourable haematological response (Hicheri *et al*, 2008). However, small numbers of patients treated in any one centre, poor outcomes and heterogeneous patient groups make it difficult to conduct clinical trials of patients receiving DLI.

The role of NK cells, CD4 and CD8 cells are well characterised in the allogeneic transplant setting (Lowdell, 2003, Mackall *et al*, 2009), however, it now appears that both donor derived Tregs in the recipient and in the infused DL product may play an important role (Roddie and Peggs, 2011, Hicheri *et al*, 2008, Kolb, 2008). DLI based treatment varies from centre to centre, but nonetheless, numbers of Tregs are likely to be an important predictor of outcome or at least shed some valuable light on clinical scenarios following donor lymphocyte infusions.

1.6. Studies on Tregs in the graft and post-transplant

In both human studies and animal models, there has been a significant lack of consensus regarding the effect of Tregs in autologous and allogeneic transplantation. Although extrapolation from animal-based findings to human application must be undertaken with caution, the observation that donor Tregs could prevent GVHD in allogeneic murine studies prompted many clinical investigations. In ensuing human studies, some researchers concentrated on the levels of Tregs in the graft and some on Treg levels during the period post-transplant, in particular during the onset of GVHD. Furthermore it has been postulated that in autologous transplants Tregs levels in both the graft and during reconstitution may be implicated in suppression of anti-tumour immunity (Hess, 2010). Factors such as mobilisation regimen which may affect Treg numbers in the graft are therefore of interest. Additionally, depletion of Tregs in the graft and in autologous transplant recipients is being studied as a possible therapeutic option to reduce relapse rates (von Keudell, Rosenbaum and Zimmerman, 2013).

1.6.1 The impact of Tregs in the graft

Stanzani's team found that higher Tregs in the sibling allogeneic grafts they studied increased the risk of acute GVHD (Stanzani *et al,* 2003). As a FoxP3 antibody was not available at the time of this research, CD25 was used as a marker for Tregs. Because CD25 identifies activated effector T cells as well as Tregs, results of studies using this marker should be interpreted with caution. In contrast Wolf and colleagues noted that increased Tregs in the graft decreased the incidence of acute GVHD in the recipients of myeloablative allogeneic transplants (Wolf *et al,* 2007). In their study, peripheral blood stem cell (PBSC) donations were from sibling donors and CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ Treg enumeration was performed using flow cytometry. Research groups led by Pastore (Pastore *et al,* 2011), Rezvani (Rezvani *et al,* 2006), and Pabst (Pabst *et al,* 2007) all agreed with Wolf's findings that an increase in Tregs in the graft was associated with a decreased incidence of acute GVHD.

Although their findings were similar, these groups differed in their experimental approach (Table 5). Pastore's group only studied the grafts of patients with AML, ALL and CML receiving myeloablative allogeneic transplants conditioned using busulphan/cyclophosphamide. CD3+ CD4+ CD25+ FoxP3+ Tregs were identified using flow cytometry. Pabst also studied the grafts of patients receiving full intensity conditioning but myeloablative regimens included TBI plus cyclophosphamide, TBI plus fludarabine and busulphan/fludarabine. Treg identification was by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR) rather than flow cytometry. In the Rezvani study, the diagnosis of patients was AML, ALL, CML or chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL), and they all received full intensity conditioning followed by a sibling donor PBSC transplant. The harvested products in this protocol were subjected to *ex vivo* CD34 selection and T-cell depletion with a known number of T-cells added back to the graft. This level of graft manipulation is not standard practice in most centres. As donor Treg numbers were measured prior to any mobilisation or harvesting regimen in this particular study, it did not address the direct impact of Tregs on the recipient.

Because sibling donors tend to have fewer mHag mis-matches with their recipients than unrelated donors, the patients in Rezvani's and Wolf's studies were less likely to develop GVHD than a cohort of patients that included significant numbers of unrelated donor transplants. Noel's study considered only recipients receiving RIC transplants. Both pre and post G-CSF mobilisation CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+Treg numbers in allogeneic donors were measured using flow cytometry (Noël *et al*, 2008). No correlation was found between the numbers of Tregs infused and tolerance to acute GVHD.

Table 5: Summary of studies examining	Treg numbers in the graft and	incidence of GVHD
---------------------------------------	-------------------------------	-------------------

Reference	Patient population	Treg markers	Conclusions
Stanzani <i>et al</i> 2003	Sibling allografts (n=60). Full intensity, non-MA and RIC NHL, AML, CML, ALL, CLL, MM, HD, Ca breast	Testing on cryopreserved samples CD25+	个Tregs 个GVHD
Rezvani <i>et al</i> 2006	AML, ALL, CML, CLL Full intensity (n=32) Siblings <i>ex</i> <i>vivo</i> CD34 selection and T-cell depletion with a known	CD4, CD25, CD45R0, CD27, CTLA-4, FoxP3 Quantitative PCR for FoxP3	个Tregs ↓GVHD
	number of T-cells added back to the graft. Tested at 30, 45, 60, 90, and 120 days post-transplant	gene expression	
Pabst <i>et al</i>	VUDs (n=63)	Testing on cryopreserved samples	↑Tregs ↓aGVHD
2007	Full intensity: TBI+cyclophosphamide, TBI+fludarabine and Busulphan/fludarabine Patients followed-up for 0.6-62	CD3+, CD4+, CD25+ Quantitative PCR for FoxP3 gene expression	between Treg numbers and cGVHD
Wolf et al	Sibs (n=58)	CD4+CD25+FoxP3+	↑Tregs ↓GVHD but
2007	Full intensity (n=34), RIC (n=24) Haematological malignancies		not after RIC. Relapse rate independent of Tregs
Noel <i>et al</i>	RIC Sibs and VUDs (n=32)	CD4+CD25 ^{high} CD127 ^{low} FoxP3+	No correlation
2008	Donors mobilised with 7 days of G-CSF		numbers and aGVHD
	Tested at 30 to 60 days post- transplant		
Pastore <i>et al</i> 2011	Sibs (n=45) and VUDS (n=20). ALL, AML, CML	CD3+CD4+CD25+FoxP3+	↑Tregs ↓GVHD Relapse rate
	Full intensity:		independent of Tregs
	Tested at 1,2,3,6 months post- transplant		

NHL, non-Hodgkin lymphoma; AML, acute myeloid leukaemia; CML, chronic myeloid leukaemia; ALL, acute lymphocytic leukaemia; CLL, chronic lymphatic leukaemia; MM, multiple myeloma; HD, Hodgin's lymphoma; Ca breast, breast cancer; non-MA, non-myeloablative; RIC, reduced intensity conditioning; Sib, sibling donor; VUD, volunteer unrelated donor; \uparrow , increased numbers or incidence; \downarrow , decreased numbers or incidence.

Over all these studies suggest that levels of Tregs in the graft may affect the incidence of GVHD but it is difficult to draw definitive conclusions due to the large variation in mobilisation protocols, transplant procedures, patient cohorts and methods of Treg enumeration in the study groups.

With regard to allogeneic transplantation, the current study considered the range of full intensity and RIC, unrelated and sibling transplants to reflect the patient population at RMH. Testing of CD3+CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Tregs was performed using flow cytometry in peripheral blood and harvests from sibling donors, and in harvests of unrelated donors.

Donor lymphocytes at RMH are cryopreserved using standard non-mobilised collections but increasingly are also processed from initial transplant mobilised collections. Since levels of Tregs are implicated in GVM and GVHD it is important to observe the effect of mobilisation agents on numbers of Tregs in the collection.

Autologous grafts are also considered in the current study. Elevated Treg levels in patients suffering from haematological malignancies have been described (Michael, Shimoni and Nagler, 2013) and harvests from these patients would be expected to contain higher Treg levels than those collected from healthy donors. These increased Treg numbers can inhibit anti-tumour immune responses and negatively impact on the desired GVM effect following transplant.

Studies examining the effect of mobilisation regimens on Tregs are also difficult to interpret due to collection centre variation between mobilisation strategies, differences in peripheral CD34 count that determine when a donor is considered to have mobilised and the timing of mobilisation agents prior to harvest. In particular the timings of injection of Plerixafor prior to harvesting are noted to vary between centres and this may affect the mobilisation kinetics of Tregs. Studies range from administering Plerixafor 6 hours before the start of harvesting (Devine *et al*, 2008), 10-11 hours pre-harvest (Gaugler *et al*, 2013) and the current study where the time interval before harvesting is 16 hours.

1.6.2 Tregs in the peripheral blood following transplant

On the important question of whether circulating Tregs in the peripheral blood affects GVHD, studies have yielded variable data. The occurrence of Tregs in the peripheral blood of patients following autologous and allogeneic transplantation is likely to be intrinsically linked to their effect. Miura demonstrated a correlation between circulating Treg numbers detected by quantitative PCR and incidence of GVHD although they were unable to state whether this was cause or effect (Miura *et al*, 2004).The patient cohort for this study included recipients of autologous transplants for breast cancer as well as those receiving HLA-matched or haplo-

identical allogeneic transplants. The source of the graft in all cases was bone marrow. Peripheral blood levels of Tregs in the allogeneic setting were decreased in patients who developed acute GVHD. In the autologous patients auto-GVHD was intentionally induced using CsA to enhance anti-tumour immune responses (Byrne *et al*, 1997). These studies which link a low number of circulating Tregs with development of GVHD, whether autologous or allogeneic were unable to demonstrate if Tregs were reduced as a result of GVHD or if low Tregs contributed to GVHD development.

Magenau's study is one of the largest and most comprehensive studies to have been undertaken, with a patient cohort receiving either un-manipulated allogeneic or autologous bone marrow, PBSC or cord blood transplants from related or unrelated matched donors. Patients received no T cell depleting antibodies as part of their conditioning unlike some of the RMH patients. Blood samples were collected within 24 hours of clinical signs of GVHD and prior to initiation of any steroid therapy. Magenau's group concluded, as above, that Treg levels were decreased at the onset of GVHD and also low levels were observed in the preceding two weeks. Additionally, they noted that Treg levels indicated severity and eventual grading of GVHD. Tregs were determined by flow cytometry using the CD4+CD25^{hi}FoxP3+ phenotype (Magenau *et al*, 2010).

A series of further studies have also confirmed these findings. Groups led by Ukena, Zhai and Bremm all demonstrated that GVHD incidence was higher in patients with reduced peripheral blood Treg numbers than in patients with normal or high Treg levels as defined by each group. Ukena measured CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low} Tregs by flow cytometry in the six months posttransplant (Ukena et al, 2011b). Zhai's group used CD4+CD25+ as markers of Tregs and showed that the majority of these cells expressed FoxP3 (Zhai et al, 2007). The patients in Bremm's investigation were transplanted with either bone marrow or PBSC - some of which were T cell depleted – and donors were either HLA-matched or haplo-identical (Bremm et al, 2011). Reduced expression of CD127 was observed in the first two months following transplant, which the authors suggest may be as a result of the cytokine milieu immediately post-transplant, and then increased over the first year. These investigators measured CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low} Tregs and they comment that as they were only able to gate on the CD4+CD25^{high} population during the early post-transplant period their results may not be accurate due to inclusion of activated effector T cells that can also be identified using these markers. They also noted the highest proportions of Tregs in patients at the point of disease relapse. In CML patients more than 18 months post-transplant Nadal's group also demonstrated that high levels of Tregs were more commonly associated with disease relapse (Nadal et al, 2007). Nadal's study was restrictive in its cohort selection as only patients being transplanted for CML were considered as these patients were easier to monitor for molecular remission. All the patients studied were more than 100

days post-transplant so the study only examined the incidence of chronic GVHD which, while interesting, does not address the fact that 30-50% of patients experience acute GVHD.

By contrast, other researchers reported no difference in Treg levels in patients with and without GVHD (Lord *et al,* 2011, Arimoto *et al,* 2007). Lord and colleagues studied Treg levels in the blood and gastric biopsies of patients suffering from gastrointestinal GVHD and those without and demonstrated no significant differences between the two groups (Lord *et al,* 2011). Arimoto's group studied full intensity and RIC conditioned patients and found no correlation between Treg numbers and the incidence of either acute of chronic GVHD (Arimoto *et al,* 2007).

In patients with chronic GVHD researchers also failed to reach consensus about the influence of Treg numbers. Studies by Zorn (Zorn *et al*, 2005) and Matsuoka's (Matsuoka *et al*, 2010) groups reported reduced levels of Tregs in patients developing chronic GVHD but Ukena and Clark's teams demonstrated increased numbers in patients with chronic GVHD (Ukena *et al*, 2011a, Clark *et al*, 2003, Sanchez *et al*, 2004). Although many of these studies offer interesting hypotheses, there is a lack of consensus in the literature (Table 6).

Table 6: Summary of studies examining Treg numbers in peripheral blood post-transplant and incidence of GVHD

Reference	Patient population	Treg markers and testing performed	Conclusions
Clark <i>et al.</i>	Allos (n=40) Sibs (n=34) VUDs (n=6)	CD4+CD25+ absolute number	↑CD4+CD25+ in
2003	Full intensity (n=34), RIC (n=6)	Functional activity	cGVHD
	Source: bone marrow (n=18), PBSC (n=22)		activity in cGVHD
	Tested at day +100 onwards post-transplant		
Sanchez <i>et al.</i>	Allos (n=35) Sib (n=29) Matched VUD (n=4) Mismatched VUD (n=2)	CD4+CD25 ⁺	个Tregs 个active cGVHD
2004	Source: bone marrow		
	T cell depletion of 12 bone marrow harvests		
Miura <i>et al.</i>	Allos (n=34) HLA matched (n=17) and haplo-	FoxP3 expression in peripheral	↓FoxP3 ↑ aGVHD
2004	identical (n=4)	DIOOD	and CGVHD severity
	Autos with Auto-GVHD induction (n=39)		
	Source: bone marrow		
	Samples at onset of GVHD, 5 patients received DLI		
Zorn et al.	Allos (n=57) Sibs(n=32) VUDS (n=25)	CD4+CD25+	\downarrow Tregs with active
2005	Full intensity (n=51), RIC (n=6)	FoxP3 in total lymphocytes not just	
	Source: bone marrow (n=36), PBSC (n=21)	Eunctional activity	CD4+:Tregs
	Patients with chronic GVHD		
Arimoto <i>et al.</i>	Allos (39) Full intensity (24) and RIC (15)	CD4+CD25+	No correlation
2007	Tested monthly up to 1 year post-transplant	FoxP3mRNA	aGVHD or cGVHD
Nadal <i>et al.</i>	Allos (n=76)	CD4+CD25 ⁺	↑Tregs ↑disease
2007	Source: bone marrow (n=57), PBSC (n=19)		reduction in GVHD
	Full intensity and RIC		Tregs post Tx more
	CML patients only		normal controls
	Day +100 onwards,33 patients received DLI		
Zhai <i>et al.</i>	Allos (n=12) VUD (n=1) and Sibs (n=11)	CD4+CD25 ⁺	↓Tregs 个aGVHD
2007	Full intensity		
	Source: bone marrow, PBSC and bone marrow+PBSC		
	Samples taken up to 15months post transplant		
Magenau <i>et al.</i>	Allos (n=125) autos (n=90)	CD4+CD25+CD127+FoxP3+	↓ Tregs at time of
2010	Source: unmanipulated PBSC, bone marrow or cords		↑Tregs ↓ severity
	Samples at onset of GVHD and D20,30,60 and 100 post-transplant		of GVHD

Matsuoka <i>et al.</i>	Full intensity (n=33)	CD4+CD25 ^{med-high} CD127 ^{low}	↓Tregs ↑cGVHD
2010	Source: PBSC		Inadequate CD4+
	Samples tested up to 1 year post- transplant		reconstitution 个cGVHD
Ukena <i>et al.</i>	Allos (n=29) VUD (n=11), Sibs(n=11) mismatched VUDs (n=7)	CD4+CD25 ^{high} CD127 ^{low}	↓Tregs 个GVHD
2011			
	Samples up to 6 months post-transplant		
Bremm <i>et al.</i>	HLA-matched or haplo-identical (n=16) (n=14	CD4+CD25 ^{high} CD127 ^{low}	↓Tregs 个GVHD
2011	paediatric)		Highest Tregs at
	RIC and full intensity		point of disease
	Acute leukaemia or neuroblastoma		relapse
	Source: Unmanipulated bone marrow (n=8)		
	depleted PBSC (n=6)		
	Up to 2 years post-transplant, 6 patients received DLI		

Allos, allogeneic transplant; Sib, sibling donor; VUD, volunteer unrelated donors; RIC, reduced intensity conditioning; PBSC, peripheral blood stem cells; CML, chronic myeloid leukaemia; cGVHD, chronic graft versus host disease; \uparrow , increased numbers or incidence; \downarrow , decreased numbers or incidence.

1.6.3 Tregs in donor lymphocyte products and the peripheral blood following infusion

Unlike Maury's study of patients receiving Treg depleted DL following relapse after HPC transplant, the current study will include all patients who receive Treg replete donor lymphocyte infusions for falling chimerism or relapse (Maury *et al*, 2010). Hicheri's study examined Tregs in DLI products but all patients in the study showed actual disease relapse and therefore received higher CD3+ doses of DLI than would have been administered for falling chimerism (Hicheri *et al*, 2008). Additionally over half the patients had received an initial transplant with bone marrow as the stem cell source.

DLI protocols also vary from transplant centre to centre. There is a degree of consensus about DLI CD3+ doses but the intervals between infusions and the point at which a falling chimerism is treated with DLI remain individual to centres and even clinicians within a centre. The use of prophylactic DLI in some centres further complicates interpretation of results from different research groups. Methods for assessing chimerism differ between different centres with some centres performing the more sensitive myeloid and T cell lineage testing in addition to whole blood chimerism on peripheral blood and others carrying out whole blood chimerism on bone marrow samples.

1.7 Reasons for undertaking this study

Tregs are clearly important and have an impact on clinical outcome in autologous and allogeneic transplantation. Although significant progress has been made in delineating their biology, careful analysis of the literature reveals conflicting results in the transplant setting. Attention has recently focussed on understanding the impact of Tregs *in vivo* but variations between clinical centres in their conditioning regimens, graft source, GVHD prophylaxis, patient age and underlying disease, together with the different parameters used to assess Tregs, make comparison of data challenging. Extrapolation of optimal Treg numbers from one centre and application to another is impossible, thus requiring centres to undertake centre-specific studies to determine the influence of Treg numbers on clinical outcome of patients treated with protocols specific to that centre.

The RMH has the largest haematopoietic stem cell transplant practice in the UK and operates according to unified and well-defined clinical protocols. This study aims to build a comprehensive and cohesive database of information which will clarify the impact of Tregs on clinical outcome in the transplant setting. In the future, testing of Treg levels at critical points in harvested products and in patients undergoing autologous and allogeneic transplantation and donor lymphocyte infusions may be valuable in predicting the occurrence and severity of relapse or GVHD.

1.8 Aims of the current study

The aims of this study are to determine the influence of CD4+ CD25^{high} CD127^{low} FoxP3+ Treg numbers in the graft and in the recipient on incidence and severity of GVHD and evidence of GVM, and to determine the effect of different mobilisation regimens and collection methods on CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers harvested. In order to achieve these aims, the objectives of this study were as follows:

- To determine the effect of HPC mobilisation regimens on CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers in both autologous and allogeneic harvests.
- To measure CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers in autologous grafts and in peripheral blood of patients during the first year following autologous transplant using flow cytometry and correlate levels with the clinical outcome measured by disease relapse for up to a year post-transplant.
- 3. To measure CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers in allogeneic donor grafts and in the peripheral blood of patients during the first year following allogeneic transplant using flow cytometry and correlate levels with clinical outcome determined by clinical assessment of GVHD, disease relapse and donor chimerism for up to a year post-transplant.
- To correlate CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers in DLI, with the clinical outcome determined by incidence of GVHD and disease remission or restoration of donor chimerism at relevant clinical intervals.

The study aims to undertake a large and comprehensive study of the impact of Tregs in transplants patients at RMH. The study includes autologous harvests and transplants, volunteer unrelated donor (VUD) and sibling allogeneic harvests and transplants, and DLI. The aim is to collect data from 40 autologous and 40 allogeneic transplants, with additional data from 12 patients receiving DLI. Based on a relapse rate of 10-20% by the end of the first year post-transplant, at least eight patients would be expected to relapse. Of the 40 allograft patients, two (5%) would be expected to develop severe GVHD by the end of the first year post-transplant and 13 (33%) mild GVHD. In setting up this study it was recognised that numbers would be dependent on clinical and sample availability constraints.

1.8 Hypotheses

- Mobilisation regimens will impact on numbers of Tregs collected in the DL or PBSC harvest and non-mobilised DL collections may result in lower CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers in the harvest than in mobilised collections.
- In autologous transplants high CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers in the graft and in the peripheral blood following transplant will be associated with a higher incidence of disease relapse.
- In allogeneic transplants high CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers in the graft and in the peripheral blood following transplant will result in mild or no GVHD but poorer GVM.
- 4. High CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers in donor lymphocyte infusions will correlate with a poorer response to DL infusion as measured by disease remission or donor chimerism status but will correlate with a lower incidence of GVHD.

2.0 Materials and methods

2.1 Patient and donor selection

This study included patients and donors who underwent collection of cells or who received transplants during the period October 2011 to July 2013. Full patient characteristics are shown in Appendix 4.

2.1.1 Patient cohorts

The study examined 109 harvests collected from patients mobilised for autologous harvest collection by G-CSF alone (n=11), G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide (n=82) or G-CSF plus Plerixafor (n=16).

Paired pre-harvest peripheral blood and harvest sample pairs were examined from 45 autologous and 11 related allogeneic donations.

Mobilised harvests from 59 allogeneic donors including VUDs (n=39) and siblings (n=20) were compared with 13 harvests from VUD (n=3) and sibling (n=10) donors who received no mobilisation regimen.

The grafts of 82 autologous and 53 allogeneic transplants recipients and transplant outcome in terms of disease status were examined over a period of one year post-transplant. Thirteen patients who received a total of 18 donor lymphocyte infusions were included in the study.

A cross-sectional study was performed on 197 samples from 75 patients who received allogeneic transplants from either a sibling (n=25) or an unrelated donor (n=50) and 180 samples from 82 patients who underwent autologous transplant. Patients were followed for a year post-transplant.

2.2 Consent and ethical considerations

Ethical (09/H0801/95) and research and development (CCR3312) approval was obtained for this study from the Royal Marsden Hospital's review board and all testing was performed in accordance with the approved protocol. The study was non-interventional in design as all patient blood samples were taken for routine testing with only material surplus to requirement being used in this study.

Testing was performed only where donors or patients had provided written, informed consent for surplus material taken for routine testing to be used in research. This consent was obtained as part of the cell harvesting or transplant consent procedure and was performed by clinicians trained in the consenting process in accordance with Human Tissue Authority (HTA) and Trust requirements. The investigator was not directly involved in the consenting process but wrote an information leaflet approved by the Trust Ethics Committee which was provided to patients and donors to inform them about the study.

2.3 Factors affecting testing

As the study was non-interventional and because the harvesting and treatments were predetermined, it was not possible to pre-allocate patients to different arms of the study. Therefore there was no control over patient and donor numbers in each group. Due to sample limitations it was not possible to test post-transplant samples at all desired time points. Additionally samples were not available from any patients transferred to intensive care following transplant, from patients referred back to their original hospital, or from those who died during the course of the study.

The timings of patient samples obtained were based around those already being taken for routine testing pre- and post-transplant. Peripheral blood study samples and were sourced from surplus material remaining after routine full blood count analysis. Apheresis product samples were taken from surplus material following routine total nucleated cell counts undertaken on harvested products. Sample volumes and cell counts were dependent entirely on residual material available.

2.4 Pre-apheresis patient and donor samples

Peripheral blood samples were taken from donors on the ward in the morning prior to commencing apheresis collection. This included both autologous and allogeneic sibling donors. Surplus sample material was collected from the haematology laboratory after full blood count (FBC) testing was completed and validated. No unrelated donor harvests are collected at RMH so peripheral blood samples were not available for these donors.

2.5 Harvest samples

All harvests received by the RMH Stem Cell Transplant Laboratory (SCTL) are sampled aseptically by laboratory personnel according to standard operating procedures. Samples for total nucleated cell (TNC) counting, CD34 ± CD3 enumeration and viability testing were taken. The surplus material remaining after the TNC count had been performed was used by the investigator for this study. TNC analysis was undertaken using a bench-top ABX Pentra 60 analyser (Horiba Medical) in the SCTL according to standard procedures. The TNC results obtained were used in the study. Enumeration of CD34/CD3 positivity undertaken by the Trust's Immunophenotyping laboratory was utilised in the study. Data from these tests were obtained from the SCTL paper and electronic patient records and the Trust's patient clinical database where appropriate.

2.6 Post-transplant samples

Samples for FBC are typically taken at regular intervals from patients post-transplant. During the initial in-patient phase these are routinely performed daily until the patient is discharged. Thereafter testing is usually performed at a minimum of 28 days, three months, six months and a year post-transplant with many patients being tested more regularly. These follow-up blood tests were collected as part of out-patient clinic appointments. Surplus samples from the above tests were collected from the haematology laboratory after scrutiny of clinic appointment lists and haematology laboratory patient sample databases on a daily basis.

2.7 Clinical data collation

2.7.1 Assessment of patient outcome - GVHD

Patients were assessed clinically for GVHD on a daily basis during the engraftment period immediately post-transplant and, after discharge from the ward, at each out-patient visit. Clinical GVHD was assessed and graded according to standard criteria described by Glucksberg and data entered into the patient clinical database (see Appendix 1). These widely-used grading criteria assessed extent, severity and pattern of organ involvement.

2.7.2 Assessment of patient outcome - Disease relapse

Transplant patients are continually monitored for clinical outcome by employing a range of tests. Clinical status is determined by microscopic examination of bone marrow aspirate samples taken at 28 days, 3 months and one year post-transplant. Additionally samples are analysed for residual disease/relapse using multicolour flow cytometry undertaken by the Trust's Immunophenotyping laboratory to detect malignant cell markers. Quantitative reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) technology is used by the Trust's Molecular Diagnostics Laboratory as a highly sensitive method for detection of residual disease or relapse before signs of actual clinical relapse. If appropriate, fluorescence in-situ hybridisation (FISH) is performed by the Trust's Cytogenetics Laboratory to detect persistence or re-appearance of chromosomal aberrations associated with the original malignant clone post-transplant. The results of all these tests were obtained from the patient clinical database.

2.7.3 Assessment of patient outcome - Chimerism

Relative levels of donor and recipient cells (chimerism) were tested on samples taken at outpatient clinic attendances at 28 days, three months, six months and one year post-transplant with testing at additional time-points if clinically indicated. The Trust's Molecular Diagnostic Laboratory chimerism testing uses a panel of polymorphic short-tandem repeat (STR) markers with allele sizes that differ between individuals. Repeat regions of 6 STR loci that differ between donor and recipient allow for relative numbers of donor and recipient cells to be measured. The analysis is performed on DNA extracted from both whole blood and bone marrow and considers chimerism status in both T cell (CD3) and myeloid (CD15) lineages. Analysis of sorted cell lineages increases sensitivity of the test and allows mixed chimerism to be detected more readily than using analysis of whole blood alone. Specifically, evidence of falling T cell chimerism is used clinically to indicate loss of graft or sign of early relapse. Results of chimerism testing were available from the patient clinical database and reported as percentages of total lymphoid or myeloid counts.

2.8 Sample preparation

In all cases, patient and donor peripheral blood samples were collected into BD (Becton Dickinson) Vacutainer[™] sample tubes containing the anticoagulant ethylene-diamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA). Samples were prepared for flow cytometry by isolation of mononuclear cells by density gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Hypaque with a specific gravity of 1.007 (GE Healthcare, Sigma- Aldrich). Samples were layered carefully over an equal volume of Ficoll-Hypaque and centrifuged at 300g for 20 minutes ensuring that the centrifuge brake was not used. The mononuclear layer was collected and the cells washed in saline for 5 minutes at 400g. The pellet was either re-suspended in an equal volume of saline and cryopreserved using the method in 2.8.1 or re-suspended in 100µl of BD Pharmingen[™] stain buffer (BD Biosciences) ready for immediate staining.

Autologous and allogeneic apheresis collections and donor lymphocyte harvests are anticoagulated with acid citrate dextrose - solution A (ACD-A) (Baxter Healthcare) as part of the apheresis process therefore no further anti-coagulation was required. Furthermore, no density gradient separation was required for apheresis product samples as the harvests are always depleted of red cells and granulocytes during the apheresis procedure. Samples were either tested fresh within 48 hours of collection or following cryopreservation and subsequent thawing.

2.9 Cryopreservation, storage and thawing of cell samples

2.9.1 Preparation for cryopreservation

Cryopreservation of cells was performed according to validated standard operating procedures that are used within the SCTL for freezing cells for therapeutic use or as viability reference samples. The methodology used to freeze samples employed a scaled-down version of the methodology validated and used in the laboratory to cryopreserve HPCs for therapeutic use. The freeze mix comprised clinical grade cryoprotectant CryoPur dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) (Quest Biomedical) and normal saline (9.0%) for injection (B.Braun Medical). DMSO was diluted in saline to produce a total concentration of 12% DMSO in the freeze mix which was then added to an equal volume of cells to give a final DMSO concentration of 6%. Cells were frozen at a concentration of less than 2.0 x10⁸/m in aliquots of 1ml in Nunc cryotubes (Fisher Scientific). The DMSO/saline cryoprotectant mix was cooled in the fridge before adding to the cells immediately prior to cryopreservation. The time from addition of DMSO to the cells until start of freezing was carefully monitored in accordance with standard operating procedures as delays to freezing can affect cell viability, and was not allowed to exceed 20 minutes.

2.9.2 Cryopreservation process

Cells were frozen in a Kryo 560 controlled rate freezer (Planer PLC) according to SCTL standard operating procedures using a pre-programmed protocol validated to ensure optimised viability of cells (Appendix 2). The freeze profile used is identical to that used for cryopreservation of transplant material. Viability and engraftment data are consistently checked and are well within acceptable limits as recognised and approved by the Joint Accreditation Committee of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) and the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT), (JACIE).

2.9.3 Storage

At the end of the freeze profile when the cells had reached a final temperature of -130°C, cryotubes were transferred to storage in temperature monitored vapour phase liquid nitrogen large capacity MVE vessels (Chart Biomedical), maintained at temperatures of less than -140°C. The vessels are all validated by RMH as suitable for long-term storage of cells for transplant. They are continually monitored according to regulatory requirements for temperature stability.

2.9.4 Thawing

Thawing of samples was performed according to the validated standard operating procedures used for thawing reference samples, also stored in Nunc cryotubes, for viability assessment of stored transplant material.

Frozen cryotubes were thawed using a Clifton NE1-4 water-bath (Jencons Scientific) which was filled with a measured amount of water, allowed to heat to and stabilise for at least 15 minutes at 39-40°C as measured by two independent temperature loggers (United Kingdom Accreditation Service (UKAS) calibrated and certified). Once the temperature was stabilised and acceptable, cryotubes were quickly removed from storage, thawed and the cells immediately washed in sterile saline for 5 minutes at 400G to ensure rapid removal of DMSO. Cells were resuspended in 100µl of BD Pharmingen[™] stain buffer (BD Biosciences) and staining for flow cytometry was performed immediately.

There is lack of consensus between researchers concerning the success of Treg staining following cryopreservation and the differences in methodology used may explain this. Elkord (Elkord, 2009) found that the frequency of Treg cells in peripheral blood was significantly

diminished after cryopreservation but this was disputed by Van Hemelen and colleagues who did not observe this in their testing (Van Hemelen et al, 2010). However it should be noted that the findings of both these papers were based on very small sample numbers of 6 and 3 samples respectively. Law and colleagues (Law et al, 2009) tested different FoxP3 antibody clones and found that the different clones behaved differently with fresh and cryopreserved and thawed samples. In tests on 10 frozen peripheral blood samples the 259D/C7 clone showed the highest levels of staining of Tregs due to better separation of FoxP3+ and FoxP3- populations than observed with the other clones tested. Furthermore, in a comparison of 4 donor samples tested both fresh and after freezing there was no difference in Treg frequencies detected. For the purposes of the current study, cryopreserved and thawed samples were tested to ensure that comparable results were obtained. Due to the difficulty in obtaining sufficient surplus material from post-transplant peripheral blood samples this comparison (Table 7), was undertaken on surplus harvest samples as sample volumes were typically greater. Correlation was performed on percentages of Tregs, CD4+ cells and CD3+ cells obtained after testing fresh and frozen/thawed samples to ensure that there were no significant differences between the results. As strong correlation was noted between fresh and cryopreserved sample results for all cell type percentages, samples were cryopreserved for future testing if it was not possible to test them fresh.

Table 7: Comparison of fresh and cryopreserved/thawed harvest samples stained and

analysed by flow cytometry. Fresh and frozen/thawed samples were tested for Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells, CD3+ cells as a percentage of all cells and CD4+ cells as a percentage of CD3+ cells. Spearman rank correlation (ρ) and significance is shown.

	FoxP3+ Tregs as	CD3+ cells as	CD4+ cells as
	percentage of	percentage of all	percentage of
	CD4+ cells	cells	CD3+ cells
Correlation (ρ) and significance (p) for fresh and cryopreserved/thawed samples (n=10)	ρ = 0.985 p = <0.0001	ρ = 0.960 p = <0.0001	ρ = 0.879 p = 0.001



Figure 6: Comparison of fresh and cryopreserved/thawed samples. (a) Comparison of CD3+ cells as a percentage of all cells (b) Comparison of CD4+ cells as a percentage of CD3+ cells and c) FoxP3+ cells as a percentage of CD4+ cells. Samples of harvests (n=10) were either used fresh or cryopreserved and thawed using protocols identical to those used for transplant material. Samples were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry.

2.10 Flow cytometry

2.10.1 Initial Treg testing

Treg enumeration was performed using multicolour flow cytometry and both fresh and thawed samples stained using the same methodology. Although a number of FoxP3 antibodies were available commercially, the use of a Treg detection kit was favoured as it provided flurochrome conjugated anti-human antibodies and critical buffers with manufacturer optimised protocols. Initially the Miltenyi Biotec Treg detection kit (Miltenyi Biotec GmbH, Germany) was selected. The kit comprised CD4 and CD25 antibodies conjugated to fluorescein-isothiocyanate (FITC) and phycoerythrin (PE) respectively. Fixation/permeabilisation solution and buffer were included in the kit together with FcR blocking reagent. Following staining with the Anti-CD4 and Anti-CD25 antibodies, the cells were fixed and permeabilised according to manufacturer's instructions to allow subsequent intracellular FoxP3 staining using FoxP3 antibody conjugated to failed and a search of the literature failed to identify any researchers using this kit.

The majority of studies appear to have used either the FoxP3 antibody clone PCH101 (produced by ebioscience) or clone 259D (produced by both Biolegend and BD Biosciences). In a study by Grant (Grant *et al*, 2009) cited in Lanza's review 'Toward standardisation of FoxP3 regulatory T-cell measurement in clinical settings' (Lanza, 2009) clone PCH101 showed the greatest percent positive staining of the clones tested, but it also exhibited a degree of non-specific staining. This concurred with the findings in a study by Tran (Tran and Shevach, 2007). There has been considerable correspondence published in the literature in response to these studies. Pillai and Karandikar (Pillai and Karandikar, 2007) found that clone 259D showed lower specificity than PCH101, 236A/E7 and 206D. Fox and colleagues defended clone 259D and stated that clones 259D, 236A/E7 and 206D were originally generated from the same fusion which conflicts with Pillai and Karandikar's findings (Fox *et al*, 2008). Further correspondence continues (Tran and Shevach, 2007). In a study by Law and colleagues (Law *et al*, 2009) a clone 3G3 Imgenex reagent showed the lowest levels of FoxP3 staining of all the clones tested.

Discussions with product specialists at Miltenyi were unsuccessful in finding a solution to the staining problem.

2.10.2 Definitive Treg testing

A group of researchers at the Anthony Nolan Donor Registry performing Treg enumeration in umbilical cord blood donations kindly met to discuss kits, methods and gating strategies. As a result of this, the BD Pharmingen[™] Human Regulatory T Cell cocktail (BD Biosciences) was chosen comprising FITC Anti-CD4, a tandem conjugate system that combines Allophycocyanin and a cyanine dye (PE-Cy7) Anti-CD25 and Alexa Fluor ®Anti-CD127. This was used in conjunction with BD Pharmingen[™] PE Mouse anti-Human FoxP3 clone 259D/C7 (BD Biosciences) and with BD Pharmingen[™] Vioblue Anti-CD3 (BD Biosciences). The BD Pharmingen[™] Human FoxP3 Buffer Set (BD Biosciences) comprising Buffer A and Buffer B was used for fixation and permeabilisation of the cells. The additional surface marker, CD127, assists in identifying and enumerating Tregs and its inclusion was recommended by the researchers at the Anthony Nolan Registry. The addition of Anti-CD3 enabled absolute Treg counts to be calculated.

Briefly, the cells suspended in BD PharmingenTM stain buffer (BD Biosciences) were stained using BD HorizonTM V450 Mouse anti-human Anti-CD3 (BD Biosciences) and human regulatory T cell cocktail at room temperature. After washing in stain buffer the cells were fixed using a freshly made working solution of 1 x FoxP3 Buffer A. The fixative was removed and the cells permeabilised by adding a 1 x working solution of Buffer C (FoxP3 Buffer B diluted in FoxP3 Buffer A). Following removal of the permeabilisation solution the cells were washed and divided between two tubes. The cells in one tube were incubated with Anti-FoxP3 and those in the second tube incubated with BD PharmingenTM PE Mouse immunoglobulin (Ig)G1, κ isotype control. The cells were analysed immediately following staining (full method shown in Appendix 3). A minimum of 50,000 events were counted for each analysis.

2.10.3 Principles of flow cytometric data acquisition and analysis

Following sample staining, testing was performed on a BD LSR11 flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson) fitted with four lasers, to allow multicolour analysis of cells labelled with different fluorochromes. Acquisition data was analysed using BD FACSDiva software following laser interrogation of the labelled cells. Cellular populations were discriminated on the basis of size and granularity using measurements of light forward and side scatter respectively as shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Blood sample flow cytometry plot. Plot of forward scatter (FSC-H) versus side scatter (SSC-H) using flow cytometry, showing expected areas of separation of granulocytes (1), monocytes (2) and lymphocytes (3) in a peripheral blood sample. Region 2 is the expected location of haematopoietic progenitor cells collected by apheresis (HPC,A).

2.10.4 Gating

Gating was performed according to protocols and advice from a BD Biosciences technical advisor. Firstly cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and PE isotype control were analysed and a sequential gating method employed as shown in Figure 8 (a-h). Using the same gates, cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and AntiFoxP3 and were then analysed as shown in Figure 9 a-h).

Using an initial forward versus side scatter dot plot of cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and PE isotype control, a gate was applied to all cells excluding debris and dead cells as shown in Figure 8(a). The gated cells were then displayed on a dot plot and CD3+ cells (lymphocytes) gated as shown in Figure 8(b). Within the lymphocyte gate, using a side scatter versus CD4 plot, the CD4+ cells were gated as shown in Figure 8(c). Three independent plots were then created of the CD4+ cells, CD127 versus CD25 as shown in Figure 8(d), FoxP3 versus CD25 as shown in Figure 8(e) and CD127 versus FoxP3 as shown in Figure 8(f). In each plot cells were gated – CD127^{low} CD25^{high}, FoxP3+ CD25^{high} and CD127^{low} FoxP3+ populations respectively. A combined gate was created in the analysis hierarchy. The PE isotype control ensured that the FoxP3 gates were in the correct position (Figures 8 (e) and (f)).

Having established optimal gating for the cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and PE isotype control, the gates remained in the same position during the analysis of the cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and AntiFoxP3 and were analysed as shown in Figure 9 (a-h). A global template was used to provide approximate gating positions based on previous samples but for each new sample tested the gating positions were adjusted using the isotype control to take account of variations between samples. Using the combined gating in Figure 10 (a-c) only the cells that appear in all three gates are CD3+CD4+CD125^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ cells (coloured purple).



g)

Figure 8: Representative flow cytometry analysis showing staining with anti-CD3, a cocktail of anti-CD4, anti-CD25 and antiCD127 with PE isotype control: Plots show cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and PE isotype control. (a) Dot plot with gate P1 to exclude dead cells and debris. (b) Dot plot restricted to gate P1. CD3+ cells gated. (c) Dot plot restricted to CD3+ with gate applied to CD4+ cells. (d) Contour with outliers plot with CD25^{high} CD127^{low} cells gated in P2 contour. (e) Contour with outliers plot with gate P3 contour placed to detect CD25^{high} FoxP3+ cells. Isotype control used to set gate position. (f) Contour with outliers plot with P4 contour gate placed to detect CD127^{low}FoxP3+ cells. Isotype control used to set gate position. (g) Histogram shows cells falling outside combined gate P2 contour and P3 contour and P4 contour. Cells falling within the combined gate are too low in number to be seen.


Figure 9: Representative flow cytometry analysis showing staining with anti-CD3, a cocktail of anti-CD4, anti-CD25 and antiCD127 with PE Anti FoxP3: (a) Dot plot with gate P1 to exclude dead cells and debris. (b) Dot plot restricted to gate P1. CD3+ cells gated. (c) Dot plot restricted to CD3+. CD4+ cells gated. (d) Dot plot shows CD3+CD4+cells with CD25^{high} cells in purple. (e) Contour with outliers plot with CD25^{high} CD127^{low} cells gated in P2 contour. (f) Contour with outliers plot with CD25^{high} FoxP3+ cells gated in P3 contour. (g) Contour with outliers plot with P4 contour gate on CD127^{low} FoxP3+ cells. (h) Histogram shows cells falling outside combined gate P2 contour and P3 contour and P4 contour in red and Treg cells falling within the combined gate in purple.

2.10.5 Presentation of flow cytometry data

Initially gating was performed using flow cytometer data displayed as a dot plot and also as contour plus outliers as shown in Figure 11 (a-b). When high numbers of events were displayed the dot plots became saturated and it was difficult to separate the populations easily (Figure 11a). Contour plus outlier plots preserved the different populations regardless of the numbers of events and this enabled more accurate gating (Figure 11 b). As a result of these tests contour plus outlier plots were used to display data for gating.

2.10.6 Anti-CD3

The inclusion of Anti-CD3 in the staining panel not only provided a means of calculating absolute values of Tregs but also helped by 'cleaning' the dot plot enabling more accurate gating of CD4+ cells as shown in Figure 12 (a-d).

2.10.7 Analysis of flow cytometric data

Data from the flow cytometer hierarchy tables shown in Figure 13 (a) and (b) were used to calculate the number of Tregs present in the sample. The value obtained for the percentage of cells within the isotype combined gate was subtracted from the value obtained within the fully stained sample combined gate. The number of CD4+ cells was given as a percentage of CD3+ cells. White counts or TNC counts were available on all samples tested meaning that absolute Treg numbers could be calculated and either expressed as a value per millilitre for peripheral samples or a total Treg cell count for harvests.



Figure 10: Combined gate for Treg detection. Figure shows gates (a) P2 contour (b) P3 contour and (c) P4 contour. Cells that appear in all three gates are CD3+CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3 positive.



Figure 11: Gating. Figure shows (a) gating using dot plot showing difficulty in separating and therefore gating different cell populations and (b) gating using contours with outliers to identify different cell populations in order to assist gating.



Figure 12: Use of CD3 to assist gating of CD4+ cells. Figure shows (a) forward versus side scatter dot plot gated to exclude debris (b) side scatter versus CD4 on all cells minus debris (c) side scatter versus CD3 with CD3+ cells gated (d) dot plot of CD3+ cells side scatter versus CD4 with CD4+ cells gated.

Population	#Events	%Parent	%Tota
All Events	153,814	####	100.0
P1	101,407	65.9	65.9
L CD3+	14,067	13.9	9.1
CD4+	9,800	69.7	6.
P2 contour	1,428	14.6	0.
P3 contour	151	1.5	0.1
P4 contour	124	1.3	0.
P2 contour AND P3 contour AND P4 contour	5	0.1	0.
NOT(P2 contour AND P3 contour AND P4 contour)	9,795	99.9	6.

Tube: Cocktail + FoxP3 PE			
Population	#Events	%Parent	%Tota
All Events	358,067	####	100.
	255,963	71.5	71.
CD3+	33,022	12.9	9.
CD4+	23,126	70.0	6.
P2 contour	3,411	14.7	1.
P3 contour	3,151	13.6	0.
P4 contour	3,383	14.6	0.
P2 contour AND P3 contour AND P4 contour	2,570	11.1	0.
NOT(P2 contour AND P3 contour AND P4 contour)	20,556	88.9	5.

Figure 13: Data from analysis. Figure shows (a) hierarchy analysis data from cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and PE isotype control and (b) hierarchy analysis data from cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and Anti-FoxP3.

2.10.8 Controls

Unstained controls were originally run for each test on all sample types but no autofluorescence was detected in any of the samples tested (n=10) (data not shown). However, limited sample volumes of surplus material and low white counts post-transplant meant that testing of unstained controls was not practical and therefore was not performed on samples thereafter.

Controls using a BD Pharmingen[™] V450 Mouse IgG1, κ isotype control (BD biosciences) and cells stained with only Anti-CD3 were also initially run for each test sample to detect any non-specific staining, however none was seen (n=10) (data not shown). Based on this data a decision was made to discontinue the use of the V450 isotype control because for many samples there were insufficient cell numbers. Priority was given to ensuring that a control using Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and isotype FoxP3 stained cells was always used in addition to the fully stained test sample.

2.11 Surface marker staining for Tregs – Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 2 (TNFR2)

As the method for FoxP3 intracellular staining requires time to fix and permeabilise the cells, this is not an ideal staining method to be used as a predictive test to be performed on high sample numbers. More importantly, an intracellular marker does not allow for identification, selection and expansion of Tregs in the laboratory for therapeutic use and this has fuelled the search for an ideal surface marker for this purpose. From the range of potential surface markers for Tregs identified in the past few years, one of these was selected for the purposes of this study to be performed in parallel with intracellular FoxP3 staining. The aim was to ascertain if the same population of cells was being identified and if this method might provide a more suitable and less time-consuming method for measurement of Treg numbers.

Chen and co-workers demonstrated that co-expression of TNFR2 (CD120b) and CD25 identified the most suppressive sub-set of Tregs in mice and that these findings could be extrapolated to humans (Chen *et al*, 2010). Their studies revealed that more than 90% of human CD4+ CD25+ TNFR2+ cells were also FoxP3+. TNF working with IL-2 expands Tregs and up-regulates expression of CD25 and FoxP3, resulting in enhanced immunosuppressive function. Invitrogen mouse monoclonal antibody to human TNFR2 conjugated to phycoerythrin (PE) was chosen. Staining with Anti TNFR2 was performed at room temperature in conjunction with BD Horizon[™] V450 Mouse anti-human Anti CD3 (BD Biosciences) and BD Pharmingen[™] Human Regulatory T Cell cocktail (BD Biosciences) comprising FITC Anti-CD4 and (PE-Cy7) Anti-CD25. The cocktail also contained Alexa Fluor [®]Anti-CD127 but was not required for this staining method. The Anti-CD3 and human regulatory T cell cocktail were the same reagents as were used for the FoxP3 staining to eliminate differences in staining with the use of different antibody clones and fluorochromes.

2.11.1 Gating for CD25+TNFR2+ cells

Using an initial forward versus side scatter dot plot of cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and PE isotype control, a gate was applied to all cells excluding debris and dead cells as shown in Figure 14. Gated cells were then displayed on a dot plot and CD3+ cells (lymphocytes) gated as shown in Figure 14(b). Within the lymphocyte gate, using a side scatter versus CD4 plot, the CD4+ cells were gated as shown in Figure 14(d). Sequential gating of CD3+ and CD4+ cells was performed. Using a contour with outliers plot of TNFR2 vs CD25 gating was performed to identify TNFR2^{negative} cells.



Figure 14: Gating to identify CD4+ CD25+ TNFR2+ Tregs. Representative flow cytometry analysis of cells stained with Anti-CD3, Treg cocktail and either PE isotype control or PE anti-TNFR2. (a) Dot plot with gate P1 to exclude dead cells and debris. (b) Dot plot restricted to gate P1. CD3+ cells gated. (c) Dot plot restricted to CD3+ with gate applied to CD4+ cells. (d) Contour with outliers plot of CD25 vs PE isotype control used to set gate position. (e) Contour with outliers plot of CD25 vs TNFR2 with pre-placed gate TNFR2 used to detect CD25+ TNFR2+cells.

12.12 Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 20 software (SPSS Inc, Chicago, II, USA) Summary statistics were used to describe harvest and patient characteristics (mean, median, standard deviation, standard error).

All harvest data was analysed using analysis of variance and Kruskal-Wallis tests. Patient and graft characteristics were compared either using Mann-Whitney U tests (two populations) or Kruskal-Wallis tests (three or more populations) for continuous variables. Peripheral and harvest Tregs were compared using a paired two-tailed t-test and correlation performed using Spearman rank correlation (ρ). All p values were two-tailed and were considered significant at <0.05.

Correlation was performed using Spearman rank correlation. Values of ± 0.5 to 1.0 were considered to show high correlation, values of ± 0.3 to 0.5 were considered to show medium correlation.

Incomplete data sets were inevitable as patients were transferred to other hospitals, returned home to other countries, relapsed or died. Additionally some surplus samples were inadequate in size for testing.

3.0 Results – Mobilisation and harvesting

The effect of HPC mobilisation regimens, pre-harvest peripheral blood counts and day of harvest on CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg numbers in both autologous and allogeneic harvests.

3.1 Introduction

Mobilisation of HPCs in autologous patients and allogeneic donors is a multifactorial process. Various regimens used could potentially affect the levels of Tregs present in the HPC collections from both autologous patients and allogeneic donors. Furthermore, as HPC mobilisation is a dynamic process in terms of CD34 cell production, with variable levels observed across sequential harvest episodes, it is logical to presume that Treg levels may be similarly affected.

Treg occurrence in pre-harvest peripheral blood in autologous patients and allogeneic donors may correlate with levels in the harvested material and thus enable tailoring of harvesting to influence Treg content.

This chapter considers the effect of factors that may affect CD3+CD4+CD25^{high}CD127^{low}FoxP3+ Treg levels in harvested HPCs from autologous patients and allogeneic donors and the influence of these cells in pre-apheresis peripheral blood on collection levels.

Since the mobilisation regimen used to treat autologous donors prior to apheresis has been demonstrated to mobilise different subsets of CD34 cells (Donahue *et al*, 2009) this study set out to determine if Treg numbers are also affected by mobilisation regimen. As the numbers of Tregs in the graft may influence anti-tumour activity following transplant it is important to establish if mobilisation regimen can influence this.

In recent times, RMH and many other transplant centres have introduced the practice of proactively cryopreserving surplus G-CSF mobilised allogeneic material for possible use as donor lymphocyte infusions should they be required. Originally, donor lymphocyte infusions successfully used products from non-mobilised collections. However, the practice of using surplus G-CSF mobilised apheresis HPC (HPC,A) material, may result in donor lymphocyte products which differ in terms of the Treg numbers and in turn may impact on the effectiveness of the donor lymphocyte based treatment.

This study aimed to determine if Treg numbers differ between mobilised and non-mobilised products.

If Treg numbers in the graft are able to influence anti-tumour activity following transplant, it might be beneficial to predict expected Treg numbers in harvests. This study therefore looked at

Treg levels in autologous and allogeneic donor peripheral blood to identify any correlation with Tregs collected in donor harvests.

During the early stages of the study it appeared that Treg numbers might differ between first and second days of harvesting. If anti-tumour activity is influenced by Treg levels in the graft it would be possible to exploit any differences due to day of harvesting by extending or reducing apheresis time on the first day of harvesting. This tailored harvesting is already employed to optimise CD34 collection and therefore could realistically also be used to optimise Treg levels.

3.2 Data expression

3.2.1 Mobilisation regimens for autologous harvests

Treg numbers were compared in autologous apheresis products (n=109) following mobilisation with G-CSF (n=11), G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide (n=82), and G-CSF plus Plerixafor (n=16).

3.2.2 Donor lymphocytes

Treg levels were measured in non-mobilised harvests (n=13) and compared with G-CSF mobilised sibling and unrelated allogeneic harvests (n= 59). In addition to Tregs/ml, Tregs as a percentage of harvested CD4+ cells and theTreg:CD3+ cell ratio in harvests was examined.

3.2.3 Pre-harvest

Treg numbers in the peripheral blood samples of 45 autologous and 11 allogeneic donors, taken prior to apheresis for assessment of CD34, were compared with Treg numbers in the associated harvests.

3.2.4 Day of harvest

The study analysed autologous harvests collected on a single day (n=79) with those collected over two (n=28) or three (n=2) consecutive days.

3.2.5 Autologous, allogeneic and DL harvests

Tregs measured by flow cytometry were expressed as Tregs x10⁶ml, Tregs as a ratio of CD34+ or CD3+ cells and Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells. These measures of Tregs were chosen for both autologous and allogeneic harvests to allow meaningful comparisons.

Measuring Tregs/ml enables a direct comparison of the Treg levels in autologous and allogeneic harvests regardless of the volume of product harvested. This is important as RMH does not run apheresis collections for standard times so collection volumes vary.

Examining Tregs as a proportion of CD4+ cells in autologous, allogeneic and DL harvests shows if mobilisation regimens cause a skewed increase or decrease in this subset. Analysis of the data using the Treg: CD34 ratio in autologous and allogeneic harvests shows the relative proportions of Tregs that the patient will receive in their transplant. The amount of product transplanted into the patient is based on the CD34 dose/kg with a minimum dose being 1.5x10⁶/kg. Thus the Treg: CD34 ratio indicates the number of Tregs relative to the dose of CD34+ cells. Similarly in DL harvests the Treg: CD3 ratio can be used to indicate the relative Treg levels in DLI where the calculated dose is based on CD3+ cells/kg.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Effect of mobilisation regimens on Treg levels

No significant differences were observed between numbers of Tregs/ml in autologous harvests mobilised by G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide (0.28×10^6 /ml ± 0.03) compared with G-CSF alone (0.18×10^6 /ml ± 0.05) (p=0.234) or G-CSF plus Plerixafor (0.42×10^6 /ml ± 0.09) (p=0.148). Furthermore, comparison of harvests mobilised by G-CSF plus Plerixafor with those mobilised with G-CSF as a single agent, was not significant in this series (p=0.068) although consistently higher levels of Tregs were observed with the combined regimen (Figure 15(a)).

No significant difference was noted between the Treg: CD34+ cell ratio for autologous harvests mobilised with G-CSF alone (0.35±0.11) and G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide (0.28±0.05) (p=0.686) or G-CSF plus Plerixafor (0.66±0.15) (p=0.152). However, harvests mobilised with G-CSF + Plerixafor showed a significantly higher Treg: CD34+ cell ratio than those mobilised with G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide (p=0.002) (Figure 15(b)).

When Treg levels were expressed as a percentage of CD4+ cells (Figure 15(c)) no significant difference was apparent between autologous harvests mobilised with G-CSF alone (1.24 \pm 0.31) and either G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide (1.58 \pm 0.14) or G-CSF plus Plerixafor (2.03 \pm 0.38), (p=0.446 and p=0.138 respectively). There was also no significant difference between harvests mobilised by G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide and G-CSF plus Plerixafor (p=0.235).

3.3.2 Comparison of Treg levels present in G-CSF mobilised and non-mobilised allogeneic harvests

Products for use as DL, whether derived from conventional non-mobilised allogeneic DL collections or from surplus G-CSF mobilised donations were compared. Mobilised harvests included sibling (n=20) and unrelated (n=39) donors. Non-mobilised harvests included sibling (n=10) and unrelated (n=3) donors. No significant difference was observed (Figure 16(a)) between Tregs $x10^6$ /ml in allogeneic harvests mobilised with G-CSF (0.43 $x10^6$ /ml ±0.09) and non-mobilised allogeneic harvests (0.61 $x10^6$ /ml ±0.15) (p=0.162). Expressing data as Tregs: CD3+ cells ratio highlighted a significant difference between numbers of Tregs in mobilised (0.006 ±0.0009) and non-mobilised (0.131 ±0.003) harvests (p=0.022) (Figure 16(b)). Treg precentages of CD4+ cells in DL harvests collected after no mobilisation agent (2.21±0.43) and those collected after mobilisation with G-CSF (1.24 ±0.15) verged on significance (p=0.058) (Figure 16(c)).

3.3.3 Treg levels in autologous and allogeneic donor pre-harvest peripheral blood samples and associated harvests

Treg levels in the peripheral blood of autologous patients measured prior to apheresis showed no correlation with Treg levels collected in the harvests from those patients (Spearman rank correlation (ρ) = -0.090, p=0.558) (Figure 17(a)). Likewise, peripheral blood Treg levels in allogeneic patients also showed no relationship to harvested Treg levels (ρ = 0.144, p=0.569) (Figure 17 (b)). Harvested cells contain 10-20% higher concentrations of Tregs than peripheral blood since only the mononuclear cell layer is collected during apheresis.

3.3.4 Treg levels in harvests by day of collection

The levels of Tregs (cells $x10^6$ /ml) in autologous harvests were not found to differ significantly across sequential days (day 1 and 2) of harvesting (0.31 $x10^6$ /ml±0.03 and 0.25 $x10^6$ /ml±0.05 respectively) (p=0.178). As insufficient data points for the third day of harvesting were collected this data was not included in the analysis (Figure 18(a)). The data also showed no significant differences between levels of Tregs harvested on days 1 and 2 when analysed by mobilisation regimen (Figure 18(b)), G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide (p=0.473), G-CSF plus Plerixafor (p=0.545) and G-CSF (p=0.538).



Figure 15: The influence of mobilisation regime on Tregs in autologous harvests: (a) Treg levels $x10^6$ /ml (b) Treg:CD34 ratio (c) Treg as a percentage of CD4 cells. Samples of autologous harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively. Mobilisation regimens: G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide (n=82), G-CSF (n=11) and G-CSF plus Plerixafor (n=16).



Figure 16: Levels of Tregs in mobilised and non-mobilised allogeneic harvests: (a) Treg levels x10⁶/ml (b) Treg:CD34 ratio (c) Treg as a percentage of CD4 cells. Samples of autologous harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively. Harvests were mobilised with G-CSF (n=59) compared with harvests where no mobilising agent was used (n=13).



Figure 17: Scatter plots to show relationship between Treg levels in peripheral blood and associated harvests: (a) Autologous donor peripheral blood and harvests (b) Allogeneic donor peipheral blood and harvests. Samples of peripheral blood and harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry.



Figure 18: Levels of Tregs in harvests collected on sequential days of apheresis: (a) Tregs $x10^6$ /ml by days 1-3 of harvesting. (b) Tregs $x10^6$ /ml by mobilisation regimen across days 1-3 of harvesting. Samples of autologous harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively. Tregs were measured in harvests collected on day 1 (n=79): G-CSF + cyclophosphamide (n=58), G-CSF + Plerixafor (n=13) and G-CSF (n=8), day 2 (n=28): G-CSF + cyclophosphamide (n=22), G-CSF + Plerixafor (n=3) and G-CSF (n=3) and day 3 (n=2): G-CSF + cyclophosphamide (n=2).

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Mobilisation regimen

The composition of PBSC grafts used for transplants is accepted as being important in terms of CD34+ cell dose, but Treg numbers may also have an effect on the success of the transplant with higher levels of Tregs inhibiting desirable anti-tumour responses in both autologous and allogeneic patients. In allogeneic recipients Treg numbers infused in the graft may also be expected to have a protective effect on the occurrence and severity of GVHD. Any potential relationship between conventional mobilisation and Treg levels is therefore of clinical interest. The introduction of the novel mobilisation agent Plerixafor has enabled mobilisation of functional CD34+ cells into the peripheral blood where other mobilisation regimens have failed in a significant number of cases (Lemoli and D'Addio, 2008, DiPersio *et al*, 2009). However, only a few studies have reported the effect of Plerixafor on the mobilisation of Tregs (Devine *et al*, 2008, Gaugler *et al*, 2013). Because of the considerable variation in the use of Plerixafor, in particular the timing of administration between centres, it is particularly important to study the effect of this agent and other more typical regimens in individual centres on a typical patient cohort.

Results from this study showed no significant differences between the absolute levels of Tregs (x10⁶/ml) in G-CSF and G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide mobilised harvests (Figure 15(a)). Harvests mobilised with G-CSF plus Plerixafor showed no significant difference in Treg levels to those mobilised by GCSF alone although a small increase was noted (p=0.068) (Figure 15). These findings agree with data published by Kean and colleagues who found in simian models that increased numbers of Tregs were mobilised and harvested with both Plerixafor alone and after G-CSF plus Plerixafor (Kean *et al*, 2011). These small scale studies on the peripheral blood of macaque monkeys demonstrated a significant increase in Tregs at two and four hours after administration of Plerixafor, but the increase lacked significance after six hours and no further time points were tested. However, as only three monkeys were studied in each mobilisation group these results may not be representative. RMH apheresis is initiated 16 hours post administration of Plerixafor, so the results obtained suggest that increased Treg levels may be maintained in the peripheral blood for somewhat longer than noted by Kean. Higher Treg frequency was also observed by Kao and colleagues in harvests mobilised by G-CSF and Plerixafor compared with G-CSF and cyclophosphamide (Kao *et al*, 2010).

The lack of significance in the RMH data may be due to the time interval between the administration of Plerixafor and start of harvesting which has been adopted at RMH due to logistical and financial constraints. However, the local timing may benefit patients as a

76

consequence of lower Treg levels in the product than might be harvested with a shorter interval between Plerixafor administration and collection. This is speculation however as there are no comparative studies which considered different time frames and Treg yield.

Previous studies examining subsets of harvested cells have shown a significant increase in mobilisation of B and T lymphocytes into peripheral blood with Plerixafor alone (DiPersio et al, 2009, Tanhehco et al, 2010). For this reason, Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells were considered in this study but no significant differences between mobilisation regimens were apparent (Figure 15). This finding suggests that although the number of CD4+ cells is typically increased after treatment with Plerixafor, there is no skewing of mobilisation of the Treg population. Interestingly however, G-CSF plus Plerixafor resulted in significant increases in the Treg: CD34+ cell ratios as shown in Figure 15. This infers that patients receiving G-CSF plus Plerixafor mobilised grafts will generally receive higher absolute numbers of Tregs than those receiving G-CSF or G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide mobilised harvests as most patients receive similar CD34+ cell doses. Increased numbers of nucleated cells collected in G-CSF plus Plerixafor mobilised harvests have been described by a number of researchers (Varmavuo et al, 2012, DiPersio et al, 2009, Kean et al, 2011) and have been observed frequently in RMH practice. Besides mobilising different CD34+ cell subsets, Kean and colleagues showed that Plerixafor mobilised significantly more T and B lymphocytes into the peripheral blood than G-CSF alone including an increase in both effector T cells and Tregs (Kean et al, 2011, Kao et al, 2010).

The higher Treg levels observed in this study with Plerixafor plus G-CSF compared to other mobilisation regimens may be attributable to significantly higher number of T lymphocytes mobilised with this regimen. As Tregs provide a protective mechanism against GVHD these findings may have important implications for use of Plerixafor in allogeneic (HPC) transplantation if its use is extended to this population.

The criterion for use of Plerixafor at RMH is failure of at least one prior mobilisation attempt. Patients who are most likely to fail G-CSF or G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide mobilisation are those who have bone marrow involvement or progressive disease, have received a high number of chemotherapy cycles or radiotherapy, and are over 60 years of age. It is interesting to speculate if these groups of patients might have higher baseline levels of Tregs than patients who mobilise after G-CSF alone or G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide and if it is this, rather than the Plerixafor that results in the higher Treg levels seen in Plerixafor mobilised harvests . Increased Tregs levels have been demonstrated in patients with active malignancies. Suppression of antitumour immune responses by higher levels of Tregs would in turn necessitate higher numbers of cycles of chemotherapy to control resistant disease. Additionally Treg levels have been reported to increase with age (Lages *et al*, 2008). It is interesting to note that the addition of cyclophosphamide to G-CSF in the mobilisation regimen did not significantly affect Treg numbers as shown in Figure 15. Following treatment of patients with cyclophosphamide, T cell numbers are notably reduced and this is followed by rapid T cell repopulation with stem cell collection taking place during the recovery phase following chemotherapy. Cyclophosphamide has been shown to decrease Treg numbers and also to reduce their suppressive function (Heylmann *et al*, 2013, Lutsiak *et al*, 2005). Lutsiak and colleagues observed that following treatment of mice with cyclophosphamide, Treg numbers and function decreased but then both levels and function returned 10 days following treatment (Lutsiak *et al*, 2005). In patients mobilised with G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide, apheresis usually takes place after a minimum of 10 days following cyclophosphamide which may explain why no decrease in Treg numbers is observed at that time point.

3.4.2 Treg levels in G-CSF mobilised and non-mobilised allogeneic HPC harvests

In allogeneic donors CD34+ cells are mobilised using G-CSF alone. If DL are required to treat cases of relapse or falling donor chimerism following allogeneic transplantation it is standard practice to re-harvest non-mobilised donor lymphocytes (DL) from the original sibling or unrelated donors. Re-calling donors for non-mobilised harvests following the initial donation may not be possible due to their lack of eligibility, for example they may have developed a medical complication that precludes further donation. They may be unwilling or unavailable to donate again. Furthermore, donor recall can have high cost implications and may involve considerable delays. In order to avoid these donor recall problems it has become accepted practice at RMH to proactively cryopreserve and store surplus G-CSF mobilised allogeneic HPC products for possible use as donor lymphocyte infusions (DLI) should this be required posttransplant. In this instance, levels of DL infused are based on the CD3 count of the original harvest. It is important to determine if Treg levels vary between G-CSF mobilised and nonmobilised products as this could affect the efficacy of the product and have clinical implications. Maury and colleagues (2010) successfully used depletion of CD4+CD25+ cells in the DL product prior to DL infusion in an attempt to improve alloreactivity and anti-tumour immune responses. After depletion of CD4+CD25+ cells from the DL products they were able to induce GVHD in two patients who had previously failed to respond to DLI therapy. Maury's team went on to treat a further four patients with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide to not only deplete donor Tregs from the recipient's circulation, but also to induce lymphopoenia to drive the homeostatic expansion and activation of the infused T cells in the DLI. In a study by Hicheri and colleagues they compared Tregs in DL products and observed that the patients who remained in a durable remission following DLI therapy had received products containing lower percentages of Tregs in total lymphocytes (Hicheri et al, 2008). The current study therefore aimed to establish if lower

Tregs were collected in mobilised or non-mobilised products so that clinical decisions could be made as to which product would be likely to result in optimal GVM.

When Treg levels were examined as Tregs/ml in the collected product, the Treg levels were not significantly different between mobilised and non-mobilised DLI (Figure 16(a)). However, when expressed as a percentage of CD4+ cells, Tregs in the mobilised harvests were lower than in non-mobilised harvests although this only verged on significance, indicating that other T cell subsets apart from Tregs are preferentially mobilised by G-CSF (Figure 16(c)).

Because DLI doses are calculated on the number of CD3+ cells infused, the Treg:CD3+ cell ratio was considered and compared between mobilised and non-mobilised harvests (Figure 16(b). This demonstrated a significant difference between products, with mobilised harvests exhibiting the lowest ratios. It has been reported that the relative proportions of Tregs and conventional T cells in the peripheral blood can determine immunologic activity after myeloablative transplant (Dieckmann *et al,* 2001), with a diminished ratio of Tregs to conventional T cells resulting in higher levels of GVHD post-transplant. Expressing the Treg levels in this way may relate to the potential immunosuppressive effect of the Tregs in the DL harvest. It might therefore be expected that a lower Treg: CD3+ cell ratio in DLI might result in a more potent GVM effect.

The purpose of DLI therapy in patients with falling donor chimerism or relapse is to initiate a GVM response which is typically accompanied by GVHD. Evidence of GVHD is often seen as a positive indication that the GVM process is underway with the best scenario being the achievement of anti tumour effect with tolerable GVHD. The fact that significantly lower Treg:CD3 ratio levels were observed in the pre-emptively stored surplus harvest material from donors following G-CSF mobilisation, is reassuring as it may be inferred that the lower concentrations in the graft will not diminish the desirable GVM effect mediated by effector subsets. This finding will inform future clinical decisions concerning the use of mobilised harvests to provide DL products.

3.4.3 The effect of Treg levels in patient or donor pre-harvest peripheral blood on numbers in HPC harvests

Apart from mobilisation regimen, another factor which could affect the levels of Tregs in the graft could be numbers in the peripheral blood of patients or donors prior to apheresis.

As pre-apheresis CD34 counts can used to predict the number of CD34+ cells that may be harvested (Auer *et al,* 1998, Lane *et al,* 2004) this study set out to determine if peripheral Treg counts could be used to predict the levels of Tregs that would occur in harvests. In the autologous setting, peripheral blood Treg levels measured after mobilisation and prior to apheresis showed no correlation with levels collected in harvests (Figure 17(a)). Tregs in the healthy donors of allogeneic harvests appeared to show a weak association between peripheral pre-apheresis and harvested Tregs (Figure 17(b)). This lack of strong correlation is unexpected since T cells, including Tregs, are found in the mononuclear cell layer harvested during apheresis together with CD34+ cells. It would be expected that peripheral blood levels would therefore be linked to numbers collected in the same way as CD34+ cells.

CD34+ cells are released from reservoirs such as the bone marrow over the duration of the apheresis procedure enabling high volume apheresis with no resulting loss in the rate at which these cells are collected. At RMH extended apheresis run-times are often used to reduce the number of apheresis sessions for individual patients and donors. Although studies have demonstrated a linear correlation between CD3+ cell numbers collected and total blood volumes processed, these studies have focused on the apheresis collection of donor lymphocytes which are typically much shorter procedures (Sato *et al*, 2001). The mean apheresis run time in Sato's study of donor lymphocyte collections was 107 minutes whereas CD34 collection apheresis run-times at RMH rarely fall below 200 minutes. The same study observed that all donors showed cytoreduction in peripheral blood samples taken after the apheresis collection, with lymphocytes and platelets showing the most marked decrease of around 30% of the pre-apheresis value. This is in contrast to only a modest decline in the number of CD34+ cells in the peripheral blood following apheresis noted by Rowley and colleagues during studies on large volume apheresis collections of CD34+ cells (Rowley *et al*, 2001).

This higher lymphocyte than CD34+ cell reduction noted during and following apheresis may therefore explain the lack of relationship between pre-apheresis peripheral blood Treg values and levels collected during apheresis. There does not appear to be the same level of recruitment of CD3+ cells during apheresis as CD34+ cells and it is possible that the linear correlation between CD3+ cells collected and total blood volumes processed may not be maintained during the longer apheresis run times employed at RMH.

Since the efficiency of CD34+ cell apheresis collections can be affected by factors such as the peripheral white cell count and venous access (Verlinden *et al*, 2013) it is logical to suppose that Treg collection efficiency is also affected by other factors. Based on this data, pre-apheresis peripheral blood Treg levels cannot therefore be used to accurately predict the numbers of Tregs that would be collected. Additionally, from a practical point of view, the time required to stain and analyse Treg numbers using flow cytometry would not be a realistic proposition immediately before harvesting.

3.4.4 Treg levels in autologous and allogeneic harvests and day of collection

The time taken to achieve optimal CD34+ cell levels in the peripheral blood following administration of mobilisation regimens is based on wide-scale studies and experience within individual centres. As a regimen-induced increase in Tregs may not occur concurrently with CD34+ cells and patients and donors frequently require two and very occasionally three consecutive days of harvesting to obtain sufficient CD34+ cells, this study compared Treg levels in the harvest on different collection days.

Overall, no significant difference in Tregs was observed between harvests collected on the first and on the second day of harvesting as demonstrated in Figure 18(a). There were inadequate numbers of third day harvests for analysis but, in the two day 3 harvests tested, a small increase in Tregs was noted and this may be an area worthy of further testing. Reassuringly, the practice of extending apheresis run times to reduce the number of harvesting episodes required by patients at RMH results in very few three day collections (Wells and Smith, 2011).

Different mobilisation regimens also had no effect on the numbers of Tregs collected over different harvest days as demonstrated in Figure 18(b). In harvests mobilised by G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide it might be expected that higher Treg levels would be associated with second and third day harvests as Treg levels recover following cyclophosphamide as discussed in 3.4.1.

4.0 Results – Graft Tregs

The effect of infused graft Treg levels on clinical outcome and immune reconstitution in autologous and allogeneic patients post-transplant

4.1 Introduction

This study has noted significantly higher Treg:CD34+ cell ratios in harvests collected after mobilisation with G-CSF plus Plerixafor than in those collected following either G-CSF alone or G-CSF plus cyclophosphamide mobilisation. Patients receiving autologous transplants using harvests mobilised with G-CSF plus Plerixafor will therefore generally receive higher absolute levels of Tregs since most patients receive similar doses of CD34+ cells. It is important to assess the clinical implication of this finding in terms of disease relapse as Tregs have been reported to impair anti-tumour activity.

In allogeneic transplant recipients the Treg numbers in the graft may not only impair antitumour activity but may also suppress GVHD (Beres and Drobyski, 2013, Fowler, 2006, Turka and Li, 2010), therefore it is important to establish if there is an association between clinical scenarios post-transplant and Treg levels in the graft or peripheral Treg levels during immune reconstitution following transplant.

The majority of the studies examining the role of Tregs in suppressing GVM have taken place in the allogeneic setting. This study used the theories applied to the allogeneic model and tested them in the autologous setting. As GVHD and GVM appear to share some of the same immune mechanisms it is likely that higher levels of Tregs in allogeneic grafts leading to a reported decrease in the incidence of GVHD (Rezvani *et al*, 2006, Pastore *et al*, 2011, Pabst *et al*, 2007) may also lead to a decrease in anti-tumour activity. Extrapolating from this, a high number of Tregs in the grafts of autologous patients may lead to a loss of anti-tumour activity resulting in earlier disease relapse.

This study therefore incorporated an examination of Treg levels in autologous patient grafts to ascertain any relationship between levels and clinical outcome. In this patient group, outcome was measured by clinical assessment of disease status.

A number of studies have suggested that infused Tregs may provide a protective effect against T cell mediated GVHD (Wolf *et al,* 2007, Rezvani *et al,* 2006). However, because of the wide variation in donor mobilisation protocols, transplant procedures, patient cohorts and methods of Treg characterisation and enumeration in the various study groups, the results to date are difficult to interpret. This study aimed to examine Treg levels in RMH normal donor grafts for

allogeneic patients and ascertain any relationship between these levels and clinical outcome. The majority of studies to date have focussed mainly on full intensity transplants so this study examined both full intensity and RIC transplant grafts to reflect the practice at RMH. Separate analysis of the data obtained for full intensity transplant grafts was performed to determine if the results from this study concurred with those from previous studies, albeit on different cohorts of patients (Wolf *et al*, 2003, Pastore *et al*, 2011, Pabst *et al*, 2007).

Because GVHD is triggered by alloreactive donor T cells depletion of these cells from allogeneic transplant grafts can be used to reduce the incidence of GVHD, although it can result in graft failure, prolonged immunosuppression and relapse. Pastore and colleagues (2011) demonstrated that the important factor in development of GVHD is the relative proportions of Tregs and CD3 T cells in donor graft with higher proportions of Tregs appearing to suppress GVHD-inducing CD3 T cells. (Pastore *et al*, 2011). As Pastore's study included only full intensity conditioned patients this study examined CD3:Treg ratios in both full intensity and RIC transplants to determine if the relative proportions of Tregs and CD3+ cells influenced GVHD in these settings.

In addition to examining any correlation between Tregs in the graft on incidence and severity of GVHD, it is important to also consider the concurrent effect of CD34+ cell numbers infused. A number of studies have demonstrated an association between CD34 cells numbers and incidence of chronic GVHD (Mielcarek *et al*, 2002, Mohty *et al*, 2003, Zaucha *et al*, 2001) but other centres have not observed the same results (Gómez-Almaguer *et al*, 2013, Kałwak *et al*, 2010). In RMH's experience, increasing the CD34+ cell dose above a threshold of 2x10⁶/kg does not speed haematopoietic recovery, a finding which has been documented by other centres (Perez-Simon *et al*, 2003) therefore it is important to ascertain if higher CD34 doses could be detrimental in terms of increased incidence and severity of GVHD.

4.2 Data expression

4.2.1 Data expression in autologous patients

In this study, Treg numbers in autologous grafts of patients who suffered disease progression or relapse during the first year post-transplant (n=17) were compared with levels in grafts of those who achieved and sustained complete remission (n=65).

Tregs in autologous harvests measured by flow cytometry were expressed as Tregs x10⁶/kg. Using a weight normalised dose enables a more accurate comparison of the Treg doses received by different patients. Because of the significant differences noted with different mobilisation regimens, analysis of the data using a Treg:CD34 ratio was employed to show the relative proportions of Tregs that the patient receives in their transplant. The amount of product transplanted into the patient is based on the CD34 dose/kg with a minimum dose being 1.5×10^6 /kg. Thus the Treg:CD34 ratio indicates the number of Tregs relative to the dose of CD34+ cells.

4.2.2 Data expression in allogeneic transplant recipients

In addition to exploring the association between Tregs in the graft and GVHD, the relationship between the number of Tregs infused in the graft and clinical outcome in terms of disease relapse during the first year post-transplant was considered. In the allogeneic recipients in this study (n=53) the clinical outcome was measured not only by GVHD assessment and disease remission/relapse but additionally by donor chimerism as a low or falling donor chimerism can be indicative of graft failure or disease relapse. Specific lineage chimerism testing shows percentages of donor and recipient-derived T cells in the bone marrow and peripheral blood post-transplant at three months (n=64), six months (n=31) and one year (n=22). GVHD assessment was performed by clinicians using the Glucksberg criteria. No GVHD (n=20) and GVHD grades 1 - 4, (n=8, n=17, n=7, and n=1 respectively). Spearman rank correlation between graft Tregs and chimerism was performed.

Tregs in allogeneic harvests measured by flow cytometry were expressed as Tregs x10⁶/kg and Treg:CD3 ratio. Data was examined for all conditioning regimens and separately for full intensity conditioning. The latter was performed in order to make a better comparison between findings at RMH and the data published from other centres which mainly focus on full intensity conditioned transplants.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 The impact of graft Treg numbers on clinical outcome in autologous patients

No significant difference was noted between Treg levels $(x10^{6}/kg)$ in the grafts of autologous patients who showed no signs of relapse compared with those exhibiting disease progression or relapse during the first year post-transplant, 0.64 $x10^{6}/kg\pm0.094$ and 0.48 $x10^{6}/kg\pm0.084$ respectively (p=0.893) (Figure 19(a)).

When Tregs were expressed as a ratio of Tregs:CD34+ cells in the graft (Figure 19(b)) there was no significant difference noted between patients who relapsed during the first year following autologous transplant and those in remission 0.363 ± 0.103 and 0.353 ± 0.052 respectively (p=0.693).

4.3.1 The impact of graft Tregs on incidence and severity of GVHD following allogeneic transplant

Mean Treg levels measured in the donor harvests for allogeneic patients and expressed as Tregs x10^6/kg showed a consistent inverse relationship with GVHD severity during the first year following transplant. Lower Treg levels were associated with higher incidence and severity of GVHD although this difference did not reach statistical significance in numbers studied (Figure 20(a)). Mean Treg levels in the grafts of patients who did not develop GVHD during the first year were 1.86 x10⁶/kg compared with those who developed GVHD grade 1 (1.84 x10⁶/kg), grade 2 (1.18 x10⁶/kg), grade 3 (0.99 x10⁶/kg) and grade 4 (0.42 x10⁶/kg). These data were not significantly different for the grade groupings as follows: Grades 0-1 (p=0.982), Grades 0-2 (p=0.383) and Grades 0-3 (p=0.296). Insufficient data was available for comparisons with severe GVHD grade 4.

Analysing the data from grafts of patients receiving full intensity transplants separately (Figure 20(b)) did not demonstrate a significant association between Treg levels in grafts and the incidence or severity of GVHD. The mean graft Treg levels of patients who developed no or mild GVHD was $1.16x10^6$ /kg compared with the mean of $0.75x10^6$ /kg in those who developed GVHD grades 2-3. This difference was not statistically significant (p=0.615).

When examining the relative proportions of Tregs and CD3 cells (Figure 20(c)), there was no significant difference noted between CD3:Treg ratios and the incidence or severity of GVHD (p=0.612).

4.3.2 The impact of CD34 HPC doses in the graft on the incidence and severity of GVHD

Examining Treg and CD34+ cell numbers in allogeneic grafts expressed as weight normalised units and the incidence and severity of GVHD during the first year post-transplant (Figures 21(a) and (b)) showed a significant correlation between the CD34 content of the graft and GVHD (p= 0.042). There was no significant correlation for Tregs infused in the graft (p=0.738).

4.3.3 The impact of graft Tregs on chimerism status post allogeneic transplant

Specific lineage chimerism testing shows percentages of donor and recipient-derived T cells in the bone marrow and peripheral blood post-transplant. Treg levels in the graft were compared against percentage donor T cell chimerism in the peripheral blood of patients at three months, six months and one year post-transplant (Figures 22 (a), (b) and (c) respectively). No significant correlation was demonstrated at any of the three time points (p=0.908, p=0.397, p=0.777 respectively).

4.3.4 The effect of graft Tregs on clinical outcome in patients following allogeneic transplant

Treg/kg levels in allogeneic grafts received by patients who subsequently relapsed one year post-allogeneic transplant (mean = 0.77×10^6 /kg ±0.20) were compared with Treg/kg levels in the grafts of those patients who experienced no detectable disease relapse (1.40×10^6 /kg ±0.31) (Figure 23). There was no significant association between Treg levels infused in the allogeneic graft and disease relapse one year following transplant. (p=0.112).



Figure 19: Levels of Tregs in autologous grafts compared with clinical outcome. (a)Tregs x10⁶/kg (b) Treg:CD34+ cell ratio. Samples of autologous harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively. Autologous grafts were compared in patients with disease relapse or progression (n=17) and in patients showing no disease relapse or progression (n=65) during the first year post-transplant.



Figure 20: Treg levels in the grafts of allogeneic transplant recipients and severity of GVHD noted during the first year post-transplant. (a) Graft Treg levels x10⁶/kg and GVHD grading following all conditioning regimens (b) Graft Treg levels x10⁶/kg and GVHD grading following full intensity conditioning only (n=12) (c) Graft CD3: Treg ratios and GVHD following all conditioning regimens. Samples of allogeneic harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively. Patients suffered no GVHD (n=20) and GVHD grades 1 - 4, (n=8, n=17, n=7, and n=1 respectively). GVHD grading is the highest grade recorded during the course of the first year post-transplant.



Figure 21: Graft Treg and CD34 levels compared with GVHD grading. (a) Scatter plot of Treg $x10^{6}$ /kg and CD34 $x10^{6}$ /kg doses of allogeneic grafts (n=53) in association with GVHD grading experienced during the first year post-transplant (b) Mean Treg $x10^{6}$ /kg and CD34 $x10^{6}$ /kg doses in allogeneic grafts (n=53) by maximum GVHD grading experienced during the first year post-transplant. Samples of allogeneic harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry.



Figure 22: Comparison of Tregs in the graft and percentage donor T cell chimerism.

(a) Chimerism testing at three months (b) Six months and (c) One year post-transplant Samples of allogeneic harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Chimerism status determined by polymorphic short-tandem repeat analysis on samples taken at 3 months (n=64), six months (n=31) and one year post-transplant (n=22).



Figure 23: Levels of Tregs in allogeneic grafts and disease status. Levels of Tregs $x10^6$ /kg in the graft are shown for patients with disease relapse or progression (n=12) and for those showing no disease relapse or progression (n=51) during the first year post-transplant. Samples of allogeneic harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 The effect of graft Treg levels on clinical outcome in autologous patients

A number of studies have shown that Treg levels in grafts may not necessarily influence the extent of GVM in allogeneic transplants (Rezvani *et al,* 2006, Wolf *et al,* 2003, Pastore *et al,* 2011) but no data is available on the potential effect of Treg levels in unmanipulated autologous grafts on clinical outcome. It is important to examine this data as autologous transplantation results in different immunological dynamics to those prevalent in allogeneic transplantation. Tissue destruction and attendant immunological responses is a feature of conditioning chemotherapy in both allogeneic and autologous patients but the lack of donor cell influence in the latter group may affect clinical outcome.

As autologous transplantation is a more widely used therapeutic modality, it is important to establish whether Tregs have a negative impact on transplant success. Data from the cohort studied however, did not demonstrate any correlation between Treg levels in the graft expressed as either Tregsx10⁶/kg or Treg:CD34+ cell ratios and outcome during the first year post-transplant. This is a reassuring finding as this study has demonstrated a significant increase in Treg:CD34+ levels in autologous harvests mobilised by G-CSF plus Plerixafor. It can therefore be inferred that this increase does not lead to a poorer outcome within the first year post-transplant. The study did not address relapse or disease progression occurring after this time period therefore it may be possible that graft Treg numbers could influence longer-term disease outcome. This result cannot be taken in isolation however, as the immune composition of harvests and factors affecting engraftment are complex. Any reduction in the effectiveness of treatment with Plerixafor mobilised harvests may be insignificant but as this is a relatively new agent, continued monitoring of overall survival in patients is indicated.

4.4.2 The impact of graft Tregs on incidence and severity of GVHD

Mature T cells in the donor graft can cause GVHD which remains a significant clinical complication of allogeneic transplantation. As Tregs are believed to maintain tolerance and inhibit GVHD it could be expected that patients receiving allogeneic transplants containing higher Treg numbers would experience less severe or no GVHD. In this cohort, patients with the highest levels of GVHD occurring within the first year post-transplant were noted to have received transplants with lower mean Treg values expressed as Tregs x10⁶/kg, although the differences were not statistically significant with the numbers tested.

The majority of studies examining Tregs in the grafts of allogeneic transplant patients considered patients who received full intensity conditioning. The data from Pastore, Rezvani, Noel and Pabst related to patients who received full intensity allogeneic transplants (Wolf *et al*,

2007, Rezvani *et al,* 2006, Noël *et al,* 2008, Pastore *et al,* 2011). All but Noel's study demonstrated a correlation between GVHD incidence and severity and Treg levels in the graft. At RMH and many other centres, current practice involves treating the majority of patients with RIC transplants, thus this study considered the grafts of both full and RIC transplant recipients. Data was collated from RIC (n=41) and full intensity (n= 12) transplants which is representative of the relative proportions of each type of transplant performed in this and other centres. Analysis of only the RMH patients who received full intensity treatment showed no statistically significant link between Treg/kg levels in grafts and GVHD onset or severity during the first year post-transplant. However, the low numbers of patients in this group (n=12) make meaningful analysis and comparisons with data from other studies difficult.

Mielke and colleagues performed one of the few studies on patients receiving RIC transplants and observed that moderate to severe GVHD was more often seen in patients whose donors had lower levels of circulating peripheral Tregs prior to mobilisation (Mielke *et al*, 2007). However, the same study showed no relationship between Tregs in the graft or in the peripheral blood of the recipient during engraftment. It should be noted that all the grafts in Mielke's study were T-depleted *ex vivo*, unlike the grafts at RMH and the majority of centres where no manipulation takes place. Noel and colleagues also found no correlation between Treg numbers in the grafts of patients receiving RIC transplants and acute GVHD (Noël *et al*, 2008). Interestingly in the study by Wolf and colleagues, the association between grafts containing higher FoxP3 Tregs and lower cumulative incidence of GVHD was lost when the cohort was stratified based on intensity of conditioning (Wolf *et al*, 2003).

In murine and human studies it has been demonstrated that recipient Tregs are able to survive TBI conditioning and that peripheral donor Treg expansion occurs within a week of conditioning and transplant before any possible de-novo production of recipient Tregs (Matsuoka *et al*, 2010, Bayer *et al*, 2009). This expansion of recipient Tregs apparently takes place before donor-derived thymic Tregs emerge two to three weeks following transplant. Both host and donor Tregs expand following transplant, though the mechanism for this proliferation which outstrips both conventional T and B cells is not yet fully understood, but appears to be a result of CD4 lymphopoenia. Treg homeostasis differs from that of conventional T cells resulting in the skew towards higher numbers of Tregs early post-transplant. The population of host Tregs which exhibit greatest survival post conditioning are the memory Tregs (mTregs). However, following rapid expansion post-transplant, these cells undergo exhaustion (Matsuoka *et al*, 2010, Bayer *et al*, 2009). As host Treg proliferation decreases, donor-derived Treg expansion increases, initially peripherally expanded donor mTregs followed later by thymic derived de-novo generated Tregs. Thus, after about two months post-transplant the Tregs are predominantly donor, possibly as a result of competition between donor and residual host Tregs for space within the niche.

In patients receiving full intensity transplants there is rapid activation of GVHD-inducing T cell clones after conditioning, leading to early manifestation of GVHD which may in turn be controlled by relatively high Treg numbers infused. In patients receiving RIC transplants, GVHD is usually seen at later time points, so Treg levels in the graft may be of less relevance than Treg and effector T cell levels in the patient at the time when GVHD is developing. This difference in timing of onset of GVHD between full intensity and RIC transplants may explain the lack of correlation between Treg levels in grafts and GVHD incidence in the RIC transplant patients studied.

Although a number of studies have focussed on Treg levels there is increasing evidence that the absolute Treg numbers are less important than the balance between the numbers of circulating Tregs and effector T cells (Matthews *et al*, 2009, Rieger *et al*, 2006, Fujioka *et al*, 2013). Donor Tregs infused as part of the graft undergo expansion during the immediate period post-transplant and can exert a suppressive effect on donor effector T cells which mediate GVHD. Higher levels of infused Tregs may therefore confer a greater suppressive effect leading to a lower incidence of GVHD in patients receiving these grafts. In this cohort, apart from the one patient who developed grade 4 GVHD, patients with the highest graft Treg:CD3+ cell ratios showed the lowest incidence and severity of GVHD suggesting a possible association between relative numbers of Tregs to effector cells although statistically these differences did not reach significance with the numbers tested.

4.4.3 Impact of CD34+ cell numbers on incidence and severity of GVHD

Data from this study demonstrates that increasing CD34+ cell doses are significantly correlated with increased levels of GVHD. The incidence of mild cGVHD following RIC transplants is noted to improve event-free and overall survival especially in patients with AML and MDS, but the balance between GVHD and GVM is critical (Valcárcel and Martino, 2007, Martino *et al*, 2001). At RMH the approach is to limit the number of CD34+ cells transplanted unless the patient has particularly high-risk disease. With infusion of higher numbers of donor cells than this, there is a risk of disturbing the balance between GVHD and GVM in favour of GVHD due to correspondingly high numbers of effector T cells that exist concurrently with CD34+ cells in the graft. Data should be interpreted with caution however as other factors may affect outcome. An improved overall survival may enable the patient to survival long-enough to develop cGVHD, but this may not be the sole cause of the increased survival rate. Nonetheless, the study does formally support the practice of limiting CD34 doses infused in order to limit GVHD. In this centre, the maximum cut-off CD34⁺ cell dose for allogeneic transplants is 8x10⁶/kg. This is deemed to be an acceptable level to achieve a balance between an effective anti-tumour GVM
effect and tolerable GVHD. This dose cut-off has been adopted as the result of experience rather than being based on published data as there is a lack of information in the literature. It should be noted that in many of the Treg studies in the literature, CD34+ cell doses of up to 17×10^6 /kg are given and this may result in a different pattern of GVHD incidence.

4.4.4 The effect of graft Tregs on chimerism following allogeneic transplant

As a measure of T cell chimerism, the percentages of donor T cells in recipient blood samples were analysed at 3 months, 6 months and 1 year post-transplant but no significant correlation was observed. Falling donor chimerism can be indicative of graft failure or relapse so this result is very reassuring in that it does not support a role for high levels of graft Tregs leading to subsequent disease relapse.

4.4.5 The effect of graft Tregs on disease outcome following allogeneic transplant

Relapse rate during the first year following transplant was not affected by the number of Tregs infused in this patient cohort. This observation supports the findings of Pastore and colleagues who observed that relapse rates in the patients they studied were independent of Treg numbers in the grafts they received (Pastore *et al*, 2011). Wolf and colleagues also found no correlation between graft Tregs and overall survival in RIC transplant recipients (Wolf *et al*, 2003, Pastore *et al*, 2011). They did however note a significant increased overall survival in full intensity transplant recipients who received high graft Tregs.

RIC transplantation does not induce the immediate inflammatory milieu associated with damage caused by radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy conditioning as part of full intensity transplant protocols. GVHD in these patients is also usually seen at a later stage post-transplant than following full intensity transplants. It has been demonstrated that following transplant, Tregs traffic to tumour tissue where they exert an immuno-modulatory effect on anti-tumour activity. This can be interrupted in the presence of inflammation such as that caused by full intensity conditioning or GVHD when Tregs are preferentially drawn to tissues at the site of inflammation (Dürr *et al*, 2012). Thus in RIC transplant recipients where inflammation caused by GVHD will occur at a later time point, Tregs may remain in the tumour tissue for a longer period without being trafficked to the site of GVHD induced inflammation. It could be predicted that this would result in a different pattern of response to graft Treg levels, with lower graft Treg levels exerting less of an anti-tumour effect than a graft with high Treg numbers and resulting in lower relapse rates. It is encouraging that the results of this study indicate that this is not the case.

5.0 Results - Donor lymphocytes

The effect of Treg levels on clinical outcome in allogeneic patients receiving donor lymphocyte infusions

5.1 Introduction

Following allogeneic transplant, patients are regularly monitored for both GVHD and evidence of disease relapse. Falling donor T cell chimerism can indicate the return of host derived haematopoietic cells, graft failure and subsequent relapse (Shaw et al, 2007). Frequently, DLI are required following RIC transplants where full donor chimerism may not be achieved in the early stages post- transplant. Falling donor chimerism is suggestive of recurrent disease and taken in conjunction with residual disease monitoring, is used to indicate the need for this treatment. It is standard practice to source directed non-mobilised DL from sibling and unrelated donors. However, in order to avoid donor recall in cases of falling chimerism or relapse, it has become accepted practice in RMH to proactively cryopreserve and store surplus G-CSF mobilised allogeneic HPC products for possible use as DLI should this be required posttransplant. This avoids the inconvenience and expense of donor recall for conventional further non-mobilised harvesting. The yield of CD3+ cells is substantially increased in G-CSF mobilised compared to non-mobilised products. It is possible that Treg numbers in DL products may affect their efficacy clinically due to suppression of donor T cell alloreactivity and therefore antitumour activity. In a small study performed by Hicheri and colleagues lower Treg levels in donor lymphocytes correlated significantly with favourable response (Hicheri et al, 2008). Because DL products are obtained in the RMH from both mobilised and non-mobilised harvests, this study investigated Treg numbers infused in donor lymphocyte products to ascertain any association with clinical outcome.

Response to DLI, either single or multiple doses, was defined as an improvement in the percentage of donor T cell chimerism or reversal of disease relapse such that no further DL infusions were required. The development of GVHD is usually observed in the presence of these clinical improvements. A minimal dose of donor lymphocytes is typically given initially and, if a response is not apparent after a period of a few months during which chimerism or disease markers are closely monitored, a slightly larger dose is then administered. Since there is a high risk of inducing GVHD with donor lymphocyte infusions, a cautious approach is usually followed with minimal increases in the CD3+ cell dose and at least a 3 month interval between doses. Failure to achieve improved donor chimerism or disease status and the absence of GVHD, usually results in a clinical decision to infuse an increased DL dose. Dosing of donor lymphocytes is stratified according to documented RMH clinical procedures, with a starting CD3+ cell dose

for falling chimerism of 5×10^6 /kg or 1×10^6 /kg for unrelated and sibling allogeneic donors respectively, and a starting dose of 1×10^7 /kg for disease relapse.

5.2 Data expression

Harvest Treg levels were measured and expressed as Tregs x10⁶/ml and Tregs as a ratio of CD3+ cells. Doses of DLI are prepared on the basis of the harvest CD3+ cell count and the patient's weight and are expressed as CD3+ cells/kg. For this reason, Treg:CD3+ cell ratios in products were enumerated. Harvest Tregs were compared against outcome as measured by clinical response to DLI. These measures allow comparison of harvests regardless of the volume of product harvested. The same data expression was used for comparison of mobilised (n=59) and non-mobilised (n=13) harvest Tregs (Section 3). Harvests from both mobilised (n=6) and non-mobilised (n=7) donors were used for infusion in thirteen patients.

The levels in the actual doses of donor lymphocyte infusions administered (n=13) were also considered. Because doses of DLI consider the CD3+ cell count and the patient's weight, harvest Treg levels may not be a good indicator of the absolute numbers infused alongside the required CD3+ cell dose.

Doses Tregs in doses of DL administered to patients were expressed as absolute Treg numbers $x10^{6}$, Tregs $x10^{6}$ /kg normalised for patient weight and as a ratio of CD3+ cells.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 The effect of Treg numbers in mobilised and non-mobilised donor lymphocyte harvests on clinical outcome

When considering the effect of G-CSF mobilisation on Tregs in DL products (section 3.3.2) no significant difference was detected between absolute Tregs/ml in mobilised harvests and in those collected without the use of a mobilising agent. However significant differences were observed between the Treg:CD3+ cell ratios in mobilised and non-mobilised harvests. It was therefore considered important to assess the effect of absolute numbers of Tregs/ml and Treg:CD3+ cell levels contained in harvests, on patient outcome following donor lymphocyte infusions as any relationship might allow the possibility of using harvested Treg levels as a predictor DLI response.

Harvests from both mobilised and non-mobilised donors were used for infusion in thirteen patients. When harvest Tregs/ml were compared in these 13 harvests against the outcome of subsequent infusions (Figure 24(a)), there was a significant correlation between lower Treg levels in the harvests and a satisfactory clinical response (p=0.038).

When comparing Treg:CD3 ratios in mobilised and non-mobilised harvests against response in the cohort of thirteen patients who received DLI, no significant difference was noted (p=0.103) (Figure 24(b)).

In section 3, Treg levels in all DL harvests were considered but in the context of this cohort of patients who actually received DLI, the levels of Tregs in G-CSF mobilised and non-mobilised harvests harvests were compared with outcome (Figure 25). In these harvests, Treg levels were significantly lower in the six harvests collected after G-CSF mobilisation (0.25±0.05) than in the seven harvests collected with no mobilisation (0.73±0.16) (p=0.035). All six G-CSF mobilised donor lymphocyte harvests elicited the desired response when doses were infused. Infusions of DL doses from non-mobilised harvests resulted in a response in five patients and no response in two patients.

5.3.2 Treg numbers infused in donor lymphocyte doses

In addition to examining Treg levels in harvests used to prepare DLI it is important to consider the actual number of Tregs in each dose administered to the patient. In this study seven patients received only one dose of donor lymphocytes, four received two doses and two three doses. All patients who received more than one dose had failed to respond to the previous dose(s). Both the patients who failed to respond to DL treatment in this study relapsed and went on to receive chemotherapy followed by a further transplant.

In patients receiving DLI for falling chimerism, response was defined as an adequate increase in the percentage of donor T cells requiring no further DLI or further transplant. In patients receiving DLI for persisting or relapsing disease, response was measured by morphological or disease marker remission. As it may take several months for a response to DLI to occur, the patients in this study were followed for a minimum of 6 months after the last dose of DLI was administered. Treg levels in the final dose received were used in the analysis for patients who received more than one dose of DLI.

Significantly lower absolute Treg levels (x10⁶) were noted in the infusions given to the 11 patients who responded to DLI treatment than in the doses which elicited no response (p=0.026) (Figure 26a). When normalised for weight (x10⁶/kg) Tregs were also significantly lower in the infusions given to patients who responded to DLI treatment than in the doses which elicited no response (p=0.30) (Figure 26b). The Treg:CD3+ cell ratio (Figure 26(c)) appeared lower in doses which produced a response in the patient (0.008 \pm 0.002) than in those which did not (0.018 \pm 0.004). This finding concurs with that observed with the Treg levels expressed in absolute numbers, however in this case was not statistically significant (p=0.103). In addition, CD3+ cell numbers (x10⁶/kg) in the final doses of infused DLI were also examined against response. Higher CD3+ cell doses appeared to be associated with a failure to respond to DLI treatment however, this result did not quite achieve significance (p=0.051) (Figure 26(d)). Consideration was given to whether the number of DLI doses received by each patient affected outcome but this was not apparent (p=0.103) (Figure 27).

Since DLI infusion carries a risk of stimulating GVHD, the numbers of Tregs $(x10^6)$ in DL doses were compared with the incidence and severity of GVHD experienced by patients in the six months following infusion (Figure 28(a)). No significant difference was seen between patients who suffered no GVHD (n=9), and those who experienced GVHD either grade 1 (n=2) or grade 3 (n=2) (p=0.579).

As significant differences in Treg:CD3 ratios were noted when comparing mobilised and nonmobilised harvests, the effect of this ratio in doses administered to patients was studied on incidence and severity of GVHD (Figure 28(b)). No significant difference was noted (p=0.184).



Figure 24: Treg levels in the harvests of donor lymphocyte collections compared with clinical response. (a) Harvest Tregs x10⁶/ml (b) Harvest Treg:CD3 cell ratios. Treg levels in the harvests of donor lymphocyte collections were compared in patients who responded to standard dose DLI therapy (n=11)) and in those who did not respond (n=2). Samples of DLI harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively. DLI response given for falling chimerism defined as an adequate increase in the percentage of donor T cells requiring no further DLI or further transplant. When DLI administered for persisting or relapsing disease, response was measured by morphological or disease marker remission.



Figure 25: Treg levels in non-mobilised and G-CSF mobilised harvests of donor lymphocyte

collections grouped by outcome following infusion. Treg levels in mobilised (n=6) and nonmobilised (n=7) harvests were compared against clinical response to DLI. Samples of DLI harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively. DLI response given for falling chimerism defined as an adequate increase in the percentage of donor T cells requiring no further DLI or further transplant. When DLI administered for persisting or relapsing disease, response was measured by morphological or disease marker remission.



Figure 26: Tregs and CD3+ cell numbers in levels in final infused doses of donor lymphocytes compared with patient clinical outcomes: (a) DLI dose Tregs $x10^6$ (b) DLI dose Tregs $x10^6/kg$ (c) DLI dose Treg:CD3 ratio (d) CD3+ cell dose $x10^6/kg$. Cell doses in final infusions received by patients were compared in those who responded to treatment (n=11) and those who showed no response (n=2). Samples of DLI harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively. DLI response given for falling chimerism defined as an adequate increase in the percentage of donor T cells requiring no further DLI or further transplant. When DLI administered for persisting or relapsing disease, response was measured by morphological or disease marker remission.







Figure 28: Treg levels in DLI doses and GVHD experienced following infusion: (a) DLI dose Tregs x10⁶ against grade of GVHD experienced by patients during the six months following infusion. (b) DLI dose Treg:CD3 ratio against grade of GVHD experienced by patients during the six months following infusion. Samples of DLI harvests were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively. Patients either suffered no GVHD (n=9), grade 1 GVHD (n=2) or grade 3 GVHD (n=2). No patients experienced grade 2 GVHD.

5.4 Discussion

The majority of allogeneic transplants performed at RMH are RIC transplants whose success relies to a large extent on tumour eradication through a GVM effect rather than on myeloablation from the conditioning regimen. Undesirable effects of this treatment are a prolonged period of mixed donor and recipient chimersim, and possible graft failure or relapse. In this context, donor lymphocyte infusions are used to break tolerance and stimulate a GVM reaction driven by an alloreactive immune response. In the DLI setting the environment that the cells are infused into is not the same as at the time of the initial transplant, when the conditoning regime will have induced a neutropenic state in which there is rapid expansion of T cells including Tregs in the immediate post-transplant stage. Thus Tregs in harvests used as initial transplant grafts and harvests used for subsequent DLI should be examined separately.

Enumerating the CD3+ cells present in mobilised or non-mobilised harvests from the original donor enables multiple dose-escalating aliquots to be cryopreserved. This allows the smallest possible CD3+ cell dose to achieve either disease remission or an improvement in donor chimerism to be given to the patient, while minimising the likelihood of inducing severe GVHD. Thus the ultimate goal of DLI is to tip the balance towards GVM rather than GVHD.

Much attention has been focused on the contribution that Tregs, either in the graft or in the peripheral blood during reconstitution, may make towards prevention of GVHD following transplant. Since DLI are infused into a radically different environment from the initial transplanted cells, it is important to ascertain if Treg levels in the product affects the clinical outcome in patients receiving these infusions.

This study has demonstrated that Tregs in G-CSF mobilised products are lower than those in non-mobilised harvests. In the wider mobilisation data where 59 mobilised harvests were compared with 10 non-mobilised harvests (section 3.3.2) the difference was significant when Treg levels were expressed as Treg:CD3+ cell ratios (p=0.022), but not when expressed as Tregs/ml (p=0.162) . In the smaller cohort of harvests which were actually used for DL infusions (Figure 24), interestingly, the converse was observed with a significant difference noted between Tregs/ml in mobilised and non-mobilised products (p=0.038) but not between Treg:CD3 ratios (p=0.103). The rationale for this difference based on the data expression in the groups is unclear.

Having considered Treg levels in the mobilised and non-mobilised harvests, it was necessary to ascertain if any differences in the products, attributable to the use of G-CSF or not, prior to collection, would have an impact on clinical outcome. This was particularly important given the

RMH programme of proactive cryopreservation of surplus G-CSF mobilised allogeneic apheresis product to be used for subsequent DLI treatments. Patient responses in terms of restoration of donor chimersim or resolution of relapse were monitored in association with the absolute numbers of Tregs infused alongside the CD3+ cell doses. It was apparent that lower Treg numbers in the dose correlated significantly with a satisfactory clinical response to DLI (Figure 24), but there was no significant difference between the use of mobilised or unmobilised products and outcome (Figure 25). Since the aim of the infusion is to promote an alloreactive immune response it is possible that lower Treg numbers facilitate this response. In the immediate post-transplant setting inflammatory cytokines are released which activate alloreactive donor T cells and potentiate GVHD. In this scenario higher Treg levels have been reported to be advantageous in suppressing GVHD. There is clearly an optimal balance between GVM and GVHD but in the DLI situation, in the absence of GVHD driven by inflammatory mechanisms, Tregs may be expected to suppress the desired GVM effect. This would be a valid explanation for the correlation between lower Tregs in DL infusions and better clinical outcomes observed in this study.

The CD3+ cell content of DLs infused would be expected to correlate with outcome as the CD3+ dose determines alloreactivity. Indeed, concerns about inducing severe GVHD neccesitate the infusion of small CD3 doses initially that can be escalated if no GVHD and clinical improvement in chimersim or disease status ensues. Surprisingly, this study showed that CD3 dose was not significantly associated with successful DLI outcome defined by increased chimerism or disease remission in the cohert studied. It is apparent clinically that the majority of patients benefit at least transiently from DLI with many experiencing sustained improvement. Similarly, CD3:Treg ratios in infused doses also showed no significant association with successful DLI outcome. When comparing harvests, the proportion of Tregs to CD3+ cells is useful as it indicates the relative numbers of Tregs collected alongside alloreactive donor T cells. However when considering Treg levels in the infused doses of DLI it appears that the best indicator of the successful outcome of the infusion is the measure of Tregs/kg.

It has been reported that the relative proportions of Tregs and conventional T cells can determine immunologic activity after myeloablative transplant (Dieckmann *et al*, 2001), with a diminished ratio of Tregs to conventional T cells resulting in higher levels of GVHD posttransplant. It would therefore be expected that a lower proportion of Tregs to CD3+ cells post-DLI might result in a more potent GVM effect but this study has not found this to be the case. Differences in the immune status of the host may explain this result. At the time of initial transplant cells are infused into a neutropoenic recipient with significant inflammatory changes caused by the conditioning therapy. At the time when DLI are infused the patient is usually no longer neutropoenic and inflammatory processes have settled. In this setting therefore, there may not be the rapid expansion of Tregs which is seen following transplant, and since a response to DLI may take several weeks or months it may not be the immediate reaction following infusion which causes the response. However it does appear that the overall Treg numbers in the DL doses are capable influencing the donor T cell mediated GVM effect in some way. Indeed, in a studies by both Miller and Guillaume and their colleagues, donor lymphocyte infusion following lymphodepletion was demonstrated to result in higher levels of GVHD attributable to T cell expansion following DLI with increased immune activation (Miller *et al*, 2007, Guillaume *et al*, 2012).

There was no demonstrable correlation between the Treg levels in infused donor lymphocyte doses and the incidence or severity of GVHD experienced in the six months following infusion in this study. This is surprising as a response to DLI is often accompanied by GVHD. It might have been expected that lower Treg levels in donor lymphocytes would lead to a higher incidence or severity of GVHD, but since this has not been confirmed it supports the idea that donor lymphocyte doses containing lower Treg levels are a superior product in terms of overall outcome.

In the total mobilised and non-mobilised cohorts considered in this study, Treg:CD3+ cell ratios were significantly lower in the former group. In those products that were actually infused, absolute Tregs were significantly lower in the mobilised harvests. Overall therefore, lower Treg levels were apparent in G-CSF mobilised rather than non-mobilised harvests which is reassuring since increasingly, products to be used as DLI are prepared from mobilised products at RMH. The prime motive for limiting doses of allogeneic products infused at intial transplant and proactively storing surplus material is to avoid donor recall and to enable 'off-the-shelf' product to be available for DLI use on demand. The lower Treg levels in these mobilised products potentially brings an additional benefit to the patient in terms of better outcome based on lack of GVM inhibition. It must however be borne in mind that the use of mobilised harvests in themselves is not an exclusive indicator of success of DLI, but their use may predispose to lower Treg levels and therefore improved outcome compared with non-mobilised products.

6.0 Results – Tregs during immune reconstitution

The influence of Treg numbers during immune reconstitution on clinical outcome in autologous and allogeneic transplant recipients.

6.1 Introduction

In addition to investigating Treg numbers in the grafts of transplant recipients, this study also measured Treg levels in the peripheral blood during immune reconstitution following transplant to identify any link with clinical outcome. Studies examining peripheral Treg numbers following transplant are hindered by transplant centre variation in conditioning regimens, patient cohorts, the method of Treg enumeration and, in allogeneic transplants, the immunosuppressive drugs used. A link between Treg levels and clinical outcome could provide a useful marker, either to predict which allograft recipients may be likely to develop GVHD or to identify those patients who may be at risk from disease relapse following autologous or allogeneic transplant. Any test used in this way would need to be reliable, reproducible and cost-effective.

6.1.1 Peripheral Tregs during immune reconstitution following autologous transplantation

This study examined peripheral Treg cell recovery following autologous transplant. Autologous transplantation involves the infusion of HPC,A collections including lymphocytes that originate from the patient. In many of these patients prior to transplant the tumour is able to evade immune surveillance, so it would be expected that in autologous, unlike allogeneic transplantation, no anti-tumour activity would result following the transplant of the patient's own cells. Immune reconstitution may be skewed or influenced by effect of mobilisation regimen on the graft or by the pattern of haematopoietic regeneration. It is therefore possible that Tregs present during this period are capable of suppressing anti-tumour activity and that an alteration in the balance of Tregs and anti-tumour reduction, Mirmonsef and colleagues have reported that tumour specific effector cells outcompeting Tregs during immune reconstitution can lead to a reversal of tumour tolerance following transplant in mice (Mirmonsef *et al*, 2008).

In order to build up a picture of the recovery of Tregs following autologous transplantation, overall levels were measured in the peripheral blood over the first year following transplant. Furthermore, any relationship between Tregs and outcome in terms of remission or disease relapse was assessed at one, three, six, nine and 12 months post-transplant. Absolute Treg levels and Tregs relative to numbers of CD3+ and CD4+ cells were evaluated.

6.1.2 The effect of peripheral Treg levels on clinical outcome and immune reconstitution following allogeneic transplant

Studies comparing peripheral Tregs with the incidence or severity of GVHD following allogeneic transplant have mainly focussed on patients who have received full intensity conditioning prior to transplant. Findings have been inconclusive with some researchers reporting a link between graft Tregs and GVHD, whereas others have reported a link with peripheral Tregs following transplant. An interesting question, therefore, is whether there is a demonstrable link between the number of Tregs infused in the graft and those found in the peripheral blood post-transplant.

In order to build up a picture of the recovery of Tregs following allogeneic transplantation, overall Treg levels were measured in the peripheral blood during the first year following transplant. The effect of Tregs levels on outcome in terms of GVHD, chimerism and disease relapse throughout that time period was examined.

6.2 Data expression

6.2.1 Data expression of Tregs in peripheral blood following autologous transplant

A Spearman rank correlation of graft absolute Treg numbers ($x10^{6}$) and peripheral blood Tregs at one month post-transplant was performed. Peripheral blood Tregs measured by flow cytometry were expressed as Tregs $x10^{6}$ /ml and compared against outcome as measured by remission or disease relapse. Peripheral Treg:CD3+ cell ratios and Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells were also compared against outcome.

Longitudinal testing of samples (n=180) from autologus transplant recipients (n=85) was performed over the first year post-transplant.

6.2.2 Data expression of Tregs in peripheral blood following allogeneic transplant

A Spearman rank correlation of graft absolute Treg numbers (x10⁶) and peripheral blood Tregs at three months post-transplant was performed. There were insufficient Treg numbers before this time point to be able to perform the correlation at an earlier time point. Peripheral blood Treg levels measured throughout the first year post-transplant were expressed as Tregs x10⁶/ml, Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells and Treg:CD3+ cell ratios. Peripheral blood Tregs were compared against incidence and severity of GVHD, incidence of disease relapse and donor chimerism status during the first year post-transplant.

Longitudinal testing of samples (n=197) from allogeneic transplant recipients (n=75) was performed over the first year post-transplant.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Tregs in peripheral blood following autologous transplants

In order to determine the potential effect of the varying Treg levels collected in harvests following different mobilisation regimens on immune reconstitution, graft Tregs levels were compared with peripheral Tregs measured at one month following autologous transplant (Figure 29(a)). No correlation was observed (p=0.291, p=0.189). When considering reconstitution of Tregs following autologous transplant, Treg levels were readily detectable at 28 days (Figure 29(b)) and although mean Treg levels dropped slightly at six months post-transplant before rising again, there was no significant difference in mean Treg levels throughout the first year (p=0.243).

When considering Treg levels at various time points throughout the first year post-transplant compared with outcome, the most notable difference seen as an elevation in levels, was observed at one month (Figure 30(a)). Overall, variations across the time points in those who relapsed and those who did not appeared to follow similar patterns. Patients who experienced relapse during the first year following transplant had higher Treg levels than those who remained in remission although this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.166). Examining Treg:CD3+ cell ratios at time points throughout the first year post-transplant and outcome, the most notable difference in levels was noted at one month post-transplant (Figure 30(b)). Patients who suffered relapse during the first year following transplant had not nemonth post-transplant appeared to show higher proportion of Tregs than those who remained in remission although this difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.356).

Comparison of Treg percentages of CD4+ cells in all autologous patients, regardless of clinical outcome, at monthly time points throughout the first year post transplant, demonstrated significant differences (p=0.001) with highest levels at one month (Figure 31(a)). The data was then considered in the relapse and non-relapse groups and Treg percentages were higher in the former cohort one month post-transplant although this did not reach significance (p=0.316) (Figure 31(b)).

6.3.2 Tregs in peripheral blood following allogeneic transplants

Tregs (x10⁶) in the original allogeneic graft were compared with Treg levels (x10⁶/ml) at 3 months post-transplant (Figure 32(a)). No correlation was observed (ρ =0.069, p=0.729). Unlike peripheral blood Tregs following autologous transplants, Treg levels (x10⁶/ml) measured during the year following allogeneic transplant were not readily detectable in most patients until three months. Levels increased slowly until eight months after which they fell again (Figure 32(b)).

Despite this there was no significant difference in mean Treg levels throughout the first year (p=0.243).

When considered as a percentage of CD4+ cells (Figure 33(a)) Tregs increased up to six months and then dropped again. Unlike in autologous transplants (Section6.3.1), the overall CD4+ cell count following allogeneic transplant did not remain stable from one month but showed significant differences throughout the year (p=0.021) (Figure 33(b)).

Recovery of Tregs relative to CD3+ cells showed significant differences throughout the first year (p=0.017) with the proportion of Tregs highest at six and nine months (Figure 34).

Incidence and severity of GVHD experienced by patients during the first year following allogeneic transplant was evaluated relative to Treg levels (x10⁶/ml), as a percentage of CD4 and as a ratio of CD3+ cells (Figures 35 (a), (b) and (c). There is a lack of association between peripheral Tregs/ml and GVHD (p= 0.109) (Figure 35(a)). However, when considering mean Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells and GVHD grade by month it appears that a higher percentage of Tregs may offer some protection against GVHD but this lacks significance (p=0.451) (Figure 35(b)). The ratio of Tregs to CD3+ cells also appears higher up to three months post-transplant in patients with no GVHD (Figure 35(c)). However, from six months onwards this trend is lost with overall no significant difference between ratios and GVHD (p=0.445).

Peripheral Treg levels expressed as Tregs x10⁶/ml were evaluated in patients in the first year post transplant to determine any correlation with clinical outcome in terms of the incidence of relapse (Figure 36). In both patient groups, Treg levels followed a similar oscillating pattern over the twelve month period, however in the relapse group, Treg levels appeared higher in the first six months. Conversely, after six months Treg levels in these patients were lower than in than in patients who relapsed. These differences between levels did not achieve significance (p=0.988). Mean time to relapse was six months (range two to twelve months).

When peripheral Treg levels were considered against donor T cell chimerism status in allogeneic recipients post-transplant at three, six and 12 month intervals, no significant differences were noted (p=0.720) (Figure 37 (a), (b) and (c)).





Correlation between graft and peripheral Tregs at one month in patients following autologous transplant (n=22). Grafts collected after mobilisation with G-CSF (n=1), G-CSF and cyclophosphamide (n=18), and G-CSF and Plerixafor (n=3). (b) Treg levels in peripheral blood at time points throughout the first year post autologous transplant. Treg levels expressed as Tregs $x10^6$ /ml. Longitudinal testing performed on 180 samples from 85 patients. Samples of autologous harvests and peripheral blood were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively.



Figure 30: Treg levels in peripheral blood compared with clinical outcome following autologous transplant. (a) Tregs/ml at monthly time points (b) Treg:CD3+ cell ratios. Peripheral blood samples taken at monthly time points: 1 (n=22), 3 (n=28), 6 (n=27), 9 months (n=16) and 1 year (n=21) post-transplant in patients who relapsed (n=19) and those who did not (n=66). Samples of peripheral blood were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively.



Figure 31: Peripheral Tregs as a percentage of CD4 cells following autologous transplant. (a)Tregs as percentage of CD4+ cells – all patients (b) Peripheral Tregs as a percentage of CD4 cells by outcome (patients who relapsed (n=19) and those who did not (n=66)). Peripheral blood samples taken at monthly time points: 1 (n=22), 3 (n=28), 6 (n=27), 9 months (n=16) and 1 year (n=21) post-transplant in patients were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively.



Figure 32: Treg levels in grafts and peripheral blood following allogeneic transplant.

(a) Correlation between graft and peripheral Tregs at three months in patients following allogeneic transplant (n=28). All grafts collected after mobilisation with G-CSF (b) Treg levels in peripheral blood at time points throughout the first year post allogeneic transplant. Treg levels expressed as Tregs x10⁶/ml. Longitudinal testing performed on 197 samples from 75 patients. Samples of allogeneic harvests and peripheral blood were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively.



Figure 33: Treg levels and CD4+ cell counts following allogeneic transplant. a) Longitudinal testing of Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells in peripheral blood at time points month 1 (n=20), month 3 (n=31), month 6 (n=23), month 9 (n=11), and 1 year (n=18) post-transplant intervals. b) CD4+ counts at the same time points following allogeneic transplant. Samples of peripheral blood were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively.



Figure 34: Treg:CD3+ cell ratios following allogeneic transplant. Longitudinal testing of peripheral blood at time points month 1 (n=20), month 3 (n=31), month 6 (n=23), month 9 (n=11), and 1 year (n=18) post-transplant. Samples of peripheral blood (n=103) were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Data represents the median (black line) and interquartile range (whiskers). Mild and extreme outliers are depicted by the symbols ° and * respectively.



Figure 35: Mean peripheral Treg levels and GVHD grading during the first year post allogeneic transplant. a) Mean Tregs $x10^6$ /ml b) Mean Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells c) Tregs:CD3+ cell ratios. Patients who did not experience GVHD over the year (n=77), and patients who suffered GVHD grade 1 (n=20), grade 2 (n=23), grade3 (n=9) and grade 4(n=1). Samples of peripheral blood were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry.



Figure 36: Peripheral Treg levels and clinical outcome during the first year post-transplant: Mean Tregs x10⁶/ml in the peripheral blood of patients who suffered disease relapse (n=15) during the first year post-transplant compared levels in patients with no evidence of relapse (n=61). Samples of peripheral blood were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry.



Figure 37: Peripheral blood Treg levels and percentage of donor T cell chimerism: a) 3 months, b) 6 months and c) 1 year post allogeneic transplant. Samples of peripheral blood were stained for CD3 CD4 CD25 CD127 and FoxP3 and analysed by flow cytometry. Chimerism status determined by polymorphic short-tandem repeat analysis on samples taken at 3 months (n=24), six months (n=14) and one year post-transplant (n=16).

6.4 Discussion

6.4.1 Correlation between graft and peripheral Tregs following autologous transplant

This study reported higher Treg levels harvested after mobilisation with Plerixafor when used in combination with G-CSF compared to mobilisation with either G-CSF alone or G-CSF in combination with cyclophosphamide. Because of this it was deemed important to ascertain if Treg levels in grafts harvested following these mobilisation regimens bore any relationship to peripheral Treg levels in the corresponding patients following autologous transplant. Since there were too few peripheral samples at one month for each of the mobilisation regimens, all regimens were considered together. No significant correlation was demonstrated in this study.

Immediately following autologous transplantation using PBSC, levels of CD3, CD8 and NK cells have been found to return to normal while CD4 levels fall below normal and may remain low for up to a year (Guillaume, Rubinstein and Symann, 1998). In the immediate post-transplant phase the tumour burden is minimal as it has been reduced by the high dose chemotherapy. Differing rates of reconstitution of lymphocyte subsets following transplant results in skewed proportions of the various cell types which may encourage anti-tumour activity, however, rapid expansion of Treg numbers may have the potential to suppress this. Using a syngeneic murine transplant model Mirmonsef and colleagues demonstrated restored anti-tumour activity of previously tolerant tumour specific T cells following transplant (Mirmonsef *et al*, 2008). They postulated that graft effector cells generated during the endogenous response to the tumour may expand more rapidly than Tregs during reconstitution following transplant, and are therefore able to evade Treg suppression. If this is the case then although there are likely to be many factors involved in rate of Treg expansion following transplant, the lack of correlation between graft and peripheral Treg levels is reassuring with increasing use of Plerixafor mobilised harvests.

6.4.2 Treg reconstitution following autologous transplant and impact on clinical outcome

Treg levels increased rapidly during the first 28 days following autologous transplant, a finding which supports the results from other studies (Perez-Garcia *et al*, 2009, Guillaume, Rubinstein and Symann, 1998). Following this early increase, Treg levels subsequently fell until 6 months post-transplant when they started to rise again. This does not appear to correlate with CD4 counts as these remain constant and low during the first year post autologous transplant (Guillaume, Rubinstein and Symann, 1998) (RMH data not shown), whereas CD3 counts increased rapidly until the third month, when they fell and slowly recovered over the course of the year (RMH data not shown). Although not well characterised, it is postulated that rapid Treg expansion immediately post-transplant in allogeneic recipients is driven by CD4+ lymphopoenia (Matsuoka *et al*, 2010). This may also be a factor in the rapid Treg expansion seen in this cohort

of autologous patients. Because no samples were tested during the first four weeks posttransplant due to low leucocyte cell numbers, it is possible that very low CD4+ numbers in the immediate period post-transplant may have driven this Treg expansion.

The subsequent dip and rise in numbers has not been described elsewhere but may be as a result of a number of factors. As the majority of T cells reside in lymphoid and mucosal sites and not in the peripheral blood it is possible that fluctuation in Treg numbers seen in this study reflects traffic of these cells between tissues and the periphery. Additionally, all patients in the study were suffering from malignant disease and the Treg recovery pattern may be affected by immune dysregulation observed in many cancer patients.

Alternatively the fluctuation in Tregs may be due to the recovery of at least partial thymic function following autograft resulting in a change in Treg origin from peripheral expansion to thymopoiesis. The initial immune reaction to chemotherapy-induced lymphopoenia is peripheral expansion of mature T cells originating from the graft, or of cells that survived the conditioning regimen (Hakim *et al*, 2005, Williams, Hakim and Gress, 2007). Following autologous transplant, thymic recovery may take up to 2 years and the degree of recovery is heavily age dependent (Douek *et al*, 2000). In younger patients a marked increase in thymic function is seen during the first few months following transplant so it is possible that the dip and rise in Tregs at 6 months in this cohort of mixed age patients reflects the shift in Treg origin.

Following autograft for the treatment of myeloma, many patients receive consolidation and maintenance therapy using agents such as velcade (bortezomib), lenalidomide and dexamethasone (Cavo *et al*, 2012, Bianchi and Anderson, 2014). This treatment is started at around three months post-transplant and may be responsible for fluctuations in Tregs observed in this study. Increases in Tregs have been described in patients receiving lenalidomide, either on its own (Clave, 2014) or in combination with dexamethasone (Karthick Raja Muthu Raja, 2012).

When considering peripheral blood Treg levels following transplant and clinical outcome during the first year, there was no significant correlation between Treg levels expressed as Tregs/ml, Tregs:CD3+ cell ratios or as a percentage of CD4+ cells and relapse or otherwise. Treg levels tested at one month post-transplant appeared lower in patients who suffered no disease relapse although this difference was not significant. However, it is possible that higher overall Treg numbers and Tregs relative to effector T cells at this early stage post-transplant may cause suppression of anti-tumour activity leading to subsequent disease relapse. It should be noted that in this study that patient outcomes were followed for a year post-transplant and therefore data only reflects the effect of Treg levels on relatively early relapse. Differences between patient outcomes and Treg levels may reach significance with extension of the follow-up period. The transplant unit runs a late effects clinic to ascertain relapse or the occurrence of secondary cancers in the years following transplant. Examination of Treg levels in extended follow up would be interesting.

The number of Tregs relative to CD3+ cells and CD4+ cells were higher at one month posttransplant than at one year, with a significant difference between Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells at these time points (p=0.005). Levels of CD4+ cells recover more slowly than CD3+ cells following transplant but the highest percentage of Tregs to CD4 cells is observed in the first month. Some studies have suggested that absolute lymphocyte count at day 15 post-transplant is a predictor for clinical outcome following autologous transplant (Porrata and Markovic, 2004, Hiwase *et al*, 2008) and that recovery of lymphocyte count post-transplant is directly related to the number of T cells in the graft. Since rapid Treg expansion is thought to be regulated by CD4+ lymphocyte numbers, it is possible that patients with rapid lymphocyte recovery by day 15 have a consequently shorter period of rapid Treg expansion resulting in lower Treg levels capable of tumour suppression. This would be an interesting area for further study.

When interpreting results of studies on peripheral Treg numbers it should be noted that measurement of peripheral blood Treg levels may not be indicative of those in the tumour microenvironment. It is possible that this is where significant differences in Treg numbers may affect clinical outcome. Atanackovic and colleagues (2008) reported increased Treg numbers accumulating in the bone marrow of myeloma patients post-transplant compared with newly diagnosed myeloma patients and healthy controls. Post-transplant bone marrow biopsies could possibly yield data about the prevalence of Tregs in association with tumour in the bone marrow microenvironment. This is beyond the scope of the project but would be an interesting avenue to pursue.

6.4.3 Correlation between graft and peripheral Tregs following allogeneic transplant

The majority of research groups seeking to identify the effect of Treg numbers on the incidence of GVHD fall into two main categories: those who studied Treg levels in grafts and those who considered peripheral Treg levels post-transplant. As workers in both these categories have reported significant associations between Tregs and GVHD it might be expected that there would be a correlation between graft Tregs and those found in the peripheral blood posttransplant. Pastore and colleagues were one of the few groups to include this consideration in their study (Pastore *et al*, 2011). They reported a correlation between graft Tregs and peripheral Tregs at 1 month post-transplant in a cohort of full intensity transplants, deliberately excluding reduced intensity transplants in order to provide a more homogeneous patient population. The current study did find a loose but insignificant association between allogeneic graft Tregs infused into patients receiving full intensity and RIC transplants taken together and peripheral Treg levels at three months post-transplant. The lack of correlation is not however surprising as it is unlikely that following infusion, graft Tregs would expand at a uniform rate in all patients. Additionally, the inclusion in the study of RIC transplants which are characterised by a longer period of mixed chimerism and delayed onset of GVHD might account for the lack of significant correlation. It is also probable that measurement of peripheral blood Tregs does not accurately reflect the entire Treg population capable of suppressing effector cells as these are distributed in tissues as well as peripheral blood.

Although there are similarities, reconstitution of Tregs in patients following allogeneic transplant was slower than in patients receiving autologous transplants. This is almost certainly due to immunosuppressive therapy which is given to all allogeneic recipients to prevent GVHD, but which also interferes with early lymphocyte reconstitution. This is supported by lower overall lymphocyte counts immediately post-transplant and the longer engraftment times seen in allogeneic patients. The consequence of this prolonged period of lymphopoenia is a more sustained but slower period of Treg expansion until they reach a peak at eight months (Figures 32(b), 33 and 34). This is also demonstrated when examining the ratio of Tregs to CD3+ cells, with increasing Tregs until nine months when the relative proportion of Tregs to overall T cells falls. Examining Tregs as a percentage of CD4+ cells illustrates Treg expansion up to six months post-transplant (Figure 42(b)), after which time CD4+ cells increase in number relative to that of Tregs. Unlike in autologous patients, Treg levels at 28 days were generally difficult to assess due to the low number of lymphocytes present and the limited blood sample size. Clearly the dynamics of Treg re-constitution differ between autologous and allogeneic patients. In the latter group relative paucity of Tregs may enable better GVM effect and consequently manifestation of GVHD is typically apparent.

A study by Bremm and colleagues was the first to demonstrate a down-regulation of CD127 expression on T cells, including Tregs, during the first few weeks post-transplant (Bremm *et al*, 2011). Although they confirmed that the use of CD127 as an additional marker for Treg determination was useful to identify Tregs where CD4+ CD25^{high} gating is difficult to define, it is possible that the inclusion of this marker in the current study may have affected the results obtained in the early post-transplant samples. Nonetheless, it would be expected that lymphocyte and therefore Treg levels would be low immediately post-transplant as use of Campath 1H (Alemtuzumab) as part of allogeneic transplant conditioning induces profound depletion of all lymphocyte subsets. This in turn undoubtedly contributes to the slower recovery of T cells including Tregs than following autologous transplants. While a caveat of allogeneic transplantation is the period of lymphopoenia with the increased risk of infection, reduced Treg numbers may work in favour of reduced tumour tolerance. The slower rate of Treg recovery is also likely to influence GVHD.

6.4.4 The effect of peripheral Treg levels on GVHD incidence and severity following allogeneic transplant

No significant association between Treg levels in the peripheral blood following transplant and the incidence or severity of GVHD was observed even when stratified for time of onset of GVHD. There may be a number of reasons for this.

The study was unable to determine Tregs at the exact time of onset of GVHD since information about GVHD was collected retrospectively and surplus peripheral blood samples were not always available at these time points. It is possible that the timing of Treg analysis may be critical to be able to correlate GVHD and Treg numbers in order to exclude the possibility that Tregs arise as a response to GVHD rather than being associated with the incidence of GVHD. It is known that GVHD impairs the reconstitution of the lymphoid compartment, therefore Treg numbers may be influenced by disturbed Treg generation in ongoing GVHD.

Samples tested for Treg levels after commencement of treatment for GVHD may not reflect the true relationship between Tregs and GVHD. Interestingly, Schneider and colleagues demonstrated that the frequency of CD4+ CD25+ Tregs increased during episodes of GVHD and that this correlated with therapeutic steroid therapy to treat the GVHD (Schneider *et al*, 2006). They were unable to determine if the increase in Tregs was directly as a result of steroid therapy or if it was part of an endogenous anti-inflammatory mechanism as a reaction to GVHD. The same study also noted that onset of GVHD was often heralded by a decrease in Tregs in this study.

Enumeration of Tregs would not necessarily reflect differences in Treg function following transplant or between patients. It is possible that despite the interest in numbers of Treg in the graft and following transplant that GVHD is more closely associated with their function. While Miura and colleagues reported loss of FoxP3 mRNA expression in patients with GVHD (Miura *et al,* 2004), Li's group demonstrated that incidence of GVHD correlated with a reduction in Treg frequency but no loss of suppressive function.

The current study, which focussed on Treg numbers rather than function, includes mostly patients who received reduced intensity conditioning as well as a smaller proportion who

received myeloablative therapy. These conditioning regimes will result in different inflammatory milieu and this in turn is likely to affect Treg reconstitution and patterns of effector T cell and Treg trafficking to target organs. In patients receiving RIC transplants, GVHD often develops later than in those who receive full intensity transplants, and these patients are generally more likely to suffer from chronic rather than acute GVHD, frequently with onset more than 100 days post-transplant and after the initial inflammatory insult.

As is the case with Tregs and aGVHD, the literature is divided about Treg frequencies in cGVHD. Teams led by Zorn and McIver observed decreased Treg frequency in patients suffering from cGVHD (Zorn, 2006, McIver *et al*, 2013). Li observed reduced Tregs only in patients with extensive rather than limited cGVHD (Li *et al*, 2010), whereas Clark and Sanchez observed increased numbers of CD4+CD25+ Tregs in the peripheral blood of cGVHD patients (Clark *et al*, 2003, Sanchez *et al*, 2004), a finding that was supported by Arimoto's team who measured FoxP3 expression by mRNA isolation from peripheral blood lymphocytes (Arimoto *et al*, 2007). In the current study, higher Treg levels as percentage of CD4+ cells were associated with lower incidence and severity of GVHD but this lacked significance. Similarly, the ratio of Tregs to CD3+ cells also appeared elevated up to three months post-transplant in patients with no GVHD. The reasons for lack of significant association between Treg numbers and GVHD, either developing early post-transplant or after a longer interval compared to other studies could be linked to the fact that the RMH clinical unit typically administers very much lower overall numbers of CD3+ donor cells than other centres.

An unavoidable limitation of the current study is that measurement of peripheral blood Tregs may not be indicative of Treg numbers in GVHD target organs. Within hours of infusion donor T cells migrate to the spleen and lymphoid organs where effector function is acquired after interaction with host antigen presenting cells (Wysocki *et al*, 2005). Tregs present in the lymphoid organs can prevent T cell priming and egress of effector T cells from lymphoid tissue (Engelhardt *et al*, 2012). On leaving lymphoid organs the activated alloantigen-specific effector T cells move to mucosal sites and tissue organs such as the skin, gastrointestinal tract, liver and lungs (Engelhardt *et al*, 2012). This trafficking to specific organs is controlled by chemokinereceptor and integrin-ligand interactions. Trafficking of Tregs to the same specific organs can suppress allo-reactive T cells and the relative numbers of Tregs and effector cells is a contributory factor in the prevention of GVHD (Fujioka *et al*, 2013). Some studies have benefited from being able to examine frequencies in target organs. Fondi and colleagues demonstrated lower GVHD severity when higher numbers of Tregs were present in skin biopsies of patients with skin GVHD (Fondi *et al*, 2009) and Rieger's group, who measured Tregs in intestinal mucosa of patients with GVHD, observed decreased Treg to T cell ratios in these patients (Rieger *et al*, 2006). However although these studies contribute to understanding the mechanism of Treg suppression of GVHD they do not offer a realistic predictive test for widespread use.

Allogeneic patients all receive CsA immunosuppressive therapy following transplant for a period to three to six months with gradual tapering if GVHD is not present. The immunosuppression aims to reduce the number of allo-reactive effector T cells but is simultaneously detrimental to Treg production and function (Demirkiran *et al*, 2008). Thus immunosuppression is a balance between reducing allo-reactive T cells to induce tolerance and promotion of Tregs with the same purpose. Calcineurin inhibitors such as CsA block IL2 expression essential for production of Tregs as well as blocking TCR mediated activation of calcineurin critical to their development. The increase in Treg levels in the months post-transplant are therefore not only due to increasing CD3 cell numbers but reflect reduction in CsA over this period.

6.4.5 The effect of peripheral Tregs on clinical outcome following allogeneic transplant

In patients who relapsed and also those who did not, peripheral blood Treg levels followed a similar oscillating pattern over the twelve month period following transplant. In the relapse group, although Treg levels appeared higher in the first six months, this did not achieve significance. Conversely, after 6 months Treg levels in these patients were lower than in than in patients who relapsed. Mean time to relapse was six months so this may have a loose connection to the reduction of Tregs at this time point. This study did not demonstrate any significant difference between peripheral Treg levels in patients who relapsed during the first year post-transplant and those who did not. It should be noted that in this study patient outcomes were followed for a year post-transplant and therefore data only reflects the effect of Treg levels on relatively early relapse. Extending the follow-up period may have resulted in a significant Treg level difference between patient outcomes.

In a small scale study of 16 patients Bremm and colleagues report that the highest Treg percentages were found in patients at the time of disease relapse (Bremm *et al*, 2011). Patients in Bremm's study received bone marrow (n=8), CD3 depleted PBSC (n=6) and only two received un-manipulated apheresis grafts. All patients in the study at RMH received un-manipulated apheresis grafts. This would result in a different engraftment profile and immune reconstitution from other graft sources thus comparison of data from the current and Bremm's study is difficult. In Nadal's study an increase in Tregs was reported in patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML) who suffered disease relapse following transplant (Nadal *et al*, 2007).

The allogeneic transplant findings concur with the findings in autologous patients, but the same caution should be exercised when examining Tregs in peripheral blood as this may not reflect

the Treg levels in the tumour micro-environment. The results of this study established that use of peripheral Treg quantification to predict relapse in the first year post-transplant is not viable.

6.4.6 The effect of peripheral Tregs on chimerism following allogeneic transplant

As the majority of transplants in this study followed reduced intensity conditioning, the increase in full donor T cell chimerism from three to six months reflected the longer period of mixed donor and recipient chimerism seen in these patients. No correlation between donor T cell chimerism at three months, six months and one year intervals post-transplant was demonstrated. Since falling donor T cell chimerism following allogeneic transplant can herald relapse, an inverse relationship between Treg numbers and donor chimerism might have been expected. Since no such relationship was observed this supports the finding that peripheral Tregs do not appear to influence disease progression during the first year post-transplant. It should be noted that any patient requiring DLI during the first year following transplant was removed from the allogeneic follow-up part of the study at the time of the first DL treatment.

When considering the variety of conditioning regimes, the choice of immunosuppressive therapies, the manipulation or otherwise of donor grafts and the diversity of markers used for measurement of Tregs, it is not surprising that there is inconsistency between reported studies examining the effects of Tregs on GVHD and outcome. This study has not found any significant links between peripheral Treg numbers and GVHD or disease outcome following allogeneic transplant.

7.0 Results - TNFR2 as an alternative marker to FoxP3

The investigation of the efficacy of TNFR2 as an alternative marker to FoxP3 for Treg enumeration

7.1 Introduction

The identification of a suitable surface marker to identify human Tregs is important for the quantitative identification and enrichment of viable Tregs for possible therapeutic use. Chen and co-workers demonstrated that co-expression of TNFR2 (CD120b) and CD25 identified the most suppressive sub-set of Tregs (Chen *et al*, 2010) raising the possibility that this may provide a suitable surface marker to identify and enumerate Tregs without the need for time-consuming fixation and permeabilisation of cells required for FoxP3 staining. This would make testing more amenable to routine immunophenotyping laboratories and reduce testing turn-around times. Since TNFR2 expression is observed in cells that are CD25^{high}, CD25^{low} and even cells that are CD25^{neg} the use of CD25 as an additional marker alongside TNFR2 is recommended to identify Tregs. Chen and colleagues demonstrated that more than 90% of human CD4+ CD25+ TNFR2+ cells were also FoxP3+.

7.2 Data expression

This study used Anti -TNFR2 in combination with Anti CD4 and Anti-CD25 to test 19 peripheral blood samples in parallel with the standard FoxP3 staining method to compare the efficacy of the novel marker. Post-transplant peripheral blood samples known to show high levels of FoxP3 Tregs were chosen for testing as harvest samples tend to have lower Treg/ml levels. Peripheral Tregs were expressed as Tregs x10^6/ml.

7.3 Results

Testing using a combination of Anti-CD3, Anti-CD4, Anti-CD25 and Anti-TNFR2 was easy and quick to perform. The results correlated closely with the results obtained using the standard FoxP3 staining method employed in this study (Figure 38(a)). Correlation between results was highly significant (p=<0.0001). Whereas correlation between results using both markers was strong in terms of relative levels of positive events, actual results were consistently and significantly different (p=0.001) with some results differing by as much as 80%. In all but two of 19 samples tested the Treg numbers obtained using the markerTNFR2 were higher than those obtained using FoxP3 (Figure 38(b)).




7.4 Discussion

The substitution of FoxP3 with Anti-TNFR2 used in combination with Anti-CD3, Anti-CD4, Anti-CD25 as a staining cocktail to identify and enumerate Tregs has the advantage of a significant reduction in the time required for preparation and staining. Anti-TNFR2 is a surface rather than intra-cellular marker.

The distribution of data obtained with Anti-TNFR2 correlated significantly with those obtained with the longer intracellular staining method but interestingly, the two methods do not produce comparable results. Chen and colleagues reported that the marker TNFR2 identifies the most suppressive subset of Tregs therefore it might be expected that numbers of Tregs identified by this staining method might be lower than those observed following FoxP3 staining. However, in the current study, Treg numbers identified by CD25 and TNFR2 were consistently significantly higher in 90% of the tested samples. Additionally, up-regulation of each of the markers CD25, FoxP3 and TNFR2 and down-regulation of CD127 have been reported to identify activated effector T cells as well as Tregs making TNFR2 as unreliable as FoxP3 in this respect. Indeed it is possible that TNFR2 identifies more activated T cells than FoxP3 leading to the higher results shown in this study.

Due to the typically low Treg numbers in harvested material, this methodology comparison utilised only peripheral blood samples from patients post-transplant. The use of TNFR2 suffers from the same lack of specificity with staining of activated effector cells as well as Tregs, but nonetheless the fact that this marker identifies the most suppressive Tregs may be interesting when considering clinical outcome and GVHD, and because of this might more clearly identify relationships between Treg numbers and clinical outcomes. The use of TNFR2 is clearly of interest however, further work would be required on a larger cohort of samples to validate the methodology.

8.0 Conclusions and further work

Understanding and harnessing the suppressive effects of Tregs in transplant patients presents a significant challenge, not least because of the diversity of results obtained by studies in this field. The conflicting observations demonstrate the difficulty in interpreting the wealth of data. Centre-specific factors such as disease mix, patient age, conditioning regimens, graft origin and manipulation, incidence and treatment of opportunistic infections and GVHD prophylaxis and treatment impede comparison between transplant centres and studies. This study set out to explore the influence of Tregs on clinical outcome in autologous and allogeneic patients at RMH. A major aim was to determine if routine Treg quantification - either in the graft or in the peripheral blood of patients post-transplant - could provide a useful predictor for disease relapse in autologous and allogeneic patients and falling chimerism and/or incidence of GVHD in the latter group. In order to gain an insight into the impact of Treg numbers they were quantified at various stages in the transplant process - the harvesting procedure, in transplant grafts and in the recipient's peripheral blood during immune reconstitution.

8.1 Summary of findings resulting from this study

8.1.1 The effect of mobilisation and HPC, A harvesting on Tregs

- In autologous patients, an overall increase in the absolute number of Tregs was noted in harvests mobilised by G-CSF plus Plerixafor compared to G-CSF alone and combined with cyclophosphamide although this difference did not attain significance. However a significant increase in the Treg: CD34 ratio was apparent. No link between Tregs in the grafts of autologous patients and relapse has been demonstrated within the one year follow-up period in this study. However, should an association between high Treg levels in grafts and subsequent later relapse be discovered, this increase in the Treg: CD34 ratio would be important and may indicate a case for the infusion of lower CD34 counts when using Plerixafor mobilised harvests.
- Autologous patient pre-apheresis peripheral Treg numbers do not predict the level of Tregs collected in the harvest therefore this testing would be irrelevant in the clinical setting.
- In autologous and allogeneic harvests, the number of Tregs collected in harvests is not affected by the day of harvesting which implies no selective depletion or enhancement of baseline levels by the actual harvesting process.
- In allogeneic harvests Treg numbers relative to CD3+ cells in those that have been collected following mobilisation with G-CSF, are significantly lower than in nonmobilised harvests. Cryopreservation of surplus allogeneic mobilised product for

potential use as DLI could be therefore be advantageous in terms of GVM but may have a negative impact on GVHD.

8.1.2 Tregs and clinical outcome in autologous grafts

Treg levels in the grafts of autologous transplant recipients do not influence disease outcome during the first year post-transplant. This is reassuring when considering the finding that use of Plerixafor as part of mobilisation regimen caused increased numbers of Tregs as a ratio of CD34+ cells to be collected in the harvests. More recent guidelines for use of Plerixafor have approved its use in pre-emptive and rescue settings when it can be used in cases of failed mobilisation. However, an association between Tregs in the graft and relapse measured over a longer time period than a year post-transplant should be excluded.

8.1.3 Tregs and clinical outcome in allogeneic grafts

- There is no correlation between graft Treg levels and subsequent donor/recipient chimerism status during the first year post-transplant.
- Patients with the highest incidence and severity of GVHD received grafts with the lowest Tregs/kg and absolute Treg numbers which is what might be expected, although this was not statistically significant.
- Although low Treg doses were associated with the most severe GVHD in the cohort studied, there was no correlation between Treg levels in the graft and relapse during the first year post-transplant. Given the fact that there is a reciprocal relationship between manageable GVHD and effective GVM effect, this result is surprising. A longer follow-up of patients would be required to eliminate any correlation between Tregs in the grafts and relapse at a later time point.
- There will be many factors at play in the incidence and occurrence of falling chimerism and relapse so assessment of Treg levels as a test in isolation may be of little value in this context. It may be of value to undertake multi-variant analysis of Treg levels and clinical outcome however this would be confounded by difficulty and validity of attempting to ascertain appropriate Treg level cut-off values.

8.1.4 Tregs in donor lymphocytes and clinical efficacy

 Lower absolute Treg numbers in DLI doses were found to be significantly associated with a successful DLI outcome in terms of restoration of donor chimerism and resolution of relapse. As this study has found Treg numbers in mobilised allogeneic harvests to be lower than in non-mobilised harvests the use of G-CSF mobilised products for DLI could be advantageous as these products may be conferring an enhanced GVM effect. The RMH practice of cryopreserving mobilised cells at the time of initial transplant for later use as DLI if required is therefore expedient in terms of both clinical outcome and cost. This finding has now been used to inform clinical practice in RMH.

It was noted that CD3+ cell dose, and indeed CD3:Treg ratios, did not influence the
outcome of DLI treatment. It is clinically accepted that higher CD3+ doses will produce a
more profound therapeutic effect in terms of inducing GVM and redressing falling
chimerism. Low numbers of patients receiving DLI in this study and follow up being
restricted to one year may have contributed to this result. In addition, a larger patient
cohort would enable data from those receiving DLI for either falling chimerism or
relapse to be interrogated separately.

8.1.5 Tregs during immune reconstitution post-autologous transplant

- Peripheral Tregs at one month post-transplant were considerably lower in patients who did not relapse during the first year post-transplant although this did not reach statistical significance. Since higher Treg levels may favour tumour tolerance this observation is interesting particularly as more aggressive malignant clones in higher risk patients would be expected to recover rapidly post-autograft at the expense of normal haematopoiesis. One of the limitations of this study was that patients were followed for one year post-transplant. Extending this follow-up time would be an interesting area of further study as it might demonstrate a significant relationship between Treg levels at one month post-transplant and subsequent disease relapse.
- Peripheral Tregs at other time points post-transplant did not correlate with disease relapse and therefore peripheral Treg level is not a useful predictive tool in this context. It is likely that peripheral blood Treg numbers do not accurately reflect the levels in the tumour micro-environment but difficulty in obtaining suitable samples makes this difficult to establish or to utilise in a routine clinical setting.

8.1.6 Tregs during immune reconstitution post-allogeneic transplant

- There was no correlation observed between peripheral Treg levels and chimerism status during the first year post-transplant.
- Similarly, no correlation was noted between peripheral Tregs and incidence and severity
 of GVHD during the first year post-transplant. This may be due to the timing of samples
 tested as it was not possible to obtain patient's peripheral blood samples for testing at
 the point of onset of GVHD. Some samples may have been tested after start of GVHD
 treatment and therefore this may have affected the results. Peripheral blood Treg levels

may not accurately reflect the numbers in GVHD target organs which may be of greater significance, however the more invasive nature of obtaining suitable samples makes this difficult to establish in large patient cohorts or to utilise in a routine clinical setting.

• This study found no correlation between the incidence of relapse during the first year post-transplant and peripheral Treg numbers. Peripheral blood Treg numbers may not reflect levels in the tumour micro-environment. Additionally one of the limitations of this study was that patients were followed for one year post-transplant. Extending this follow-up time would be an interesting area of further study.

8.1.7 Methodological considerations

- The use of flow cytometry to detect the Treg marker Foxp3 is both time consuming and expensive, especially in patients where overall lymphocyte numbers are very low. Using a combination of Treg markers enables more reproducible gating but increases cost and staining time.
- The lack of suitable FoxP3+ controls reduces the reliability of the test. Ideally, the use of a control would enable validation of methodology as individual patient samples are not of sufficient size and cellularity to be used for more than one or two tests.
- Routine Treg enumeration early post-transplant and during periods of lymphopoenia would necessitate larger volume samples than were available for this study.
- The use of the surface marker TNFR2 in combination with the other surface markers CD3, CD4 and CD25 suggest a promising and less time-consuming alternative to intracellular staining of FoxP3, but although results correlated significantly, they were not comparable. These markers are identifying different cell populations with TNFR2 being more prevalent on a more suppressive sub-population of Tregs. Only posttransplant peripheral blood samples were tested using anti-TNFR2 therefore further testing of a variety of harvested material would be required to validate the method which due to its simplicity would be more appropriate for routine testing.

8.2 Future work

- Consider testing a wider cohort of patients receiving DLI
- Confocal studies to visualise differences between staining methods
- Consider longer follow-up of patients post-transplant

9.0 Recommendations

The practice of limiting the infusion of CD34+ doses to 8.0×10^6 /kg in patients receiving allogeneic transplants is valid and should be continued.

The use of surplus mobilised product for DLI should continue and if possible be extended to include more patients. Not only does this method provide the benefits of quick access to DLI if required and considerable cost savings but it demonstrates better clinical outcomes than with the use of non-mobilised products.

References:

Abbas, A.K., Benoist, C., Bluestone, J.A., Campbell, D.J., Ghosh, S., Hori, S., Jiang, S., Kuchroo, V.K., Mathis, D., Roncarolo, M.G., Rudensky, A., Sakaguchi, S., Shevach, E.M., Vignali, D.A.A. and Ziegler, S.F. (2013) Regulatory T cells: recommendations to simplify the nomenclature. *Nature Immunology* [online]. 14 (4), pp.307-308.

Adeegbe, D.O. and Nishikawa, H. (2013) Natural and induced T regulatory cells in cancer. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 4 pp.190.

Akizuki, S., Mizorogi, F., Inoue, T., Sudo, K. and Ohnishi, A. (2000) Pharmacokinetics and adverse events following 5-day repeated administration of lenograstim, a recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, in healthy subjects. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 26 (9), pp.939-946.

Appelbaum, F.R. (2004) Bone marrow transplantation for leukaemia--current status and strategies for improvement. *Annals of the Academy of Medicine, Singapore* [online]. 33 (5), pp.S4.

Apperley, J.F., Jones, L., Hale, G., Waldmann, H., Hows, J., Rombos, Y., Tsatalas, C., Marcus, R.E., Goolden, A.W. and Gordon-Smith, E.C. (1986) Bone marrow transplantation for patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia: T-cell depletion with Campath-1 reduces the incidence of graft-versus-host disease but may increase the risk of leukaemic relapse. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 1 (1), pp.53.

Arimoto, K., Kadowaki, N., Ishikawa, T., Ichinohe, T. and Uchiyama, T. (2007) FOXP3 expression in peripheral blood rapidly recovers and lacks correlation with the occurrence of graft-versushost disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *International Journal of Hematology* [online]. 85 (2), pp.154-162.

Auer, R.L., Holtom, P., Smith, H., Fegan, C.D. and Milligan, D.W. (1998) Circulating CD34+ counts and apheresis planning. *Hematological Oncology* [online]. 16 (2), pp.69-75.

Bacigalupo, A. (2004) Third EBMT AMGEN Workshop on reduced-intensity conditioning allogeneic haemopoietic stem cell transplants (RIC-HSCT), and panel consensus. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]., 691.

Bacigalupo, A., Ballen, K., Rizzo, D., Giralt, S., Lazarus, H., Ho, V., Apperley, J., Slavin, S., Pasquini, M., Sandmaier, B.M., Barrett, J., Blaise, D., Lowski, R. and Horowitz, M. (2009) Defining the intensity of conditioning regimens: working definitions. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 15 (12), pp.1628-1633.

Baecher-Allan, C., Brown, J.A., Freeman, G.J. and Hafler, D.A. (2001) CD4 + CD25 high regulatory cells in human peripheral blood. *Journal of Immunology* [online]. 167 (3), pp.1245-1253.

Baron, F., Gothot, A., Salmon, J.P., Hermanne, J.P., Pierard, G.E., Fillet, G. and Beguin, Y. (2000) Clinical course and predictive factors for cyclosporin-induced autologous graft-versus-host disease after autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *British Journal of Haematology* [online]. 111 (3), pp.745-745. Baron, F., Baker, J.E., Storb, R., Gooley, T.A., Sandmaier, B.M., Maris, M.B., Maloney, D.G., Heimfeld, S., Oparin, D., Zellmer, E., Radich, J.P., Grumet, F.C., Blume, K.G., Chauncey, T.R. and Little, M. (2004) Kinetics of engraftment in patients with hematologic malignancies given allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation after nonmyeloablative conditioning. *Blood* [online]. 104 (8), pp.2254-2262.

Baron, F., Humblet-Baron, S., Ehx, G., Servais, S., Hannon, M., Belle, L., Lechanteur, C., Briquet, A., Giet, O., Baudoux, E., Willems, E. and Beguin, Y. (2014) Thinking out of the box--new approaches to controlling GVHD. *Current Hematologic Malignancy Reports* [online]. 9 (1), pp.73-84.

Bayer, A.L., Jones, M., Chirinos, J., de Armas, L., Schreiber, T.H., Malek, T.R. and Levy, R.B. (2009) Host CD4+CD25+ T cells can expand and comprise a major component of the Treg compartment after experimental HCT. *Blood* [online]. 113 (3), pp.733-743.

BDBiosciences (2000) Introduction to Flow Cytometry: A Learning Guide.

Bellucci, R., Alyea, E.P., Weller, E., Chillemi, A., Hochberg, E., Wu, C.J., Canning, C., Schlossman, R., Soiffer, R.J., Anderson, K.C. and Ritz, J. (2002) Immunologic effects of prophylactic donor lymphocyte infusion after allogeneic marrow transplantation for multiple myeloma. *Blood* [online]. 99 (12), pp.4610-4617.

Bensinger, W.I., Martin, P.J., Storer, B., Clift, R., Forman, S.J., Negrin, R., Kashyap, A., Flowers, M.E.D., Lilleby, K., Chauncey, T.R., Storb, R. and Appelbaum, F.R. (2001) Transplantation of Bone Marrow as Compared with Peripheral-Blood Cells from HLA-Identical Relatives in Patients with Hematologic Cancers. *The New England Journal of Medicine* [online]. 344 (3), pp.175-181.

Beres, A.J. and Drobyski, W.R. (2013) The role of regulatory T cells in the biology of graft versus host disease. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 4 pp.163.

Beyer, M. and Schultze, J.L. (2006) Regulatory T cells in cancer. *Blood* [online]. 108 (3), pp.804-811.

Bianchi, G. and Anderson, K.C. (2014) Understanding biology to tackle the disease: Multiple myeloma from bench to bedside, and back. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* [online]. 64 (6), pp.422-444.

Billingham, R.E. (1966) The biology of graft-versus-host reactions. *Harvey Lectures* [online]. 62 pp.21.

Bladon, J. and Taylor, P.C. (2006) Extracorporeal photopheresis: a focus on apoptosis and cytokines. *Journal of Dermatological Science* [online]. 43 (2), pp.85-94.

Blaise, D., Kuentz, M., Fortanier, C., Bourhis, J.H., Milpied, N., Sutton, L., Jouet, J., Attal, M., Bordigoni, P., Cahn, J., Boiron, J., Schuller, M., Moatti, J. and Michallet, M. (2000) Randomized Trial of Bone Marrow Versus Lenograstim-Primed Blood Cell Allogeneic Transplantation in Patients With Early-Stage Leukemia: A Report From the Societe Francaise de Greffe de Moelle. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* [online]. 18 (3), pp.537.

Blommestein, H.M., Verelst, S.G.R., Huijgens, P.C., Blijlevens, N.M.A., Cornelissen, J.J. and Uyl-de Groot, C.A. (2012) Real-world costs of autologous and allogeneic stem cell transplantations for haematological diseases: a multicentre study. *Annals of Hematology* [online]. 91 (12), pp.1945-1952.

Boccadoro, M., Palumbo, A., Bringhen, S., Merletti, F., Ciccone, G., Richiardi, L., Rus, C., Bertola, A., Giaccone, L., Omedè, P. and Musto, P. (2002) Oral melphalan at diagnosis hampers adequate collection of peripheral blood progenitor cells in multiple myeloma. *Haematologica* [online]. 87 (8), pp.846.

Booth, C., Lawson, S. and Veys, P. (2013) The current role of T cell depletion in paediatric stem cell transplantation. *British Journal of Haematology* [online]. 162 (2), pp.177-190.

Brandenburg, S., Takahashi, T., de, I.R., Janke, M., Karsten, G., Muzzulini, T., Orinska, Z., Bulfone-Paus, S. and Scheffold, A. (2008) IL-2 induces in vivo suppression by CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *European Journal of Immunology* [online]. 38 (6), pp.1643.

Bremm, M., Huenecke, S., Lehrnbecher, T., Ponstingl, E., Mueller, R., Heinze, A., Bug, G., Quaiser, A., Kapinsky, M., Brehm, C., Bader, P., Schneider, G., Klingebiel, T. and Koehl, U. (2011) Advanced flowcytometric analysis of regulatory T cells: CD127 downregulation early post stem cell transplantation and altered Treg/CD3 +CD4 +-ratio in severe GvHD or relapse. *Journal of Immunological Methods* [online]. 373 (1), pp.36-44.

Bruder, D., Probst-Kepper, M., Westendorf, A.M., Geffers, R., Beissert, S., Loser, K., von Boehmer, H., Buer, J. and Hansen, W. (2004) Neuropilin-1: a surface marker of regulatory T cells. *European Journal of Immunology* [online]. 34 (3), pp.623.

Bryson, J.S., Jennings, C.D., Lowery, D.M., Carlson, S.L., Pflugh, D.L., Caywood, B.E. and Kaplan, A.M. (1999) Rejection of an MHC class II negative tumor following induction of murine syngeneic graft-versus-host disease. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 23 (4), pp.363-372.

Burocchi, A., Colombo, M.P. and Piconese, S. (2013) Convergences and divergences of thymusand peripherally derived regulatory T cells in cancer. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 4 pp.247.

Buzzeo, M.P., Yang, J., Casella, G. and Reddy, V. (2007) Hematopoietic stem cell mobilization with G-CSF induces innate inflammation yet suppresses adaptive immune gene expression as revealed by microarray analysis. *Experimental Hematology* [online]. 35 (9), pp.1456-1465.

Byrne, J.L., Carter, G.I., Ellis, I., Haynes, A.P. and Russell, N.H. (1997) Autologous GVHD following PBSCT, with evidence for a graft-versus-myeloma effect. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 20 (6), pp.517-520.

Cao, X. (2010) Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance to tumors. *Immunologic Research* [online]. 46 (1), pp.79-93.

Cashen, A.F., Nervi, B. and DiPersio, J. (2007) AMD3100: CXCR4 antagonist and rapid stem cellmobilizing agent. *Future Oncology (London, England)* [online]. 3 (1), pp.19-27.

Cavo, M., Pantani, L., Petrucci, M.T., Patriarca, F., Zamagni, E., Donnarumma, D., Crippa, C., Boccadoro, M., Perrone, G., Falcone, A., Nozzoli, C., Zambello, R., Masini, L., Furlan, A., Brioli, A., Derudas, D., Ballanti, S., Dessanti, M.L., De Stefano, V., Carella, A.M., Marcatti, M., Nozza, A., Ferrara, F., Callea, V., Califano, C., Pezzi, A., Baraldi, A., Grasso, M., Musto, P., Palumbo, A. and GIMEMA (Gruppo Italiano Malattie Ematologiche dell'Adulto) Italian Myeloma Network (2012) Bortezomib-thalidomide-dexamethasone is superior to thalidomide-dexamethasone as consolidation therapy after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in patients with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. *Blood* [online]. 120 (1), pp.9. Chen, X., Subleski, J.J., Hamano, R., Howard, O.M.Z., Wiltrout, R.H. and Oppenheim, J.J. (2010) Co-expression of TNFR2 and CD25 identifies more of the functional CD4+FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in human peripheral blood. *European Journal of Immunology* [online]. 40 (4), pp.1099.

Clark, F.J., Gregg, R., Piper, K., Dunnion, D., Freeman, L., Griffiths, M., Begum, G., Mahendra, P., Craddock, C., Moss, P.A. and Chakraverty, R. (2003) Chronic graft-versus-host disease is associated with increased numbers of peripheral blood CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells. *Blood* [online]. pp.200306207.

Clave, E. (2014) Lenalidomide consolidation and maintenance therapy after autologous stem cell transplant for multiple myeloma induces persistent changes in T-cell homeostasis. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* [online]. 55 (8), pp.1788-1795.

Cohen, J.L., Trenado, A., Vasey, D., Klatzmann, D. and Salomon, B.L. (2002) CD4(+)CD25(+) immunoregulatory T Cells: new therapeutics for graft-versus-host disease. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 196 (3), pp.401-406.

Condomines, M., Quittet, P., Lu, Z., Nadal, L., Latry, P., Lopez, E., Baudard, M., Requirand, G., Duperray, C., Schved, J., Rossi, J., Tarte, K. and Klein, B. (2006) Functional Regulatory T Cells Are Collected in Stem Cell Autografts by Mobilization with High-Dose Cyclophosphamide and Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor. *The Journal of Immunology* [online]. 176 (11), pp.6631.

Cottler-Fox, M.H., Lapidot, T., Petit, I., Kollet, O., DiPersio, J.F., Link, D. and Devine, S. (2003) Stem cell mobilization. *Hematology / the Education Program of the American Society of Hematology.American Society of Hematology.Education Program* [online]. pp.419-437.

Couriel, D., Caldera, H., Champlin, R. and Komanduri, K. (2004) Acute graft-versus-host disease: pathophysiology, clinical manifestations, and management. *Cancer* [online]. 101 (9), pp.1936-1946.

Curiel, T.J. (2008) Regulatory T cells and treatment of cancer. *Current Opinion in Immunology* [online]. 20 (2), pp.241-246.

Curiel, T.J., Coukos, G., Zou, L., Alvarez, X., Cheng, P., Mottram, P., Evdemon-Hogan, M., Conejo-Garcia, J.R., Zhang, L., Burow, M., Zhu, Y., Wei, S., Kryczek, I., Daniel, B., Gordon, A., Myers, L., Lackner, A., Disis, M.L., Knutson, K.L., Chen, L. and Zou, W. (2004) Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nature Medicine* [online]. 10 (9), pp.942-949.

Curotto, d.L. and Lafaille, J.J. (2009) Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor? *Immunity* [online]. 30 (5), pp.626-635. doi:10.1016/j.2009.05.002

de, I.R., Rutz, S., Dorninger, H. and Scheffold, A. (2004) Interleukin-2 is essential for CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell function. *European Journal of Immunology* [online]. 34 (9), pp.2480-2488.

Demirkiran, A., Hendrikx, T.K., Baan, C.C. and van der Laan,Luc J W. (2008) Impact of immunosuppressive drugs on CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T cells: does in vitro evidence translate to the clinical setting? *Transplantation* [online]. 85 (6), pp.783.

Deol, A. and Lum, L.G. (2010) Role of donor lymphocyte infusions in relapsed hematological malignancies after stem cell transplantation revisited. *Cancer Treatment Reviews* [online]. 36 (7), pp.528-538.

Devine, S.M., Vij, R., Rettig, M., Todt, L., McGlauchlen, K., Fisher, N., Devine, H., Link, D.C., Calandra, G., Bridger, G., Westervelt, P. and Dipersio, J.F. (2008) Rapid mobilization of functional donor hematopoietic cells without G-CSF using AMD3100, an antagonist of the CXCR4/SDF-1 interaction. *Blood* [online]. 112 (4), pp.990-998.

Dey, B.R., McAfee, S., Colby, C., Sackstein, R., Saidman, S., Tarbell, N., Sachs, D.H., Sykes, M. and Spitzer, T.R. (2003) Impact of prophylactic donor leukocyte infusions on mixed chimerism, graft-versus-host disease, and antitumor response in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies treated with nonmyeloablative conditioning and allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 9 (5), pp.320-329.

Dhamne, C., Chung, Y., Alousi, A.M., Cooper, L.J.N. and Tran, D.Q. (2013) Peripheral and thymic foxp3(+) regulatory T cells in search of origin, distinction, and function. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 4 pp.253.

d'Hennezel, E., Yurchenko, E., Sgouroudis, E., Hay, V. and Piccirillo, C.A. (2011) Single-cell analysis of the human T regulatory population uncovers functional heterogeneity and instability within FOXP3+ cells. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)* [online]. 186 (12), pp.6788.

Diaconescu, R., Flowers, C.R., Storer, B., Sorror, M.L., Maris, M.B., Maloney, D.G., Sandmaier, B.M. and Storb, R. (2004) Morbidity and mortality with nonmyeloablative compared with myeloablative conditioning before hematopoietic cell transplantation from HLA-matched related donors. *Blood* [online]. 104 (5), pp.1550-1558.

Dieckmann, D., Plottner, H., Berchtold, S., Berger, T. and Schuler, G. (2001) Ex vivo isolation and characterization of CD4(+)CD25(+) T cells with regulatory properties from human blood. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 193 (11), pp.1303-1310.

Dignan, F.L., Clark, A., Amrolia, P., Cornish, J., Jackson, G., Mahendra, P., Scarisbrick, J.J., Taylor, P.C., Hadzic, N., Shaw, B.E., Potter, M.N., British Society for Blood and, Marrow Transplantation and Haemato-oncology Task Force of British Committee for Standards, in Haematology (2012) Diagnosis and management of acute graft-versus-host disease. *British Journal of Haematology* [online]. 158 (1), pp.30-45.

Dignan, F.L., Potter, M.N., Ethell, M.E., Taylor, M., Lewis, L., Brennan, J., McNamara, L., Evans, S.O., Riley, U., Davies, F.E., Dearden, C.E., Morgan, G.J. and Shaw, B.E. (2013) High readmission rates are associated with a significant economic burden and poor outcome in patients with grade III/IV acute GvHD. *Clinical Transplantation* [online]. 27 (1), pp.E56-E63.

DiPersio, J.F., Stadtmauer, E.A., Nademanee, A., Micallef, I.N.M., Stiff, P.J., Kaufman, J.L., Maziarz, R.T., Hosing, C., Fruehauf, S., Horwitz, M., Cooper, D., Bridger, G., Calandra, G., Investigators, 3. and Investigators, 3. (2009) Plerixafor and G-CSF versus placebo and G-CSF to mobilize hematopoietic stem cells for autologous stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple myeloma. *Blood* [online]. 113 (23), pp.5720.

Donahue, R.E., Jin, P., Bonifacino, A.C., Metzger, M.E., Ren, J., Wang, E. and Stroncek, D.F. (2009) Plerixafor (AMD3100) and granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) mobilize different CD34+ cell populations based on global gene and microRNA expression signatures. *Blood* [online]. 114 (12), pp.blood-2009-04-214403v1; 2541.

Douek, D.C., Vescio, R.A., Betts, M.R., Brenchley, J.M., Hill, B.J., Zhang, L., Berenson, J.R., Collins, R.H. and Koup, R.A. (2000) Assessment of thymic output in adults after haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation and prediction of T-cell reconstitution. *Lancet* [online]. 355 (9218), pp.1875.

Drobyski, W.R., Hari, P., Keever-Taylor, C., Komorowski, R. and Grossman, W., (2009) *Severe Autologous GVHD After Hematopoietic Progenitor Cell Transplantation for Multiple Myeloma* [online]. Report number: 43.Nature Publishing Group.

Dürr, C., Follo, M., Idzko, M., Reichardt, W. and Zeiser, R. (2012) Graft-versus-host disease reduces regulatory T-cell migration into the tumour tissue. *Immunology* [online]. 137 (1), pp.80-88.

Dwyer, K.M., Deaglio, S., Gao, W., Friedman, D., Strom, T.B. and Robson, S.C. (2007) CD39 and control of cellular immune responses. *Purinergic Signalling* [online]. 3 (1-2), pp.171-180.

Elkord, E. (2009) Frequency of human T regulatory cells in peripheral blood is significantly reduced by cryopreservation. *Journal of Immunological Methods* [online]. 347 (1-2), pp.87-90.

Elkord, E. and Al-Ramadi, B.K. (2012) Helios expression in FoxP3(+) T regulatory cells. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy* [online]. 12 (11), pp.1423-3.

Engelhardt, B.G., Sengsayadeth, S.M., Jagasia, M., Savani, B.N., Kassim, A.A., Lu, P., Shyr, Y., Yoder, S.M., Rock, M.T. and Crowe, J., James E. (2012) Tissue-specific regulatory T cells: biomarker for acute graft-vs-host disease and survival. *Experimental Hematology* [online]. 40 (12), pp.974-982.e1.

Favre, G., Beksaç, M., Bacigalupo, A., Ruutu, T., Nagler, A., Gluckman, E., Russell, N., Apperley, J., Szer, J., Bradstock, K., Buzyn, A., Matcham, J., Gratwohl, A., Schmitz, N. and European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) (2003) Differences between graft product and donor side effects following bone marrow or stem cell donation. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 32 (9), pp.873-880.

Ferrara, J.L., Levy, R. and Chao, N.J. (1999) Pathophysiologic mechanisms of acute graft-vs.-host disease. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 5 (6), pp.347-356.

Fidler, C., Klumpp, T., Mangan, K., Martin, M., Sharma, M., Emmons, R., Lu, M. and Kropf, P. (2012) Spontaneous graft versus host disease occurring in a patient with multiple myeloma after autologous stem cell transplant. *American Journal of Hematology* [online]. 87 (2), pp.219-221.

Flomenberg, N., Devine, S.M., DiPersio, J.F., Liesveld, J.L., McCarty, J.M., Rowley, S.D., Vesole, D.H., Badel, K. and Calandra, G. (2005) The use of AMD3100 plus G-CSF for autologous hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization is superior to G-CSF alone. *Blood* [online]. 106 (5), pp.1867-1874.

Fondi, C., Nozzoli, C., Benemei, S., Baroni, G., Saccardi, R., Guidi, S., Nicoletti, P., Bartolozzi, B., Pimpinelli, N., Santucci, M., Bosi, A. and Massi, D. (2009) Increase in FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in GVHD skin biopsies is associated with lower disease severity and treatment response. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 15 (8), pp.938-947.

Forgáčová, K. and Nečas, E. (2013) Availability of haematopoietic niches for transplanted stem cells. *Folia Biologica* [online]. 59 (1), pp.1.

Fowler, D.H. (2006) Shared biology of GVHD and GVT effects: Potential methods of separation. *Critical Reviews in Oncology and Hematology* [online]. 57 (3), pp.225-244.

Fox, B.C., Bignone, P.A., Brown, P.J. and Banham, A.H. (2008) Defense of the clone: antibody 259D effectively labels human FOXP3 in a variety of applications. *Blood* [online]. 111 (7), pp.3897-3899.

Fozza, C., Szydlo, R.M., Abdel-Rehim, M.M., Nadal, E., Goldman, J.M., Apperley, J.F. and Dazzi, F. (2007) Factors for graft-versus-host disease after donor lymphocyte infusions with an escalating dose regimen: lack of association with cell dose. *British Journal of Haematology* [online]. 136 (6), pp.833-833.

Fozza, C. and Dazzi, F. (2012) Regulatory T cells in stem cell transplantation: main characters or walk-on actors? *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology* [online]. 84 (1), pp.18-25.

Fry, T.J. and Mackall, C.L. (2005) Immune reconstitution following hematopoietic progenitor cell transplantation: challenges for the future. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 35 pp.S53-S57.

Fujioka, T., Tamaki, H., Ikegame, K., Yoshihara, S., Taniguchi, K., Kaida, K., Kato, R., Inoue, T., Nakata, J., Ishii, S., Soma, T., Okada, M. and Ogawa, H. (2013) Frequency of CD4(+)FOXP3(+) regulatory T-cells at early stages after HLA-mismatched allogeneic hematopoietic SCT predicts the incidence of acute GVHD. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 48 (6), pp.859.

Gallardo, D., de, I.C., Nieto, J.B., Espigado, I., Iriondo, A., Jiménez-Velasco, A., Vallejo, C., Martín, C., Caballero, D., Brunet, S., Serrano, D., Solano, C., Ribera, J.M., de, I.R. and Carreras, E. (2009) Is mobilized peripheral blood comparable with bone marrow as a source of hematopoietic stem cells for allogeneic transplantation from HLA-identical sibling donors? A case-control study. *Haematologica* [online]. 94 (9), pp.1282-1288.

Gatza, E., Rogers, C.E., Clouthier, S.G., Lowler, K.P., Tawara, I., Liu, C., Reddy, P. and Ferrara, J.L.M. (2008) Extracorporeal photopheresis reverses experimental graft-versus-host disease through regulatory T cells. *Blood* [online]. 112 (4), pp.blood-2007-11-125542v1; 1521.

Gaugler, B., Arbez, J., Legouill, S., Tiberghien, P., Moreau, P., Derenne, S., Saas, P. and Mohty, M. (2013) Characterization of peripheral blood stem cell grafts mobilized by granulocyte colonystimulating factor and plerixafor compared with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor alone. *Cytotherapy* [online]. 15 (7), pp.861.

Gershon, R.K. and Kondo, K. (1970) Cell interactions in the induction of tolerance: the role of thymic lymphocytes. *Immunology* [online]. 18 (5), pp.723-737.

Ghiringhelli, F., Ménard, C., Terme, M., Flament, C., Taieb, J., Chaput, N., Puig, P.E., Novault, S., Escudier, B., Vivier, E., Lecesne, A., Robert, C., Blay, J., Bernard, J., Caillat-Zucman, S., Freitas, A., Tursz, T., Wagner-Ballon, O., Capron, C., Vainchencker, W., Martin, F. and Zitvogel, L. (2005a) CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells inhibit natural killer cell functions in a transforming growth factor-beta-dependent manner. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 202 (8), pp.1075.

Ghiringhelli, F., Puig, P.E., Roux, S., Parcellier, A., Schmitt, E., Solary, E., Kroemer, G., Martin, F., Chauffert, B. and Zitvogel, L. (2005b) Tumor cells convert immature myeloid dendritic cells into TGF-beta-secreting cells inducing CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell proliferation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 202 (7), pp.919.

Glazier, A., Tutschka, P.J., Farmer, E.R. and Santos, G.W. (1983) Graft-versus-host disease in cyclosporin A-treated rats after syngeneic and autologous bone marrow reconstitution. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 158 (1), pp.1-8.

Gobert, M., Treilleux, I., Bendriss-Vermare, N., Bachelot, T., Goddard-Leon, S., Caux, C., Blay, J.Y. and Ménétrier-Caux, C. (2008) Regulatory T cells are recruited and activated within primary breast tumors with an adverse clinical outcome. *EJC Supplements* [online]. 6 (9), pp.162-163.

Goldman, J.M., Gale, R.P., Horowitz, M.M., Biggs, J.C., Champlin, R.E., Gluckman, E., Hoffmann, R.G., Jacobsen, S.J., Marmont, A.M. and McGlave, P.B. (1988) Bone marrow transplantation for chronic myelogenous leukemia in chronic phase. Increased risk for relapse associated with T-cell depletion. *Annals of Internal Medicine* [online]. 108 (6), pp.806.

Goldstein, J.D., Pérol, L., Zaragoza, B., Baeyens, A., Marodon, G. and Piaggio, E. (2013) Role of cytokines in thymus- versus peripherally derived-regulatory T cell differentiation and function. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 4 pp.155.

Gómez-Almaguer, D., Gómez-Peña, Á, Jaime-Pérez, J.C., Gómez-Guijosa, M.Á, Cantú-Rodríguez, O., Gutiérrez-Aguirre, H., Martínez-Cabriales, S.A., García-Rodríguez, F., Olguín-Ramírez, L.A., Salazar-Riojas, R. and Méndez-Ramírez, N. (2013) Higher doses of CD34+ progenitors are associated with improved overall survival without increasing GVHD in reduced intensity conditioning allogeneic transplant recipients with clinically advanced disease. *Journal of Clinical Apheresis* [online]. 28 (5), pp.349-355.

Grant, J., Bourcier, K., Wallace, S., Pan, D., Conway, A., Seyfert-Margolis, V. and Wallace, P.K. (2009) Validated protocol for FoxP3 reveals increased expression in type 1 diabetes patients. *Cytometry.Part B, Clinical Cytometry* [online]. 76 (2), pp.69-78.

Gratwohl, A., Baldomero, H., Passweg, J., Frassoni, F., Niederwieser, D., Schmitz, N. and Urbano-Ispizua, A. (2003) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for hematological malignancies in Europe. *Leukemia* [online]. 17 (5), pp.941-959.

Gratwohl, A. and Baldomero, H. (2009) Trends of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in the third millennium. *Current Opinion in Hematology* [online]. 16 (6), pp.420-426.

Greenbaum, A.M. and Link, D.C. (2010) Mechanisms of G-CSF-mediated hematopoietic stem and progenitor mobilization. *Leukemia* [online]. 25 (2), pp.211-217.

Greinix, H.T., Mitterbauer, M., Rabitsch, W., Worel, N., Just, U., Knobler, R. and Kalhs, P. (2013) New developments in acute graft-versus-host disease. *Memo - Magazine of European Medical Oncology* [online]. 6 (2), pp.98-101.

Guillaume, T., Gaugler, B., Chevallier, P., Delaunay, J., Ayari, S., Clavert, A., Rialland, F., Le Gouill, S., Blin, N., Gastinne, T., Mahé, B., Dubruille, V., Moreau, P. and Mohty, M. (2012) Escalated lymphodepletion followed by donor lymphocyte infusion can induce a graft-versus-host response without overwhelming toxicity. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 47 (8), pp.1112.

Guillaume, T., Rubinstein, D.B. and Symann, M. (1998) Immune Reconstitution and Immunotherapy After Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Blood* [online]. 92 (5), pp.1471.

Hakim, F.T., Memon, S.A., Cepeda, R., Jones, E.C., Chow, C.K., Kasten-Sportes, C., Odom, J., Vance, B.A., Christensen, B.L., Mackall, C.L. and Gress, R.E. (2005) Age-dependent incidence, time course, and consequences of thymic renewal in adults. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* [online]. 115 (4), pp.930-939.

Hartmann, O., Anne Gaelle, L.C., Blaise, D., Michon, J., Philip, I., Norol, F., Janvier, M., Jose, L.P., Marie, C.B., Rubie, H., Coze, C., Pinna, A., Meresse, V. and Benhamou, E. (1997) Peripheral Blood Stem Cell and Bone Marrow Transplantation for Solid Tumors and Lymphomas: Hematologic Recovery and Costs: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine* [online]. 126 (8), pp.600.

Hess, A.D. (2010) Reconstitution of self-tolerance after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Immunologic Research* [online]. 47 (1), pp.143-152.

Heylmann, D., Bauer, M., Becker, H., Gool, S.v., Bacher, N., Steinbrink, K. and Kaina, B. (2013) Human CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells Are Sensitive to Low Dose Cyclophosphamide: Implications for the Immune Response: e83384. *PLoS One* [online]. 8 (12), .

Hicheri, Y., Bouchekioua, A., Hamel, Y., Henry, A., Rouard, H., Pautas, C., Beaumont, J., Kuentz, M., Cordonnier, C., Cohen, J.L. and Maury, S. (2008) Donor regulatory T cells identified by FoxP3 expression but also by the membranous CD4+CD127low/neg phenotype influence graft-versus-tumor effect after donor lymphocyte infusion. *Journal of Immunotherapy (Hagerstown, Md.: 1997)* [online]. 31 (9), pp.806-811.

Hippen, K.L., Riley, J.L., June, C.H. and Blazar, B.R. (2011) Clinical perspectives for regulatory T cells in transplantation tolerance. *Seminars in Immunology* [online]. 23 (6), pp.462-468.

Hiwase, D.K., Hiwase, S., Bailey, M., Bollard, G. and Schwarer, A.P. (2008) Higher Infused Lymphocyte Dose Predicts Higher Lymphocyte Recovery, Which in Turn, Predicts Superior Overall Survival following Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation for Multiple Myeloma. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 14 (1), pp.116-124.

Hoffbrand, A.V. (2011) Postgraduate Haematology [online]. Wiley-Blackwell.

Hoffmann, P., Ermann, J., Edinger, M., Fathman, C.G. and Strober, S. (2002) Donor-type CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells suppress lethal acute graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 196 (3), pp.389-399.

Holtick, U., Marshall, S.R., Wang, X., Hilkens, C.M.U. and Dickinson, A.M. (2008) Impact of psoralen/UVA-treatment on survival, activation, and immunostimulatory capacity of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Transplantation* [online]. 85 (5), pp.757-766.

Hopman, R.K. and Dipersio, J.F. (2014) Advances in stem cell mobilization. *Blood Reviews* [online]. 28 (1), pp.31.

Ichihara, F., Kono, K., Takahashi, A., Kawaida, H., Sugai, H. and Fujii, H. (2003) Increased Populations of Regulatory T Cells in Peripheral Blood and Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Patients with Gastric and Esophageal Cancers. *Clinical Cancer Research* [online]. 9 (12), pp.4404.

Isaacs, J.D. and Thiel, A. (2004) Immune reconstitution. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Haematology* [online]. 17 (2), pp.345-358.

Jaksch, M. and Mattsson, J. (2005) The pathophysiology of acute graft-versus-host disease. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology* [online]. 61 (5), pp.398-409.

Anon. (2000) [online].

Kahl, C., Storer, B.E., Sandmaier, B.M., Mielcarek, M., Maris, M.B., Blume, K.G., Niederwieser, D., Chauncey, T.R., Forman, S.J., Agura, E., Leis, J.F., Bruno, B., Langston, A., Pulsipher, M.A., McSweeney, P.A., Wade, J.C., Epner, E., Bo Petersen, F., Bethge, W.A., Maloney, D.G. and Storb, R. (2007) Relapse risk in patients with malignant diseases given allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation after nonmyeloablative conditioning. *Blood* [online]. 110 (7), pp.2744-2748.

Kałwak, K., Porwolik, J., Mielcarek, M., Gorczyńska, E., Owoc-Lempach, J., Ussowicz, M., Dyla, A., Musiał, J., Paździor, D., Turkiewicz, D. and Chybicka, A. (2010) Higher CD34(+) and CD3(+) cell doses in the graft promote long-term survival, and have no impact on the incidence of severe acute or chronic graft-versus-host disease after in vivo T cell-depleted unrelated donor hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in children. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 16 (10), pp.1388-1401.

Kao, G., Stevenson, K., Kim, E., Spanjaard, E., Kim, H. and Ritz, J. (2010) Autologous Peripheral Blood Stem Cell Products from Patients with Hematologic Malignancies have Increased Frequency of Regulatory T Cells (CD4+FoxP3+ Treg). *50th ASH Annual Meeting*.

Karthick Raja Muthu Raja (2012) Induction by lenalidomide and dexamethasone combination increases regulatory cells of patients with previously untreated multiple myeloma. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* [online]. 53 (7), pp.1406-1408.

Kean, L.S., Sen, S., Onabajo, O., Singh, K., Robertson, J., Stempora, L., Bonifacino, A.C., Metzger, M.E., Promislow, D.E.L., Mattapallil, J.J. and Donahue, R.E. (2011) Significant mobilization of both conventional and regulatory T cells with AMD3100. *Blood* [online]. 118 (25), pp.6580-6590.

Kebriaei, P. and Robinson, S. (2011) Treatment of graft-versus-host-disease with mesenchymal stromal cells. *Cytotherapy* [online]. 13 (3), pp.262.

Kessinger, A., Armitage, J.O., Landmark, J.D., Smith, D.M. and Weisenburger, D.D. (1988) Autologous peripheral hematopoietic stem cell transplantation restores hematopoietic function following marrow ablative therapy. *Blood* [online]. 71 (3), pp.723.

Kline, J., Subbiah, S., Lazarus, H.M. and van Besien, K. (2008) Autologous graft-versus-host disease: harnessing anti-tumor immunity through impaired self-tolerance. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 41 (6), pp.505-513.

Ko, H., Kim, Y., Kim, Y., Chang, W., Ko, S., Chang, S., Sakaguchi, S. and Kang, C. (2007) A combination of chemoimmunotherapies can efficiently break self-tolerance and induce antitumor immunity in a tolerogenic murine tumor model. *Cancer Research* [online]. 67 (15), pp.7477-7486.

Ko, K., Yamazaki, S., Nakamura, K., Nishioka, T., Hirota, K., Yamaguchi, T., Shimizu, J., Nomura, T., Chiba, T. and Sakaguchi, S. (2012) Treatment of advanced tumors with agonistic anti-GITR mAb and its effects on tumor-infiltrating Foxp3+CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 209 (2), pp.423-423.

Kolb, H.J., Günther, W., Schumm, M., Holler, E., Wilmanns, W. and Thierfelder, S. (1997) Adoptive immunotherapy in canine chimeras. *Transplantation* [online]. 63 (3), pp.430.

Kolb, H.J., Mittermüller, J., Clemm, C., Holler, E., Ledderose, G., Brehm, G., Heim, M. and Wilmanns, W. (1990) Donor leukocyte transfusions for treatment of recurrent chronic myelogenous leukemia in marrow transplant patients. *Blood* [online]. 76 (12), pp.2462.

Kolb, H.J., Schattenberg, A., Goldman, J.M., Hertenstein, B., Jacobsen, N., Arcese, W., Ljungman, P., Ferrant, A., Verdonck, L., Niederwieser, D., van Rhee, F., Mittermueller, J., de Witte, T., Holler, E., Ansari, H. and European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation Working Party, Chronic Leukemia (1995) Graft-versus-leukemia effect of donor lymphocyte transfusions in marrow grafted patients. *Blood* [online]. 86 (5), pp.2041.

Kolb, H. (2008) Graft-versus-leukemia effects of transplantation and donor lymphocytes. *Blood* [online]. 112 (12), pp.4371-4383.

Komatsu, N., Mariotti-Ferrandiz, M.E., Wang, Y., Malissen, B., Waldmann, H., Hori, S. and Bevan, M.J. (2009) Heterogeneity of Natural Foxp3⁺ T Cells: A Committed Regulatory T-Cell Lineage and an Uncommitted Minor Population Retaining Plasticity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* [online]. 106 (6), pp.1903-1908.

Krishnamurthy, P., Potter, V.T., Barber, L.D., Kulasekararaj, A.G., Lim, Z.Y., Pearce, R.M., de Lavallade, H., Kenyon, M., Ireland, R.M., Marsh, J.C.W., Devereux, S., Pagliuca, A. and Mufti, G.J. (2013) Outcome of donor lymphocyte infusion after T cell-depleted allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for acute myelogenous leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 19 (4), pp.562-568.

Kumar, S., Dispenzieri, A., Lacy, M.Q., Hayman, S.R., Buadi, F.K., Gastineau, D.A., Litzow, M.R., Fonseca, R., Roy, V., Rajkumar, S.V. and Gertz, M.A. (2007) Impact of lenalidomide therapy on stem cell mobilization and engraftment post-peripheral blood stem cell transplantation in patients with newly diagnosed myeloma. *Leukemia* [online]. 21 (9), pp.2035-2042.

Lages, C.S., Suffia, I., Velilla, P.A., Huang, B., Warshaw, G., Hildeman, D.A., Belkaid, Y. and Chougnet, C. (2008) Functional Regulatory T Cells Accumulate in Aged Hosts and Promote Chronic Infectious Disease Reactivation. *The Journal of Immunology* [online]. 181 (3), pp.1835.

Lamioni, A., Parisi, F., Isacchi, G., Giorda, E., Di Cesare, S., Landolfo, A., Cenci, F., Bottazzo, G.F. and Carsetti, R. (2005) The immunological effects of extracorporeal photopheresis unraveled: induction of tolerogenic dendritic cells in vitro and regulatory T cells in vivo. *Transplantation* [online]. 79 (7), pp.846-850.

Lane, T.A., Bashey, A., Carrier, E., Holman, P., Castro, J., Mullen, M., Ward, D.M., Ada, O. and Ball, E.D. (2004) Improving the efficiency of PBPC collection by pre-apheresis peripheral blood and mid-apheresis product measurements of CD34 cells. *Cytotherapy* [online]. 6 (4), pp.318-327.

Lanza, F. (2009) Toward standardization of Foxp3+ regulatory T-cell measurement in clinical settings. *Cytometry.Part B, Clinical Cytometry* [online]. 76 (2), pp.67-68.

Law, J.P., Hirschkorn, D.F., Owen, R.E., Biswas, H.H., Norris, P.J. and Lanteri, M.C. (2009) The importance of Foxp3 antibody and fixation/permeabilization buffer combinations in identifying CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Cytometry.Part A : The Journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology* [online]. 75 (12), pp.1040-1050.

Le, N.T. and Chao, N. (2007) Regulating regulatory T cells. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 39 (1), pp.1-9.

Lemoli, R.M. and D'Addio, A. (2008) Hematopoietic stem cell mobilization. *Haematologica* [online]. 93 (3), pp.321-324.

Li, Q., Zhai, Z., Xu, X., Shen, Y., Zhang, A., Sun, Z., Liu, H., Geng, L. and Wang, Y. (2010) Decrease of CD4 +CD25 + regulatory T cells and TGF- β at early immune reconstitution is associated to the onset and severity of graft-versus-host disease following allogeneic haematogenesis stem cell transplantation. *Leukemia Research* [online]. 34 (9), pp.1158-1168.

Lickliter, J.D., Begley, C.G., Boyd, A.W., Szer, J. and Grigg, A.P. (1994) Combined chemotherapy and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) mobilise large numbers of peripheral blood progenitor cells in pretreated patients. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* [online]. 15 (1-2), pp.91-97.

Liga, M., Triantafyllou, E., Tiniakou, M., Lambropoulou, P., Karakantza, M., Zoumbos, N.C. and Spyridonidis, A. (2012) High alloreactivity of low dose prophylactic donor lymphocyte infusions in acute leukemia patients transplanted with alemtuzumab. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online].

Liu, V.C., Wong, L.Y., Jang, T., Shah, A.H., Park, I., Yang, X., Zhang, Q., Lonning, S., Teicher, B.A. and Lee, C. (2007) Tumor Evasion of the Immune System by Converting CD4+CD25- T Cells into CD4+CD25+ T Regulatory Cells: Role of Tumor-Derived TGF-beta. *The Journal of Immunology* [online]. 178 (5), pp.2883.

Liu, W., Putnam, A.L., Xu-Yu, Z., Szot, G.L., Lee, M.R., Zhu, S., Gottlieb, P.A., Kapranov, P., Gingeras, T.R., Fazekas de, S.G., Clayberger, C., Soper, D.M., Ziegler, S.F. and Bluestone, J.A. (2006) CD127 expression inversely correlates with FoxP3 and suppressive function of human CD4+ T reg cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 203 (7), pp.1701-1711.

Liyanage, U.K., Goedegebuure, P.S., Moore, T.T., Viehl, C.T., Moo-Young, T.A., Larson, J.W., Frey, D.M., Ehlers, J.P., Eberlein, T.J. and Linehan, D.C. (2006) Increased prevalence of regulatory T cells (Treg) is induced by pancreas adenocarcinoma. *Journal of Immunotherapy (Hagerstown, Md.: 1997)* [online]. 29 (4), pp.416-424.

Ljungman, P., Bregni, M., Brune, M., Cornelissen, J., Witte, T.d., Dini, G., Einsele, H., Gaspar, H.B., Gratwohl, A., Passweg, J., Peters, C., Rocha, V., Saccardi, R., Schouten, H., Sureda, A., Tichelli, A., Velardi, A. and Niederwieser, D. (2010) Allogeneic and autologous transplantation for haematological diseases, solid tumours and immune disorders: current practice in Europe 2009. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 45 (2), pp.219-234.

Lord, J.D., Hackman, R.C., Gooley, T.A., Wood, B.L., Moklebust, A.C., Hockenbery, D.M., Steinbach, G., Ziegler, S.F. and McDonald, G.B. (2011) Blood and gastric FOXP3+ T cells are not decreased in human gastric graft-versus-host disease. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 17 (4), pp.486-496.

Lowdell, M.W. (2003) Natural killer cells in haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Transfusion Medicine (Oxford, England)* [online]. 13 (6), pp.399-404.

Lutsiak, M.E.C., Semnani, R.T., De Pascalis, R., Kashmiri, S.V.S., Schlom, J. and Sabzevari, H. (2005) Inhibition of CD4+25+ T regulatory cell function implicated in enhanced immune response by low-dose cyclophosphamide. *Blood* [online]. 105 (7), pp.2862-2868.

M, S., M, L. and S, I. (2013) Novel conditioning regimens for bone marrow transplantation. *Blood* and Lymphatic Cancer : Targets and Therapy [online]. 2013 pp.1-9.

Mackall, C., Fry, T., Gress, R., Peggs, K., Storek, J. and Toubert, A. (2009) Background to hematopoietic cell transplantation, including post transplant immune recovery. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 44 (8), pp.457-462.

Magenau, J.M., Qin, X., Tawara, I., Rogers, C.E., Kitko, C., Schlough, M., Bickley, D., Braun, T.M., Jang, P., Lowler, K.P., Jones, D.M., Choi, S.W., Reddy, P., Mineishi, S., Levine, J.E., Ferrara, J.L.M. and Paczesny, S. (2010) Frequency of CD4(+)CD25(hi)FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells has diagnostic and prognostic value as a biomarker for acute graft-versus-host-disease. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 16 (7), pp.907.

Marmont, A.M., Horowitz, M.M., Gale, R.P., Sobocinski, K., Ash, R.C., van Bekkum, D.W., Champlin, R.E., Dicke, K.A., Goldman, J.M. and Good, R.A. (1991) T-cell depletion of HLA-identical transplants in leukemia. *Blood* [online]. 78 (8), pp.2120.

Marshall, S.R. (2006) Technology Insight: ECP for the treatment of GvHD-can we offer selective immune control without generalized immunosuppression? *Nature Clinical Practice Oncology* [online]. 3 (6), pp.302-314.

Martino, R., Caballero, M.D., Canals, C., Simón, J.A., Solano, C., Urbano-Ispízua, A., Bargay, J., Rayón, C., Léon, A., Sarrá, J., Odriozola, J., Conde, J.G., Sierra, J., San Miguel, J., Group GEL-TAMO, for the ALLOPBSCT subcommittee of the Spanish Group for Haematopoietic Transplantation (GETH) and the Group GEL-TAMO and ALLOPBSCT Subcommittee of the Spanish Group for Haematopoietic Transplantation (GETH) (2001) Allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation with reduced-intensity conditioning: results of a prospective multicentre study. *British Journal of Haematology* [online]. 115 (3), pp.653-659.

Martino, R., Caballero, M.D., Pérez-Simón, J.A., Simón, J., Antonio P., Canals, C., Solano, C., Urbano-Ispízua, A., Bargay, J., Léon, A., Sarrá, J., Sanz, G.F., Moraleda, J.M., Brunet, S., San Miguel, J., Sierra, J. and AML and alloPBSCT Subcommittees of the Spanish Group for, Hematopoietic Transplantation (2002) Evidence for a graft-versus-leukemia effect after allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation with reduced-intensity conditioning in acute myelogenous leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. *Blood* [online]. 100 (6), pp.2243-2245.

Matsuoka, K., Kim, H.T., McDonough, S., Bascug, G., Warshauer, B., Koreth, J., Cutler, C., Ho, V.T., Alyea, E.P., Antin, J.H., Soiffer, R.J. and Ritz, J. (2010) Altered regulatory T cell homeostasis in patients with CD4+ lymphopenia following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* [online]. 120 (5), pp.1479-1493.

Matthews, K., Lim, Z., Afzali, B., Pearce, L., Abdallah, A., Kordasti, S., Pagliuca, A., Lombardi, G., Madrigal, J.A., Mufti, G.J. and Barber, L.D. (2009) Imbalance of effector and regulatory CD4 T cells is associated with graft-versus-host disease after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation using a reduced intensity conditioning regimen and alemtuzumab. *Haematologica* [online]. 94 (7), pp.956-966.

Maury, S., Lemoine, F.M., Hicheri, Y., Rosenzwajg, M., Badoual, C., Cheraï, M., Beaumont, J., Azar, N., Dhedin, N., Sirvent, A., Buzyn, A., Rubio, M., Vigouroux, S., Montagne, O., Bories, D., Roudot-Thoraval, F., Vernant, J., Cordonnier, C., Klatzmann, D. and Cohen, J.L. (2010) CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell depletion improves the graft-versus-tumor effect of donor lymphocytes after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Science Translational Medicine* [online]. 2 (41), pp.41ra52-41ra52.

Mazumder, A., Kaufman, J., Niesvizky, R., Lonial, S., Vesole, D. and Jagannath, S. (2008) Effect of lenalidomide therapy on mobilization of peripheral blood stem cells in previously untreated multiple myeloma patients. *Leukemia* [online]. 22 (6), pp.1280-1281.

McIver, Z., Melenhorst, J.J., Wu, C., Grim, A., Ito, S., Cho, I., Hensel, N., Battiwalla, M. and Barrett, A.J. (2013) Donor lymphocyte count and thymic activity predict lymphocyte recovery and outcomes after matched-sibling hematopoietic stem cell transplant. *Haematologica* [online]. 98 (3), pp.346.

Mehta, J. (2009) Optimizing the CD34 + cell dose for reduced-intensity allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* [online]. 50 (9), pp.1434-1441.

Michael, M., Shimoni, A. and Nagler, A. (2013) Regulatory T cells in allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Clinical & Developmental Immunology* [online]. 2013 pp.608951.

Mielcarek, M., Sandmaier, B.M., Maloney, D.G., Maris, M., McSweeney, P.A., Woolfrey, A., Chauncey, T., Feinstein, L., Niederwieser, D., Blume, K.G., Forman, S., Torok-Storb, B. and Storb, R. (2002) Nonmyeloablative hematopoietic cell transplantation: status quo and future perspectives. *Journal of Clinical Immunology* [online]. 22 (2), pp.70-74.

Mielke, S., Rezvani, K., Savani, B.N., Nunes, R., Yong, A.S.M., Schindler, J., Kurlander, R., Ghetie, V., Read, E.J., Solomon, S.R., Vitetta, E.S. and Barrett, A.J. (2007) Reconstitution of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells (Tregs) after CD25-depleted allotransplantion in elderly patients and association with acute graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* [online]. 110 (5), pp.1689-1697.

Miller, J.S., Weisdorf, D.J., Burns, L.J., Slungaard, A., Wagner, J.E., Verneris, M.R., Cooley, S., Wangen, R., Fautsch, S.K., Nicklow, R., DeFor, T. and Blazar, B.R. (2007) Lymphodepletion followed by donor lymphocyte infusion (DLI) causes significantly more acute graft-versus-host disease than DLI alone. *Blood* [online]. 110 (7), pp.2761-2763.

Mirmonsef, P., Tan, G., Zhou, G., Morino, T., Noonan, K., Borrello, I. and Levitsky, H.I. (2008) Escape from suppression: tumor-specific effector cells outcompete regulatory T cells following stem-cell transplantation. *Blood* [online]. 111 (4), pp.2112-2121.

Miura, Y., Thoburn, C.J., Bright, E.C., Phelps, M.L., Shin, T., Matsui, E.C., Matsui, W.H., Arai, S., Fuchs, E.J., Vogelsang, G.B., Jones, R.J. and Hess, A.D. (2004) Association of Foxp3 regulatory gene expression with graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* [online]. 104 (7), pp.2187-2193.

Miyara, M. and Sakaguchi, S. (2011) Human FoxP3 CD4 regulatory T cells: their knowns and unknowns. *Immunology and Cell Biology* [online]. 89 (3), pp.346-351.

Miyara, M. and Sakaguchi, S. (2007) Natural regulatory T cells: mechanisms of suppression. *Trends in Molecular Medicine* [online]. 13 (3), pp.108-116.

Mohty, M., Bilger, K., Jourdan, E., Kuentz, M., Michallet, M., Bourhis, J.H., Milpied, N., Sutton, L., Jouet, J.P., Attal, M., Bordigoni, P., Cahn, J.Y., Sadoun, A., Ifrah, N., Guyotat, D., Faucher, C., Fegueux, N., Reiffers, J., Maraninchi, D. and Blaise, D. (2003) Higher doses of CD34+ peripheral blood stem cells are associated with increased mortality from chronic graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic HLA-identical sibling transplantation. *Leukemia* [online]. 17 (5), pp.869-875.

Nadal, E., Kaeda, J., Apperley, J.F., Lechler, R. and Dazzi, F. (2007) 33: Increased CD4+CD25high+ regulatory T-cell are associated with disease relapse after allogeneic stem cell transplantation (SCT) for chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML). *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 13 (2), pp.15-15.

Nagai, H., Horikawa, T., Hara, I., Fukunaga, A., Oniki, S., Oka, M., Nishigori, C. and Ichihashi, M. (2004) In vivo elimination of CD25+ regulatory T cells leads to tumor rejection of B16F10

melanoma, when combined with interleukin-12 gene transfer. *Experimental Dermatology* [online]. 13 (10), pp.613-620.

Nikiforow, S., Kim, H., Kao, G., Sainvil, M., McDonough, S.M., Armand, P., Ho, V.T., Alyea, E.P., Cutler, C., Ritz, J., Antin, J.H., Soiffer, R.J. and Koreth, J. (2013) CD25+ Regulatory T CELL-Depleted Donor Lymphocyte Infusion for Relapse After Allogeneic Transplantation – A PHASE 1 Study. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 19 (2), pp.S135-S136.

Noël, G., Bruniquel, D., DeGuibert, S., Birebent, B., Grosset, J., Bernard, M., Dauriac, C., Lamy-dela-Chapelle, T., Semana, G. and Brinster, C. (2008) Regulatory CD4+CD25hi T cells conserve their function and phenotype after granulocyte colony-stimulating factor treatment in human hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Human Immunology* [online]. 69 (6), pp.329-337.

Ondondo, B.O. (2014) Fallen angels or risen apes? A tale of the intricate complexities of imbalanced immune responses in the pathogenesis and progression of immune-mediated and viral cancers. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 5 pp.90.

Ondondo, B., Jones, E., Godkin, A. and Gallimore, A. (2013) Home sweet home: the tumor microenvironment as a haven for regulatory T cells. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 4 pp.197.

Onizuka, S., Tawara, I., Shimizu, J., Sakaguchi, S., Fujita, T. and Nakayama, E. (1999) Tumor rejection by in vivo administration of anti-CD25 (interleukin-2 receptor alpha) monoclonal antibody. *Cancer Research* [online]. 59 (13), pp.3128.

Oostvogels, R., Minnema, M.C., van Elk, M., Spaapen, R.M., te Raa, G.D., Giovannone, B., Buijs, A., van Baarle, D., Kater, A.P., Griffioen, M., Spierings, E., Lokhorst, H.M. and Mutis, T. (2013) Towards effective and safe immunotherapy after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: identification of hematopoietic-specific minor histocompatibility antigen UTA2-1. *Leukemia* [online]. 27 (3), pp.642-649.

Pabst, C., Schirutschke, H., Ehninger, G., Bornhäuser, M. and Platzbecker, U. (2007) The graft content of donor T cells expressing gamma delta TCR+ and CD4+foxp3+ predicts the risk of acute graft versus host disease after transplantation of allogeneic peripheral blood stem cells from unrelated donors. *Clinical Cancer Research : An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* [online]. 13 (10), pp.2916.

Pandiyan, P. and Lenardo, M.J. (2008) The control of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell survival. *Biology Direct* [online]. 3 (1), pp.6-6.

Pandiyan, P., Zheng, L. and Lenardo, M.J. (2011) The molecular mechanisms of regulatory T cell immunosuppression. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 2 pp.60.

Passweg, J.R., Baldomero, H., Bregni, M., Cesaro, S., Dreger, P., Duarte, R.F., Falkenburg, J.H.F., Kröger, N., Farge-Bancel, D., Gaspar, H.B., Marsh, J., Mohty, M., Peters, C., Sureda, A., Velardi, A., Ruiz de Elvira, C., Madrigal, A. and European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (2013) Hematopoietic SCT in Europe: data and trends in 2011. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 48 (9), pp.1161.

Pastore, D., Delia, M., Mestice, A., Carluccio, P., Perrone, T., Gaudio, F., Curci, P., Rossi, A.R., Ricco, A. and Specchia, G. (2011) CD3+/Tregs ratio in donor grafts is linked to acute graft-versushost disease and immunologic recovery after allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 18 (6), pp.887. Pelus, L.M. (2008) Peripheral blood stem cell mobilization: new regimens, new cells, where do we stand. *Current Opinion in Hematology* [online]. 15 (4), pp.285-292.

Perez-Garcia, A., Cabezudo, E., Lopez-Jimenez, J., Marugan, I., Peralta, T., Arnan, M., Ramos-Oliva, P., Benet, I., Lopez, S., Mestre, M., Odriozola, J., Solano, C. and Duarte, R.F. (2009) Immune Reconstitution Of Regulatory T-Cells Following Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 15 (2), pp.140-140.

Perez-Simon, J.A., Diez-Campelo, M., Martino, R., Sureda, A., Caballero, D., Canizo, C., Brunet, S., Altes, A., Vazquez, L., Sierra, J. and Miguel, J.F.S. (2003) Impact of CD34+ cell dose on the outcome of patients undergoing reduced-intensity-conditioning allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. *Blood* [online]. 102 (3), pp.1108-1113.

Piccirillo, C.A. (2010) Treg's alter ego: an accessory in tumor killing. *Immunity* [online]. 33 (6), pp.838-840.

Pillai, V. and Karandikar, N.J. (2007) Attack on the clones? Human FOXP3 detection by PCH101, 236A/E7, 206D, and 259D reveals 259D as the outlier with lower sensitivity. *Blood* [online]. 111 (1), pp.463-464.

Pillai, V., Ortega, S.B., Wang, C.K. and Karandikar, N.J. (2007) Transient regulatory T-cells: A state attained by all activated human T-cells. *Clinical Immunology* [online]. 123 (1), pp.18-29.

Pini, E., Ojeda, G. and Portolés, P. (2007) The renaissance of T regulatory cells: Looking for markers in a haystack. *Inmunología* [online]. 26 (2), pp.100-107.

Porrata, L.F. and Markovic, S.N. (2004) Timely reconstitution of immune competence affects clinical outcome following autologous stem cell transplantation. *Clinical and Experimental Medicine* [online]. 4 (2), pp.78-85.

Porrata, L.F., Litzow, M.R. and Markovic, S.N. (2001) Immune Reconstitution After Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* [online]. 76 (4), pp.407-412.

Potter, M. and Kerridge, I. (2004) Bone marrow and stem cell transplantation. *Medicine* [online]. 32 (6), pp.46-49.

Povoleri, G.A.M., Scottà, C., Nova-Lamperti, E.A., John, S., Lombardi, G. and Afzali, B. (2013) Thymic versus induced regulatory T cells - who regulates the regulators? *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 4 pp.169.

Przepiorka, D., Smith, T.L., Folloder, J., Khouri, I., Ueno, N.T., Mehra, R., Körbling, M., Huh, Y.O., Giralt, S., Gajewski, J., Donato, M., Cleary, K., Claxton, D., Braunschweig, I., van Besien, K., Andersson, B.S., Anderlini, P. and Champlin, R. (1999) Risk factors for acute graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic blood stem cell transplantation. *Blood* [online]. 94 (4), pp.1465-1470.

Raiola, A.M., Van Lint, M.T., Valbonesi, M., Lamparelli, T., Gualandi, F., Occhini, D., Bregante, S., di Grazia, C., Dominietto, A., Soracco, M., Romagnani, C., Vassallo, F., Casini, M., Bruno, B., Frassoni, F. and Bacigalupo, A. (2003) Factors predicting response and graft-versus-host disease after donor lymphocyte infusions: a study on 593 infusions. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 31 (8), pp.687-693.

Ramsdell, F. (2003) Foxp3 and Natural Regulatory T CellsKey to a Cell Lineage? *Immunity* [online]. 19 (2), pp.165-168.

Recker, K., Fuerst, D., Schrezenmeier, H. and Mytilineos, J. (2011) Effects of Minor Histocompatibility Antigen Mismatches on Clinical Outcome After Unrelated Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (HSCT) in 320 Recipients and Their Unrelated Donors – a Multivariate Analysis. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 17 (2), pp.S155-S155.

Reddy, P., Arora, M., Guimond, M. and Mackall, C.L. (2009) GVHD: a continuing barrier to the safety of allogeneic transplantation. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation : Journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 15 (1), pp.162-168.

Rezvani, K., Mielke, S., Ahmadzadeh, M., Kilical, Y., Savani, B.N., Zeilah, J., Keyvanfar, K., Montero, A., Hensel, N., Kurlander, R. and Barrett, A.J. (2006) High donor Foxp3-positive regulatory T-cell (TREG) content is associated with a low risk of GVHD following HLA-matched allogeneic stem cell transplantation (SCT). *Blood* [online]. pp.blood-2006-02-003996v1.

Rieger, K., Loddenkemper, C., Maul, J., Fietz, T., Wolff, D., Terpe, H., Steiner, B., Berg, E., Miehlke, S., Bornhäuser, M., Schneider, T., Zeitz, M., Stein, H., Thiel, E., Duchmann, R. and Uharek, L. (2006) Mucosal FOXP3+ regulatory T cells are numerically deficient in acute and chronic GvHD. *Blood* [online]. 107 (4), pp.1717-1723.

Riley, J.L., June, C.H. and Blazar, B.R. (2009) Human T Regulatory Cell Therapy: Take a Billion or So and Call Me in the Morning. *Immunity* [online]. 30 (5), pp.656-665.

Roddie, C. and Peggs, K.S. (2011) Donor lymphocyte infusion following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy* [online]. 11 (4), pp.473-487.

Rowley, S.D., Yu, J., Gooley, T., Heimfeld, S., Holmberg, L., Maloney, D. and Bensinger, W.I. (2001) Trafficking of CD34+ cells into the peripheral circulation during collection of peripheral blood stem cells by apheresis. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 28 (7), pp.649-656.

Rutella, S. (2007) Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor for the induction of T-cell tolerance. *Transplantation* [online]. 84 (1), pp.S26-S30.

Rutella, S., Zavala, F., Danese, S., Kared, H. and Leone, G. (2005) Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor: a novel mediator of T cell tolerance. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)* [online]. 175 (11), pp.7085.

Sakaguchi, S. (2003) The origin of FOXP3-expressing CD4+ regulatory T cells: thymus or periphery. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* [online]. 112 (9), pp.1310-1312.

Sakaguchi, S., Wing, K., Onishi, Y., Prieto-Martin, P. and Yamaguchi, T. (2009) Regulatory T cells: how do they suppress immune responses? *International Immunology* [online]. 21 (10), pp.1105-1111.

Salama, P., Phillips, M., Grieu, F., Morris, M., Zeps, N., Joseph, D., Platell, C. and Iacopetta, B. (2009) Tumor-Infiltrating FOXP3+ T Regulatory Cells Show Strong Prognostic Significance in Colorectal Cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* [online]. 27 (2), pp.186-192.

Sanchez, J., Casaño, J., Alvarez, M.A., Roman-Gomez, J. and al, e. (2004) Kinetic of regulatory CD25^sup high^ and activated CD134^sup +^ (OX40) T lymphocytes during acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *British Journal of Haematology* [online]. 126 (5), pp.697.

Sasada, T., Kimura, M., Yoshida, Y., Kanai, M. and Takabayashi, A. (2003) CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with gastrointestinal malignancies: possible involvement of regulatory T cells in disease progression. *Cancer* [online]. 98 (5), pp.1089-1099.

Sato, H., Shiobara, S., Yasue, S., Chuhjo, T. and Nakao, S. (2001) Lymphocyte collection for donor leucocyte infusion from normal donors: estimation of the minimum processed blood volume and safety of the procedure. *Vox Sanguinis* [online]. 81 (2), pp.124-127.

Scarisbrick, J. J., Taylor, P., Holtick, U., Makar, Y., Douglas, K., Berlin, G., Juvonen, E., Marshall, S., Linköpings universitet, centrum, L., Klinisk immunologi, o. t., on behalf of the Photopheresis, Expert Group, Hälsouniversitetet, Photopheresis, E. G., Institutionen för klinisk och, experimentell medicin and Östergötlands Läns Landsting (2008) U.K. consensus statement on the use of extracorporeal photopheresis for treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma and chronic graft-versus-host disease. *British Journal of Dermatology* [online]. 158(4), pp. 659-678.

Scheffold, A., Hühn, J. and Höfer, T. (2005) Regulation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell activity: it takes (IL-)two to tango. *European Journal of Immunology* [online]. 35 (5), pp.1336-1341.

Schmidt, A., Oberle, N. and Krammer, P.H. (2012) Molecular mechanisms of treg-mediated T cell suppression. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 3 pp.51.

Schmitt, E.G. and Williams, C.B. (2013) Generation and function of induced regulatory T cells. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 4 pp.152.

Schneider, M., Munder, M., Karakhanova, S., Ho, A.D. and Goerner, M. (2006) The initial phase of graft-versus-host disease is associated with a decrease of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in the peripheral blood of patients after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Clinical and Laboratory Haematology* [online]. 28 (6), pp.382-390.

Shalev, I., Schmelzle, M., Robson, S.C. and Levy, G. (2011) Making sense of regulatory T cell suppressive function. *Seminars in Immunology* [online]. 23 (4), pp.282-292.

Shaw, B.E. and Russell, N.H. (2008) Treatment options for the management of acute leukaemia relapsing following an allogeneic transplant. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 41 (5), pp.495-503.

Shaw, B.E., Arguello, R., Garcia-Sepulveda, C.A. and Madrigal, J.A. (2010) The impact of HLA genotyping on survival following unrelated donor haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *British Journal of Haematology* [online]. 150 (3), pp.251-258.

Shaw, B.E., Byrne, J.L., Das-Gupta, E., Carter, G.I. and Russell, N.H. (2007) The Impact of Chimerism Patterns and Predonor Leukocyte Infusion Lymphopenia on Survival following T Cell-Depleted Reduced Intensity Conditioned Transplants. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 13 (5), pp.550-559.

Shelburne, N. and Bevans, M. (2009) Non-myeloablative allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Seminars in Oncology Nursing* [online]. 25 (2), pp.120-128.

Shevach, E.M., McHugh, R.S., Piccirillo, C.A. and Thornton, A.M. (2001) Control of T-cell activation by CD4+ CD25+ suppressor T cells. *Immunological Reviews* [online]. 182 (1), pp.58-67.

Shimizu, J., Yamazaki, S. and Sakaguchi, S. (1999) Induction of Tumor Immunity by Removing CD25+CD4+ T Cells: A Common Basis Between Tumor Immunity and Autoimmunity. *The Journal of Immunology* [online]. 163 (10), pp.5211-5218.

Simula, M.P., Marktel, S., Fozza, C., Kaeda, J., Szydlo, R.M., Nadal, E., Bua, M., Rahemtulla, A., Kanfer, E., Marin, D., Olavarria, E., Goldman, J.M., Apperley, J.F. and Dazzi, F. (2007) Response to donor lymphocyte infusions for chronic myeloid leukemia is dose-dependent: the importance of escalating the cell dose to maximize therapeutic efficacy. *Leukemia* [online]. 21 (5), pp.943-948.

Sirohi, B., Powles, R., Harousseau, J.L. and Anderson, K.C. (2007) The evolving background for high-dose treatment for myeloma. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 40 (12), pp.1097-1100.

Slavin, S., Nagler, A., Naparstek, E., Kapelushnik, Y., Aker, M., Cividalli, G., Varadi, G., Kirschbaum, M., Ackerstein, A., Samuel, S., Amar, A., Brautbar, C., Ben-Tal, O., Eldor, A. and Or, R. (1998) Nonmyeloablative Stem Cell Transplantation and Cell Therapy as an Alternative to Conventional Bone Marrow Transplantation With Lethal Cytoreduction for the Treatment of Malignant and Nonmalignant Hematologic Diseases. *Blood* [online]. 91 (3), pp.756.

Sorror, M.L., Maris, M.B., Storer, B., Sandmaier, B.M., Diaconescu, R., Flowers, C., Maloney, D.G. and Storb, R. (2004) Comparing morbidity and mortality of HLA-matched unrelated donor hematopoietic cell transplantation after nonmyeloablative and myeloablative conditioning: influence of pretransplantation comorbidities. *Blood* [online]. 104 (4), pp.961-968.

Sorror, M.L., Sandmaier, B.M., Storer, B.E., Franke, G.N., Laport, G.G., Chauncey, T.R., Agura, E., Maziarz, R.T., Langston, A., Hari, P., Pulsipher, M.A., Bethge, W., Sahebi, F., Bruno, B., Maris, M.B., Yeager, A., Petersen, F.B., Vindeløv, L., McSweeney, P.A., Hübel, K., Mielcarek, M., Georges, G.E., Niederwieser, D., Blume, K.G., Maloney, D.G. and Storb, R. (2011) Long-term outcomes among older patients following nonmyeloablative conditioning and allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for advanced hematologic malignancies. *JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association* [online]. 306 (17), pp.1874-1883.

Spellman, S., Warden, M.B., Haagenson, M., Pietz, B.C., Goulmy, E., Warren, E.H., Wang, T. and Ellis, T.M. (2009) Effects of Mismatching for Minor Histocompatibility Antigens on Clinical Outcomes in HLA-Matched, Unrelated Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplants. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 15 (7), pp.856-863.

Spierings, E. (2014) Minor histocompatibility antigens: past, present, and future. *Tissue Antigens* [online]. 84 (4), pp.374-360.

Stanzani, M., Martins, S.L.R., Saliba, R.M., St John, L.S., Bryan, S., Couriel, D., McMannis, J., Champlin, R.E., Molldrem, J.J. and Komanduri, K.V. (2003) CD25 expression on donor CD4+ or CD8+ T cells is associated with an increased risk for graft-versus-host disease after HLA-identical stem cell transplantation in humans. *Blood* [online]. 103 (3), pp.1140-1146.

Stern, M., de Wreede, L.C., Brand, R., van Biezen, A., Dreger, P., Mohty, M., de Witte, T.M., Kröger, N. and Ruutu, T. (2014) Sensitivity of hematological malignancies to graft-versus-host effects: an EBMT megafile analysis. *Leukemia* [online]. 28 (11), pp.2235-2240.

Stroncek, D.F., Clay, M.E., Herr, G., Smith, J., Jaszcz, W.B., Ilstrup, S. and McCullough, J. (1997) The kinetics of G-CSF mobilization of CD34+ cells in healthy people. *Transfusion Medicine* (*Oxford, England*) [online]. 7 (1), pp.19-24.

Su, H., Longhi, M.S., Wang, P., Vergani, D. and Ma, Y. (2012) Human CD4+CD25(high)CD127 (low/neg) regulatory T cells. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)* [online]. 806 pp.287.

Sullivan, K., Weiden, P., Storb, R., Witherspoon, R., Fefer, A., Fisher, L., Buckner, C., Anasetti, C., Appelbaum, F. and Badger, C. (1989) Influence of acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease on

relapse and survival after bone marrow transplantation from HLA-identical siblings as treatment of acute and chronic leukemia [published erratum appears in Blood 1989 Aug 15;74(3):1180]. *Blood* [online]. 73 (6), pp.1720.

Tanhehco, Y.C., Adamski, J., Sell, M., Cunningham, K., Eisenmann, C., Magee, D., Stadtmauer, E.A. and O'Doherty, U. (2010) Plerixafor mobilization leads to a lower ratio of CD34+ cells to total nucleated cells which results in greater storage costs. *Journal of Clinical Apheresis* [online]. 25 (4), pp.202-208.

Tanhehco, Y.C., Vogl, D.T., Stadtmauer, E.A. and O'Doherty, U. (2013) The evolving role of plerixafor in hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization. *Transfusion* [online]. 53 (10), pp.2314-2326.

Taylor, P.A., Noelle, R.J. and Blazar, B.R. (2001) CD4(+)CD25(+) immune regulatory cells are required for induction of tolerance to alloantigen via costimulatory blockade. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 193 (11), pp.1311-1318.

Taylor, P.A., Lees, C.J. and Blazar, B.R. (2002) The infusion of ex vivo activated and expanded CD4(+)CD25(+) immune regulatory cells inhibits graft-versus-host disease lethality. *Blood* [online]. 99 (10), pp.3493-3499.

Teng, M.W.L., Ngiow, S.F., von Scheidt, B., McLaughlin, N., Sparwasser, T. and Smyth, M.J. (2010) Conditional regulatory T-cell depletion releases adaptive immunity preventing carcinogenesis and suppressing established tumor growth. *Cancer Research* [online]. 70 (20), pp.7800-7809.

Thornton, A.M. and Shevach, E.M. (1998) CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells suppress polyclonal T cell activation in vitro by inhibiting interleukin 2 production. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 188 (2), pp.287-296.

Thornton, A.M., Donovan, E.E., Piccirillo, C.A. and Shevach, E.M. (2004) Cutting Edge: IL-2 Is Critically Required for the In Vitro Activation of CD4+CD25+ T Cell Suppressor Function. *The Journal of Immunology* [online]. 172 (11), pp.6519.

To, L.B., Levesque, J. and Herbert, K.E. (2011) How I treat patients who mobilize hematopoietic stem cells poorly. *Blood* [online]. 118 (17), pp.4530.

Tolar, J., Villeneuve, P. and Keating, A. (2011) Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for Graft-Versus-Host Disease. *Human Gene Therapy* [online]. 22 (3), pp.257-262.

Tomblyn, M.R., Brunstein, C., Burns, L.J., Miller, J.S., Tan, Y. and Weisdorf, D. (2006) Equivalent disease free and overall survival in lymphoma patients treated with either myeloablative (MA) or non-myeloablative (NMA) conditioning and allogeneic stem cell transplant (SCT). *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation* [online]. 12 (2), pp.113-114.

Tournilhac, O., Cazin, B., Lepretre, S., Divine, M., Maloum, K., Delmer, A., Grosbois, B., Feugier, P., Maloisel, F., Villard, F., Villemagne, B., Bastit, D., Belhadj, K., Azar, N., Michallet, M., Manhes, G. and Travade, P. (2003) Impact of frontline fludarabine and cyclophosphamide combined treatment on peripheral blood stem cell mobilization in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* [online]. 103 (1), pp.200305144-365.

Tran, D.Q. and Shevach, E.M. (2007) Response: Anti human FOXP3 mAb PCH101 stains activated human naive T cells nonspecifically. *Blood* [online]. 111 (1), pp.464-466.

Turka, L.A. and Li, X.C. (2010) An update on regulatory T cells in transplant tolerance and rejection. *Nature Reviews Nephrology* [online]. 6 (10), pp.577-583.

Tzankov, A., Meier, C., Hirschmann, P., Went, P., Pileri, S.A. and Dirnhofer, S. (2008) Correlation of high numbers of intratumoral FOXP3+ regulatory T cells with improved survival in germinal center-like diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, follicular lymphoma and classical Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Haematologica* [online]. 93 (2), pp.193-200.

Ukena, S.N., Grosse, J., Mischak-Weissinger, E., Buchholz, S., Stadler, M., Ganser, A. and Franzke, A. (2011a) Acute but not chronic graft-versus-host disease is associated with a reduction of circulating CD4(+)CD25 (high)CD127 (low/-) regulatory T cells. *Annals of Hematology* [online]. 90 (2), pp.213.

Ukena, S.N., Velaga, S., Geffers, R., Grosse, J., Baron, U., Buchholz, S., Stadler, M., Bruder, D., Ganser, A. and Franzke, A. (2011b) Human regulatory T cells in allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Blood* [online]. 118 (13), pp.e82-e92.

Urbano-Ispizua, A. (2007) Risk assessment in haematopoietic stem cell transplantation: stem cell source. *Best Practice & Research.Clinical Haematology* [online]. 20 (2), pp.265-280.

Valcárcel, D. and Martino, R. (2007) Reduced intensity conditioning for allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myelogenous leukemia. *Current Opinion in Oncology* [online]. 19 (6), pp.660-666.

Van Hemelen, D., Oude Elberink, J.N.G., Heimweg, J., van Oosterhout, A.J.M. and Nawijn, M.C. (2010) Cryopreservation does not alter the frequency of regulatory T cells in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Journal of Immunological Methods* [online]. 353 (1), pp.138-140.

van, d.W., Horn, T., Bright, E., Passos-Coehlo, J.L., Bond, S., Clarke, B., Altomonte, V., McIntyre, K., Vogelsang, G., Noga, S.J., Davis, J.M., Thomassen, J., Ohly, K.V., Lee, S.M., Fetting, J., Armstrong, D.K., Davidson, N.E., Hess, A.D. and Kennedy, M.J. (2000) Autologous graft-versus-host disease induction in advanced breast cancer: role of peripheral blood progenitor cells. *British Journal of Cancer* [online]. 83 (11), pp.1405-1411.

Varmavuo, V., Mäntymaa, P., Nousiainen, T., Valonen, P., Kuittinen, T. and Jantunen, E. (2012) Blood graft composition after plerixafor injection in patients with NHL. *European Journal of Haematology* [online]. 89 (2), pp.128-135.

Vela-Ojeda, J., García-Ruiz Esparza, M.A., Reyes-Maldonado, E., Jiménez-Zamudio, L., García-Latorre, E., Moreno-Lafont, M., Estrada-García, I., Mayani, H., Montiel-Cervantes, L., Tripp-Villanueva, F., Ayala-Sánchez, M., García-León, L.D. and Borbolla-Escoboza, J.R. (2006) Peripheral blood mobilization of different lymphocyte and dendritic cell subsets with the use of intermediate doses of G-CSF in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and multiple myeloma. *Annals of Hematology* [online]. 85 (5), pp.308-314.

Verlinden, A., Van, d.V., Verpooten, G.A. and Janssen, v.D. (2013) Determining factors predictive of CD34+ cell collection efficiency in an effort to avoid extended and repeated apheresis sessions. *Journal of Clinical Apheresis* [online]. 28 (6), pp.404.

Vignali, D.A.A. (2012) Mechanisms of T(reg) Suppression: Still a Long Way to Go. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 3 pp.191.

Viguier, M., Lemaître, F., Verola, O., Cho, M., Gorochov, G., Dubertret, L., Bachelez, H., Kourilsky, P. and Ferradini, L. (2004) Foxp3 expressing CD4+CD25(high) regulatory T cells are

overrepresented in human metastatic melanoma lymph nodes and inhibit the function of infiltrating T cells. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)* [online]. 173 (2), pp.1444.

Vincent, K., Roy, D. and Perreault, C. (2011) Next-generation leukemia immunotherapy. *Blood* [online]. 118 (11), pp.2951.

von Keudell, G., Rosenbaum, C. and Zimmerman, T. (2013) Pilot Study of Regulatory T Cell Depletion in the Setting of Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation for Multiple Myeloma. *Blood*. 122 (21), pp.4607.

Wainwright, D.A., Dey, M., Chang, A. and Lesniak, M.S. (2013) Targeting Tregs in Malignant Brain Cancer: Overcoming IDO. *Frontiers in Immunology* [online]. 4 pp.116.

Weiden, P.L., Flournoy, N., Thomas, E.D., Prentice, R., Fefer, A., Buckner, C.D. and Storb, R. (1979) Antileukemic effect of graft-versus-host disease in human recipients of allogeneicmarrow grafts. *The New England Journal of Medicine* [online]. 300 (19), pp.1068-1073.

Weiden, P.L., Sullivan, K.M., Flournoy, N., Storb, R., Thomas, E.D. and The Seattle Marrow, T.T. (1981) Antileukemic effect of chronic graft-versus-host disease: contribution to improved survival after allogeneic marrow transplantation. *The New England Journal of Medicine* [online]. 304 (25), pp.1529-1533.

Weiss, J.M., Bilate, A.M., Gobert, M., Ding, Y., Curotto de Lafaille, M.A., Parkhurst, C.N., Xiong, H., Dolpady, J., Frey, A.B., Ruocco, M.G., Yang, Y., Floess, S., Huehn, J., Oh, S., Li, M.O., Niec, R.E., Rudensky, A.Y., Dustin, M.L., Littman, D.R. and Lafaille, J.J. (2012) Neuropilin 1 is expressed on thymus-derived natural regulatory T cells, but not mucosa-generated induced Foxp3+ T reg cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 209 (10), pp.1723-1742.

Wells, J., Shaw, B. and Smith, M. (2009) The Effect of Mobilisation using Plerixafor in Combination with G-CSF on the Efficientcy of Haematopoietic Progenitor Cell Harvesting. *Transfusion Medicine (Oxford, England)*. 19 pp.32.

Wells, J. and Smith, M. (2011) Tailored HPC-A Harvesting and Processing Produces Cost, Logistic and Patient Benefits. *Transfusion Medicine (Oxford, England)*. 21 (1), pp.49.

Williams, K.M., Hakim, F.T. and Gress, R.E. (2007) T cell immune reconstitution following lymphodepletion. *Seminars in Immunology* [online]. 19 (5), pp.318-330.

Wing, K., Onishi, Y., Prieto-Martin, P., Yamaguchi, T., Miyara, M., Fehervari, Z., Nomura, T. and Sakaguchi, S. (2008) CTLA-4 Control over Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cell Function. *Science* [online]. 322 (5899), pp.271-275.

Wolf, A.M., Wolf, D., Steurer, M., Gastl, G., Gunsilius, E. and Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. (2003) Increase of Regulatory T Cells in the Peripheral Blood of Cancer Patients. *Clinical Cancer Research* [online]. 9 (2), pp.606.

Wolf, D., Wolf, A.M., Fong, D., Rumpold, H., Strasak, A., Clausen, J. and Nachbaur, D. (2007) Regulatory T-cells in the graft and the risk of acute graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Transplantation* [online]. 83 (8), pp.1107-1113.

Woolfrey, A. and Anasetti, C. (1999) Allogeneic hematopoietic stem-cell engraftment and graft failure. *Pediatric Transplantation* [online]. 3 pp.35-40.

Wysocki, C.A., Panoskaltsis-Mortari, A., Blazar, B.R. and Serody, J.S. (2005) Leukocyte migration and graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* [online]. 105 (11), pp.4191-4199.

Yadav, M., Louvet, C., Davini, D., Gardner, J.M., Martinez-Llordella, M., Bailey-Bucktrout, S., Anthony, B.A., Sverdrup, F.M., Head, R., Kuster, D.J., Ruminski, P., Weiss, D., Von Schack, D. and Bluestone, J.A. (2012) Neuropilin-1 distinguishes natural and inducible regulatory T cells among regulatory T cell subsets in vivo. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [online]. 209 (10), pp.1713-1722.

Yakirevich, E. and Resnick, M.B. (2007) Regulatory T lymphocytes: pivotal components of the host antitumor response. *Journal of Clinical Oncology : Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* [online]. 25 (18), pp.2506-2508.

Yamazaki, S., Takahashi, T., Ishida, Y., Sakaguchi, S. and Shimizu, J. (2002) Stimulation of CD25 + CD4 + regulatory T cells through GITR breaks immunological self-tolerance. *Nature Immunology* [online]. 3 (2), pp.135-142.

Zaucha, J.M., Gooley, T., Bensinger, W.I., Heimfeld, S., Chauncey, T.R., Zaucha, R., Martin, P.J., Flowers, M.E.D., Storek, J., Georges, G., Storb, R. and Torok-Storb, B. (2001) CD34 cell dose in granulocyte colony-stimulating factor-mobilized peripheral blood mononuclear cell grafts affects engraftment kinetics and development of extensive chronic graft-versus-host disease after human leukocyte antigen-identical sibling transplantation. *Blood* [online]. 98 (12), pp.3221-3227.

Zeiser, R., Marks, R., Bertz, H. and Finke, J. (2004) Immunopathogenesis of acute graft-versushost disease: implications for novel preventive and therapeutic strategies. *Annals of Hematology* [online]. 83 (9), pp.551-565.

Zhai, Z., Sun, Z., Li, Q., Zhang, A., Liu, H., Xu, J., Xu, X., Geng, L., Harris, D., Hu, S. and Wang, Y. (2007) Correlation of the CD4(+)CD25(high) T-regulatory cells in recipients and their corresponding donors to acute GVHD. *Transplant International [NLM - MEDLINE]* [online]. 20 (5), pp.440.

Zhou, H., Chen, L., You, Y., Zou, L. and Zou, P. (2010) Foxp3-transduced polyclonal regulatory T cells suppress NK cell functions in a TGF-beta dependent manner. *Autoimmunity* [online]. 43 (4), pp.299.

Zhou, L., Chong, M.M.W. and Littman, D.R. (2009) Plasticity of CD4 + T Cell Lineage Differentiation. *Immunity* [online]. 30 (5), pp.646-655.

Zhou, X., Bailey-Bucktrout, S., Jeker, L.T. and Bluestone, J.A. (2009) Plasticity of CD4 + FoxP3 + T cells. *Current Opinion in Immunology* [online]. 21 (3), pp.281-285.

Ziegler, S.F., Jeffery, E.W., Yasayko, S., Hjerrild, K.A., Galas, D., Brunkow, M.E., Wilkinson, J.E., Paeper, B., Ramsdell, F. and Clark, L.B. (2001) Disruption of a new forkhead/winged-helix protein, scurfin, results in the fatal lymphoproliferative disorder of the scurfy mouse. *Nature Genetics* [online]. 27 (1), pp.68-73.

Zipori, D., Taichman, R.S., Peled, A., Lapidot, T., Ponomaryov, T., Petit, I., Nagler, A., Fujii, N., Sandbank, J., Arenzana-Seisdedos, F., Szyper-Kravitz, M., Lahav, M. and Habler, L. (2002) G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and up-regulating CXCR4. *Nature Immunology* [online]. 3 (7), pp.687-694. Zorn, E. (2006) CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in human hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* [online]. 16 (2), pp.150-159.

Zorn, E., Kim, H.T., Lee, S.J., Floyd, B.H., Litsa, D., Arumugarajah, S., Bellucci, R., Alyea, E.P., Antin, J.H., Soiffer, R.J. and Ritz, J. (2005) Reduced frequency of FOXP3+ CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with chronic graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* [online]. 106 (8), pp.2903-2911.

Zou, L., Barnett, B., Safah, H., Larussa, V.F., Evdemon-Hogan, M., Mottram, P., Wei, S., David, O., Curiel, T.J. and Zou, W. (2004) Bone marrow is a reservoir for CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells that traffic through CXCL12/CXCR4 signals. *Cancer Research* [online]. 64 (22), pp.8451-8455.

GVHD grading scheme

Criteria for individual organ systems			
Organ	Skin	Gut	Liver
Grade	% of body surface area covered by rash	Diarrhoea volume (ml/day)	Bilirubin level (mg/dl)
0	0	≤500	<2
1	<25	> 500	2-3
2	25-50	>1000	3-6
3	Generalised erythroderma	>1500	6-15
4	Generalised erythroderma with bullous formation and desquamation	Severe abdominal pain with or without ileus	>15

Clinical grading scheme for acute GVHD, according to Glucksberg

Clinical grading scheme for acute GVHD, according to Glucksberg

Overall grade	Skin grade	Gut grade	Liver grade	Decreased clinical performance
0	0	0	0	None
1	1-2	0	0	None
2*	1-3	1	1	Mild
3*	2-3	2-3	2-4	Marked
4	2-4	2-4	2-4	Extreme

*Grades 2 and 3 must involve either gut or liver (or both) at the indicated organ grades, in addition to skin involvement.

Freeze profile used in controlled rate freezer for cryopreservation of samples



JJ KryoFile Start Time : 11-May-2012 10:32 User Aborted the Run STOPPED BY JJ KryoFile End Time : 11-May-2012 11:41

FoxP3 staining method

Mononuclear cells were separated from peripheral blood using Ficoll density gradient centrifugation.

Apheresis harvests are mononuclear cell-rich and were therefore used without preparation.

Buffers were allowed to reach room temperature. Working solutions of BD Pharmigen Human FoxP3 Buffer were prepared prior to each staining episode.

Cells were washed, spun and diluted with BD Pharmigen Stain Buffer to give a final concentration of 10⁶ cells/ml.

 10μ l Anti-CD3, and 20μ l of Human Regulatory T cell cocktail (Anti-CD4, Anti-CD25, Anti-CD127) were added to each 100μ l of cells used, the contents vortexed, and the tube incubated at room temperature in the dark for 20 minutes.

Following incubation, 2mls of stain buffer were added to each tube and these were centrifuged for 250g for 10 minutes. The wash buffer was removed and the cells gently resuspended in the residual buffer.

To fix the cells, 2mls of diluted Human FoxP3 buffer A were added, mixed and the tubes incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature in the dark.

Tubes were centrifuged at 500g for 5 minutes and the fixative removed. When using cryopreserved and thawed cells care was taken not to remove the cell pellet as it was buoyant at this stage.

Cells were washed and resuspended in 2mls of stain buffer and further centrifuged at 500g for 5 minutes. The buffer was removed.

To permeabilise the cells the pellet was resuspneded in the residual stain buffer and 0.5mls of freshly prepared working solution Human FoxP3 Buffer C was added to each tube. Cells were mixed and incubated at room temperature in the dark for 30 minutes.

Cells were washed in 2mls of stain buffer, centrifuged at 500g for 5 minutes and the buffer removed. The wash step was repeated.

Either 20 μ l Anti-FoxP3 antibody or 20 μ l of the PE isotype control was added to each tube as appropriate and mixed.

Cells were incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes in the dark.

Cells were immediately washed twice in stain buffer, resuspended in a suitable volume of stain buffer and analysed.

Cells were analysed as quickly as possible following staining.

TNFR2 staining method

Mononuclear cells were separated from peripheral blood using Ficoll density gradient centrifugation.

Apheresis harvests are mononuclear cell-rich and were therefore used without preparation.

Buffers were allowed to reach room temperature. Working solutions of BD Pharmigen Human FoxP3 Buffer were prepared prior to each staining episode.

Cells were washed, spun and diluted with BD Pharmigen Stain Buffer to give a final concentration of 10⁶ cells/ml.

10µl Anti-CD3, and 20µl of Human Regulatory T cell cocktail (Anti-CD4, Anti-CD25, Anti-CD127) were added to each 100µl of cells used. Either 10µl of TNFR2 or 10µl of the PE isotype control were added to each tube, the contents vortexed, and the tube incubated at room temperature in the dark for 20 minutes. Although the CD127 marker was not used for this staining method it was part of the staining cocktail.

Following incubation the cells were washed by adding 2mls of stain buffer to each tube and centrifuging at 250g for 10 minutes. The wash buffer was removed and the cells gently resuspended in the residual buffer before repeating the wash stage.

Cells were resuspended in a suitable volume of stain buffer and analysed.

Patient selection

Autologous donors	by diagnosis
-------------------	--------------

Diagnosis	Number of	Number of	
	patients	harvests	
MM	66	92	
NHL	3	4	
HD	7	8	
CLL	1	2	
Plasmacytoma	3	3	

Mobilised and non-mobilised harvests by type of allogeneic donor

	Mobilised	Non-	
	harvests	mobilised	
		harvests	
Siblings	20	10	
VUDs	39	3	
Total	59	13	

Peripheral blood and harvest pairs by diagnosis and type of donor

	Total number of	Total
	patients	number of
		harvests
Autologous		
MM	26	35
NHL	5	7
HD	1	1
Plasmacytoma	2	2
Allogeneic		
Sibling donors	9	11

Day of harvesting

Diagnosis	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3
	harvest	harvest	harvest
	(n=49)	(n=28)	(n=2)
MM	41	24	2
NHL	2	1	
HD	3	1	
CLL		1	
Plasmacytoma	3	1	

Patients receiving autologous transplants

Diagnosis	Patients (n=85)
MM	71
Lymphoma	7
HD	3
Plasmacytoma	3
CLL	1
Patients receiving allogeneic transplants

Daignosis	Patients (n=75)
ALL	15
Lymphoma	9
CLL	11
AML	30
MM	2
MDS	3
Myelofibrosis	2
hd	2
CML	1